

University of Dundee

MASTER OF SCIENCE

The effect of vitamin K On vascular health and physical function in older people with vascular disease

Fulton, Roberta

Award date: 2013

Awarding institution: University of Dundee

Link to publication

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

• Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

MASTER OF SCIENCE

The effect of vitamin K On vascular health and physical function in older people with vascular disease

Roberta Fulton

2013

University of Dundee

Conditions for Use and Duplication

Copyright of this work belongs to the author unless otherwise identified in the body of the thesis. It is permitted to use and duplicate this work only for personal and non-commercial research, study or criticism/review. You must obtain prior written consent from the author for any other use. Any quotation from this thesis must be acknowledged using the normal academic conventions. It is not permitted to supply the whole or part of this thesis to any other person or to post the same on any website or other online location without the prior written consent of the author. Contact the Discovery team (discovery@dundee.ac.uk) with any queries about the use or acknowledgement of this work.

THE EFFECT OF VITAMIN K ON VASCULAR HEALTH AND PHYSICAL FUNCTION IN OLDER PEOPLE WITH VASCULAR DISEASE

ROBERTA LORRAINE FULTON

MSc by Research

UNIVERSITY OF DUNDEE

AUGUST 2013

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables	7
List of Figures	9
List of Appendices	10
Abbreviations	11
Acknowledgements	14
Declaration	16
Summary	17

<u>1. LITERATURE REVIEW</u>

1.1 The Disc	overy of vitamins	 19
Vitamin subgro	ups	 20
Action		 20
1.2 Vitamin	К	 21
A Historical Vi	ew	 21
Classification		 22
Function		 24
Dietary Sources	5	 27
Absorption		 28
Human require	ments	 29
Toxicity		 30
Measurement o	f vitamin K status	 31
Role of Vitamin	n K in Disease Processes	 32
	Role of Vitamin K in Clotting	 32
	Role of Vitamin K in Bone Health	 34
	Role of Vitamin K in Vascular Disease	 36
1.3 Population	on Ageing	 38
Age Structure		 39
Life Expectanc	у	 41
Mortality		 44
1.4 Cardiova	scular Disease in Older Adults	 45
Hypertension		 47

Diabetes Mellitus	 48
Established Vascular Disease	 49

2. METHODS

2.1 Study Aims	50
2.2 Study Design	50
2.3 Sample Size	50
2.4 Study Population	51
Exclusion Criteria	51
2.5 Investigator Training	53
2.6 Participant Selection and Enrolment	55
Recruitment	55
Informed Consent	57
Randomisation	57
2.7 Medication	58
Manufacture	58
Medication Adherence	59
2.8 Outcome Measurement	60
Screening Assessment	60
Baseline Assessment	61
Primary Outcome Measure	62
Secondary Outcome Measures	65
Measures of Vascular Function	65

Measures of Vascular Prognosis	73
Measures of Physical Function	77
Follow up visits	80
2.9 Data Handling	82
Data Entry and Management	82
Data Analysis	82

3. RESULTS

3.1 Recruitment 8		
3.2 Baseline Characteristics	86	
3.3 Outcome Measures	89	
Primary Outcome	89	
Secondary Outcomes	90	
Vascular Markers	90	
Measure of Physical Function	95	
Blood Tests	96	
3.4 Major Recorded Adverse Events	100	
Serious Adverse Events	100	
Adverse Events	101	
3.5 Adherence to Medication	103	
3.6 Analysis	103	

4. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

4.1 Summary of Main Findings	104
Recruitment and Retention	104
Baseline Measurements	106
4.2 Significance of Findings	107
Primary Outcome	107
Secondary Endpoints	109
Adherence	112
Adverse Events	113
4.3 Strengths and Weaknesses	113
Strengths	113
Weakness	114
4.4 Conclusion	117

5. FUTURE RESEARCH

5.1 Vitamin K and Cardiovascular Health	119
5.2 Vitamin K and Neuromuscular Function	
and Bone Health	120
REFERENCE LIST	121
APPENDIX	149

LIST OF TABLES

1: Name, Site & Function of Currently Identified Gla	
Protein	26
2: Trends in life expectancy and healthy life expectancy at	
birth, 1981 to 2001	42
3: Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	52
4: Training records for FMD healthy volunteers	54
5: Training records for PVW healthy volunteers	55
6: Baseline Characteristics of Participants	87
7: Effect of Intervention on Flow Mediated Dilatation	
of the Brachial Artery	90
8: Effect of Intervention on Carotid Intima-Media	
Thickness	91
9: Effect of Intervention on Pulse Wave Velocity	92
10: Effect of Intervention on Augmentation Index	93
11: Effect of Intervention on Blood Pressure	94
12: Effect of Intervention on Grip Strength	95
13: Effect of Intervention on Short Physical	
Performance Battery Scores	96
14: Effect of Intervention on B-type Natriuretic	
Peptide Levels	97
15: Effect of Intervention on C - reactive protein	
Levels	97
16: Effect of Intervention on serum cholesterol levels	99

17: Record of Serious Adverse Events	100
18: Adverse Events	102

LIST OF FIGURES

1:	Structure of vitamin K_1 , vitamin K_2 and vitamin K_3	23
2:	The 'vitamin K cycle	25
3:	Diagram of the clotting cascade	33
4:	Population pyramids of Scotland by age group and sex	
	(1911, 1951, 1991 & 2031)	40
5:	The changing age structure of Scotland's population	
	(2000-2010)	41
6:	Expected healthy life years remaining for people aged 65	
	throughout European countries in 2005	43
7:	Scotland Population - Mortality Rates	45
8:	Positioning for measurement of brachial artery flow	
	mediation	64
9:	Ultrasound view of carotid artery intima-media thickness	67
10	: Diagram of a Pulse Wave	69
11	: Diagram of applanation tonometry process	72
12	: Schedule of Study visits	81
13	: CONSORT diagram showing participation flow through	
	trial	85

LIST OF APPENDICES

- 1. Good clinical Practice Certificate
- 2. Invitation Letter
- 3. Patient Information Sheet
- 4. Patient Reply Slip
- 5. Consent Form
- 6. GP letter
- 7. Case Report Form
- 8. Short Physical Performance Battery Scoring Sheet

ABBREVIATIONS

- ACEi: Angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor
- AF: Atrial fibrillation
- Alx: Augmentation Index
- ANCOVA: Analysis of covariance
- ANP: Atrial Natriuretic Peptide
- ARB: Angiotensin receptor blocker
- BMD: Bone mineral density
- BNP: B-type Natriuretic Peptide
- BP: blood pressure
- CABG: Coronary artery bypass graft
- CHD: Coronary heart disease
- CI: confidence interval
- CO₂: Carbon dioxide
- COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
- CRF: Case report form
- CRP: C-reactive protein
- CVD: Cardiovascular disease
- DBP: Diastolic blood pressure
- ECG: Electrocardiograph
- EFSA: European Food Safety Authority
- EU: European Union
- FMD: Flow-mediated dilatation
- Gla: gamma-carboxyglutamate acid

- Glu: glutamic acid
- GP: General practitioner
- HDN: Haemorrhagic Disease of the Newborn
- HLE: Healthy life expectancy
- HDL: High density lipoprotein
- HPLC: high performance liquid chromatography
- IMT: Intima-media thickness
- IQR: Inter quartile range
- K₁: Phylloquinones
- LDL: Low-density lipoprotein
- MGP: Matrix Gla protein
- MHRA: Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Authority
- MK: menaquinone

NHANES III: Third Health and Nutrition Examination Survey

- NO: Nitric oxide
- ONS: Office for National Statistics
- PIS: Patient information sheet
- PP: Pulse pressure
- PT: Prothrombin Time
- PTCA: Percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty
- PVD: Peripheral vascular disease
- PWA: Pulse wave analysis
- PWV: Pulse wave velocity
- RDI: Recommended daily intake

- RF: Roberta Fulton
- RH: Reactive hyperaemia
- SAE: Serious adverse event
- SAR: Serious adverse reaction
- SCF: Scientific Committee for Food
- SD: Standard deviation
- SOP: Standard operating procedure
- SPCRN: Scottish Primary Care Research Network
- SPPB: Short Physical Performance Battery
- SPPIRe: Scottish Practices and Professionals Involved in Research
- SPSS: Statistical pack for social sciences
- SBP: Systolic blood pressure
- TIA: Transient ischaemic attack
- TMF: Trial master file
- U+E: Urea and electrolytes
- VKD: Vitamin K dependent proteins
- VKOR: Vitamin K epoxide reductase
- WHO: World Health Organisation

Acknowledgements

I wish to thank everyone who has helped me with my thesis. In particular:

Professor Marion McMurdo for introducing me to research, offering me the opportunity to experience life in academia and spreading my wings beyond clinical practice. Without her encouragement and guidance I would not have made the leap and would have missed out.

Dr Miles Witham for his patience, kindness and support, without which this thesis would undoubtly remain unfinished.

Ms Valona Gouck for her timely administrative work which aided the smooth running of the study.

Mrs Lesley McFarlane and staff in the Clinical Pharmacology Laboratory and staff in the Biochemistry Laboratory who analysed the blood samples.

Dr Sandy Hill for analysis of the vitamin K samples.

Staff at Tayside Institute of Cardiovascular Research for allowing me to use their space and equipment for completion of study visits.

Mrs Marie Pitkethley and staff at the East node of the Scottish Primary Care Research Network (SPCRN) for their wonderful effort with study recruitment. Chest Heart and Stroke Scotland for funding the study.

All the wonderful people who willingly participated in the study and gave so freely of their time.

Finally to my wonderful family for the enormous support given to me, especially my daughter Ashley who has encouraged me though out and who never doubted me even when I doubted myself.

Declaration

I hereby declare that I am the author of this thesis, that I have carried out the work described have consulted all references cited. The work previously described in this thesis has not been previously accepted for a higher degree and I have defined the nature of my contribution to the work within the project described in the thesis.

The work contained within this was carried out during my appointment as a Research Fellow in the section of Ageing and Health, Department of University of Dundee between September 2011 and August 2013.

Signed Dated.....

<u>Summary</u>

"Population ageing" - the process by which older individuals make up a proportionally larger share of the total population over a period of time has thrown up new challenges such as the increasing demand and expense on health and social care. Cardiovascular disease, prevalent in older people, goes hand in hand with declining physical function and new ways of tackling the burden this places on older persons, their carers and health services are required.

Recent work has suggested that vitamin K, a known cofactor for coagulation proteins, may be required for the function of several other key proteins. In particular, Matrix Gla protein may exert beneficial effects on vascular health. I hypothesised that supplementation of the diet with vitamin K would improve vascular health and physical function in older people with established vascular disease.

In a double-blind randomised controlled clinical trial 80 participants aged \geq 70years with established vascular disease were randomised to receive 100mcg vitamin K or placebo daily for 6 months. The primary outcome was a between group difference in endothelial function change between baseline and 6 months. The secondary outcomes were carotid-radial pulse wave velocity, carotid intima-media thickness, Short Physical Performance Battery and grip strength.

Participant mean age was 77 years (SD 5), 44/80 (55%) were male. Only 3/80 (4%) participants failed to complete the study. Vitamin K levels rose in the intervention arm compared to placebo (+48pg/ml vs. -6pg/ml, p=0.03) at six months compared to baseline. There was no significant change in brachial artery flow mediated dilatation or indeed in any of the other markers of vascular health or physical function. This was despite excellent adherence to medication. There was however a modest 10% reduction in arterial stiffness by 6 months suggesting that changes to vascular calcification with vitamin K_2 may be possible but may require longer to achieve.

<u>1. LITERATURE REVIEW</u>

1.1 The Discovery of Vitamins

For centuries the belief that diseases were due to the presence of some type of organism rather than a dietary deficiency prohibited the treatment of illness such as beriberi (a deficiency of vitamin B₁), rickets (a deficiency of vitamin D) and scurvy (a deficiency of vitamin C) ⁽¹⁾. The earliest studies by Lunin in 1881 and Pekelharing in 1905 ⁽¹⁾ examined the response of laboratory animals to an artificial diet comprising protein, fat, carbohydrate minerals and water. In both studies there was failure to thrive and death among the mice, but milk, even when ingested in small quantities, seemed to keep the mice alive ⁽²⁾. By 1912 Casimir Funk had formulated the theory that certain diseases could be prevented by ingestion of a complete diet including these accessory factors, and classified these substances *Vita* "life" and *amine* a compound containing nitrogen, reflecting the fact that the first of the vitamins to be studied was vitamin B₁ ⁽³⁾. Two of the fat soluble vitamins were discovered in 1913 – vitamin A which was effective against rickets.

By 1920 it had become clear that not all vitamins were amines so the "e" on the end was dropped.

Vitamin subgroups

By 1915 Osborne and Mendal and McCollum and Davis had distinguished two types of accessory factors based on their solubilities – Fat soluble A which is present in butterfat and egg yolk and the previously identified water soluble B. Most vitamins were identified between 1920 and 1950 and over the past century the importance of theses food factors for normal growth and metabolism has been established ^(4;5).

In total thirteen vitamins are currently recognised in human nutrition – the four fat soluble vitamins A, D, E and K and the nine water soluble vitamins comprising of vitamin C and the eight members of the vitamin B group – thiamine (B1), riboflavin (B2), niacin (B3), pantothenic acid (B5), pyridoxine (B6), biotin (B7), folic acid (B9) and cobalamin (B12).

Action

Most vitamins act as co-enzymes, promoting catalytic functions in the body's metabolic pathways. At least 30 vitamins and minerals (micronutrients) are required by the body. Sometimes a number of vitamins and minerals must interact to accomplish these metabolic functions: for example for optimum absorption of the mineral calcium in bone health the vitamin D must also be available, while for promotion of good vision the absorption of vitamin A improves in the presence of the mineral zinc. No single foodstuff provides all the micronutrients required.

Today, compared to the dates of their discovery, intake of these micronutrients is much improved. While some of the deficiency conditions such as beriberi and scurvy are rare in the UK, rickets may still be evident in socially deprived groups ⁽⁶⁾ and in Asian children with darkly pigmented skin.

1.2 Vitamin K

A Historical view

The function and properties of blood were the subject of debate as long ago as the time of Hippocrates in 460BC and by AD1832 Johannes Muller described the role of fibrin in clotting $^{(7)}$.

Danish biochemist Henrik Dam first discovered the nutrient vitamin K while carrying out studies in the 1930s while investigating the need for cholesterol in the diet of chicks ^(7;8). Chicks fed a diet from which sterols had been removed developed internal bleeding and died. On examining the dead chicks, their blood was found to clot slowly. Further experiments involving the addition of different foodstuffs found that the 'antihaemorrhagic (or clotting) factor' was fat soluble and found in a range of different foods from a variety of cereals to animal organs. Dam named the factor *Koagulations vitamin* due to its apparent link with clotting. This accessory factor was later abbreviated to vitamin K and Dam was awarded the Nobel Prize in 1943 for his discovery.

Edward Doisy and his colleagues continued research into this new area and succeeded in isolating vitamin K from fish meal by the end of the 1930s. It was at this time that the first clinical trials with administration of vitamin K began ⁽⁹⁾. Along

with Carl Dam, Edward Doisy shared the Nobel Prize for his discovery of the chemical nature of vitamin K.

This extracted fishmeal product was entitled K_2 by Doisy and its availability enabled others to study the effects of administration of vitamin K to new-born babies suffering from haemorrhagic disease ⁽⁷⁾. Research in 1937 found that clotting times in normal neonates were around 30-60% of adult levels, falling to 15-30% on day two, and then gradually rising again until about 10 days following birth. This 'evidence' that vitamin K deficiency caused Haemorrhagic Disease of the Newborn (HDN), along with the newfound ability to synthesise vitamin K, led to various trials to ascertain which was the most effective amount and route to use in prophylaxis. By the 1950's, most maternity units had a policy of giving infants oral vitamin K immediately after birth ⁽¹⁰⁾.

Classification

The term 'vitamin K' is the name given to all compounds which possess the ability to act as a cofactor for the enzyme gamma-glutamylcarboxylase. Vitamin K is classified according to its chemical structure, and two forms exist in nature, grouped as either phylloquinones (vitamin K_1) which are synthesized by green plants and which have a phytyl side chain (see figure 1), or menaquinones (vitamin K_2) which are obtained from animal sources and synthesised by bacteria found in the intestine.

The menaquinone molecules have a tail composed of repeating unsaturated 5-carbon (prenyl) units. Further subdivision can be made to menaquinones. Depending on the

number of these 5 carbon repeats, they are categorised using the term menaquinone-n (MK-n), (n) relating to the number of prenyl units and currently 13 are known to exist.

A third form of vitamin K exists, Menadione, which is a synthetic form possessing a much simpler structure than the naturally occurring forms however it is unable to exert all the functions of naturally occurring vitamin K. Research has focused around Menadione's potential antitumor properties with several in vitro studies identifying anticancer activity ⁽¹¹⁾.

Figure 1 – Structure vitamin K_1 , vitamin K_2 and vitamin K_3 taken from $^{(12)}$



Function

Vitamin K has been identified as the essential micronutrient needed to enable the conversion of glutamate (an amino acid) to gamma-carboxyglutamate (*Gla*) by post-translational carboxylation. As previously stated it acts as a cofactor for the enzyme gamma-glutamyl carboxylase which oxidizes vitamin K hydroquinone into vitamin K epoxide, while simultaneously adding CO₂ to protein-bound glutamic acid (*Glu*) to form the gamma-carboxyglutamic acid (*Gla*). This carboxylation reaction will only occur if the carboxylase enzyme is able to oxidize vitamin K hydroquinone to vitamin K epoxide at the same time. Finally vitamin K epoxide is reconverted back into vitamin K by vitamin K epoxide reductase (VKOR) - this process being commonly called the 'vitamin K cycle' (see figure 2). This recycling of vitamin K deficiency is rare as, despite the fact that the body has a limited ability to store vitamin K, the cycle allows vitamin K to enable the gamma-carboxylation of proteins many times, decreasing the daily dietary requirement.



Figure 2: The 'vitamin K cycle' (modified from Stafford, 2005) ⁽¹³⁾

Warfarin, a commonly used anticoagulant drug, interrupts this cycle by inhibiting vitamin K epoxide reductase. If administered in large doses it causes bleeding, and is commonly used as a poison for rats due to this property, but when administered at a therapeutic dose it can be used to prevent the formation of harmful thrombi, e.g. in atrial fibrillation or to treat deep venous thrombosis.

In recent years more than a dozen vitamin K dependent proteins (VKD) have been identified (see Table 1) of which all require the presence of γ -carboxyglutamate (Gla) residues to function successfully. The enzyme γ -glutamyl carboxylase has been found not only in the liver but more recently in other tissue such as skin, lung and kidney and this has led researchers to investigate what other functions the Gla proteins may have in the body other than that of blood clotting ⁽¹⁴⁾.

Gla proteins - Name	Abbreviation	Site	Function
Prothrombin	FII	liver – plasma	procoagulant
Factor VII	FVII	liver – plasma	procoagulant
Factor IX	FIX	liver – plasma	procoagulant
Factor X	FX	liver – plasma	procoagulant
Protein C		liver – plasma	anticoagulant
Protein S		liver – plasma	anticoagulant
Protein Z		liver – plasma	anticoagulant
Osteocalcin	OC / BGP	bone - dentin	regulator of crystallization
Matrix Gla Protein	MGP	cartilage &	inhibitor of ectopic
		arterial vessel	calcification
		wall	
Growth arrest specific	gas6	most soft tissues	regulator of cell growth
gene-6 protein			(may play a role in vascular
			& ageing nervous system)
Proline-rich Gla	PRGP	most soft tissues	Currently unknown
proteins			
Transmembrane Gla	TMG3,TMG4,	most soft tissues	Currently unknown
proteins	PRGP1,PRGP2		

Table 1 – Name, site & function of currently identified Gla proteins

Dietary Sources

With recent advances in nutritional science such as high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), it is now possible to obtain accurate measurements of vitamin K levels in foodstuffs ⁽¹⁵⁾ resulting in the compilation of a national UK database for the vitamin K content in food ⁽¹⁶⁾. For oral intake the most abundant K vitamins appear to be the phylloquinones (K₁), which are to be found in leafy green vegetables such as cabbage and broccoli and contribute up to 40-50% of total intake.

Vitamin K₁ can also be found in some plant oils such as soybean and olive oils.

The naturally occurring menaquinones (MK) collectively known as K_2 are found in small amounts in meats, eggs and also in fermented foods such as cheese. These particular food sources have limited absorption in the large intestine, and so contribute to only 10% of the total intake ^(10;11), the exception to this being the Japanese food natto which is made from fermented soybean and has a menaquinone content which is higher than the phylloquinones to be found in any of the green vegetables. In healthy adults the large intestine contains bacteria which synthesise many of the menaquinones, mainly MK6-MK12

A comparative study using data gathered from the 1986-7 Dietary and Nutritional Survey of British Adults and data collected from the 2000-1 National Diet and Nutrition Survey compared daily intakes of vitamin K among British adults in both 1986-7 and 2000-1. Sixty per cent of vitamin K intake as recorded (on 7 day food diaries) came from green leafy vegetables, with higher intakes recorded in men than in women. The intake of vitamin K was noted to be considerably lower by 2000-2001 mainly due to a reduction in the consumption of vegetables $^{(17)}$.

Absorption

The efficiency of vitamin K absorption depends on the source of the vitamin and amount of fat in the diet but, in contrast to other fat soluble vitamins, vitamin K can only be stored in the body in limited quantities. Phylloquinones, which are the major source of vitamin K in humans, are absorbed in the jejunum and ileum in the presence of bile and pancreatic juices. Menaquinones are absorbed in the same fashion with the result that patients suffering from fat malabsorption syndromes such as those with coeliac disease, cystic fibrosis or Crohn's disease may develop vitamin K deficiency ⁽¹⁸⁾.

Once the phylloquinones have been absorbed they enter the bloodstream and are transported chemically unchanged to the liver for utilization and then distributed to other body tissues including skeletal, muscle and heart tissue. The liver has only a limited capacity for storage of vitamin K and it is the menaquinones which make up the majority (around 90%) of all stored vitamin K ^(8;19). Compared with other fatsoluble vitamins, the total body store of vitamin K is small and the turnover of vitamin K in the liver is rapid. Although the liver contains menaquinones, their absorption and their contribution to the human vitamin K requirement has not yet been fully elucidated. Many hepatic menaquinones are untraceable in plasma.

Human requirements

The overall the amount of dietary intake of vitamin K the body requires is relatively low in relation to other nutrients (20). The current Adequate Intake (amount of nutrient required by the body to reduce the risk of developing associated diseases) of vitamin K, as taken from the Third Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III) 1984 – 1994 has been set at $120\mu g/d$ for men and $90\mu g/d$ for women (equivalent to eating 3 to 4 brussel sprouts or two to three spears of broccoli per day). Debate over this recommendation exists however with $1 \mu g/kg/day$ currently taken as the standardised guideline set by the UK Department of Health in 1991 while the World Health Organisation (WHO) currently recommends a daily intake of vitamin K 60–90 µg/day as adequate for older persons ⁽²¹⁾. The Framingham cohort study reported that individuals who fell into the category of high intake of vitamin K (median 254 μ g/d) as recorded on food record diaries had a significantly lower risk of hip fracture than those in the lowest intake group (median 56 μ g/d) ⁽²²⁾. The UK National Diet and Nutrition survey identified that the average intake of older people was between $80-120 \mu g/d$ while studies of younger populations found average intake to be around 60–70 μ g/d with similar figures obtained in population based surveys in the USA ⁽²³⁾.

Experiments carried out on laboratory animals have shown that vitamin K has a short half-life of only a few days, but despite this the intake in healthy adults appears sufficient to ensure normal blood clotting; in part ensured because of the efficient way the liver extracts and accumulates the vitamin. Current recommended figures are based purely on the requirement for vitamin K in blood clotting and do not take into consideration recent understanding of its role in both bone and vascular health, hence deficiency has to date been defined as "a state in which undercarboxylated blood coagulation factors appear in the circulation" ⁽²⁴⁾.

There are currently 3 forms of supplementation available: vitamin K_1 ; synthetic vitamin K_2 MK-4; and natural vitamin K_2 MK-7 (menaquinone-7). Previous vitamin K comparison studies exist. One such study involving healthy volunteers assessed the pharmacokinetics of both vitamin K_1 and vitamin K_2 with both peaking at around 4 hours following ingestion but, while the vitamin K_1 serum levels displayed only a short half-life time of 1-2 hours, vitamin K_2 had a much longer half-life of 3 days resulting in more stable serum levels ⁽²⁵⁾. Observational studies also suggest that it is in fact vitamin K_2 and not vitamin K_1 which is associated with a lower incidence of cardiovascular events ⁽²⁶⁾ and thus vitamin K_2 was the choice of intervention for this particular study.

Toxicity

European legislation exists defining vitamin and mineral supplement intake and upper levels have been set by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) or the Scientific Committee for Food (SCF). Research carried out in 1940 on laboratory rats saw dosage of up to 25g/kg of vitamin K administered without any adverse effect ⁽²⁷⁾ and there has been no known toxicity or adverse effects in healthy individuals associated with intake in excess of the recommended dose. In common with vitamin

B2, vitamin B1 and vitamin B12, no tolerable upper level of intake of vitamin K has been established ⁽²⁸⁾.

Measurement of vitamin K status

Serum vitamin K level can be measured by High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC), with the normal range of plasma vitamin K in adults aged 65 to 92 years being 0.32 to 2.67ng/mL ⁽²⁹⁾. Levels below 0.5 ng/mL have been linked to impaired blood-clotting. The value of measuring serum vitamin K concentration to assess vitamin K status is limited because it reacts to changes in oral intake within a 24 period as noted in a study of pre and post-operative surgical patients ⁽³⁰⁾.

Vitamin K deficiency results in impaired blood clotting, which can be confirmed by laboratory tests which measure the concentration of the vitamin K dependent factors. Prothrombin Time (PT) specifically evaluates the presence of factors VII, V, and X, prothrombin and fibrinogen in the blood with the normal range in a healthy individual being 11 - 13.5 seconds. More recently other methods for assessing vitamin K status have been developed including the measurement of undercarboxylated prothrombin and undercarboxylated osteocalcin.

Role of Vitamin K in Disease Processes

Role of Vitamin K in Clotting

Vitamin K is required for the process of coagulation in blood clotting ^(31;32), with the vitamin K dependent proteins being identified as: Prothrombin; Factor VII; Factor IX; Factor X; Protein C; Protein S and Protein Z.

Haemostasis

When damage occurs to blood vessels the homeostatic process is triggered. This consisting of 3 mechanisms which work together to stop the flow of blood. Firstly vasoconstriction of the damaged vessel slows the blood flow while the second mechanism of platelet adhesion to plug the wound occurs. Coagulation (the third mechanism in the process) then occurs as a result of activation of the 'coagulation cascade' - a process where a series of events, which are all interdependent, stop bleeding by the formation of a clot. Damage to tissue outside the vessel starts a release of the Gla protein factor III, which with the aid of calcium activates factor VII, which initiates the 'extrinsic pathway' (see below). At the same time, the Gla protein Factor XII from active platelets will activate factor XI, initiating the intrinsic pathway. Both active factor VII and active factor XI promote cascade reactions, eventually triggering the Gla protein factor X. Active factor X, along with factor III, factor V, Calcium and platelet thromboplastic factor (PF3), activate prothrombin activator which converts prothrombin to thrombin. Thrombin converts fibrinogen to fibrin which initially forms a loose web with factor XIII causing the formation of cross links; this much denser structure of fibres ensure that platelets and red blood cells become caught in this mesh resulting in the formation of a blood clot (see Figure 3).



Figure 3: Diagram of the clotting cascade reproduced from ⁽³³⁾

Two other vitamin K dependent proteins, protein C and protein S, play a regulatory role in clotting by inhibiting coagulation via the inactivation of Factors V and VIII. Protein C circulates in the blood as a zymogen and is activated to a serine protease

by the binding of thrombin to thrombomodulin, while protein S enhances the action of Protein C. By deactivating Factors V and VII, Proteins C and S decrease the speed of thrombin production, thereby inhibiting the cascade and acting as the regulatory mechanism of the clotting cascade. Without this mechanism, widespread thrombosis would otherwise occur. There is evidence that protein S is synthesized by several tissues including bone and blood vessels and may have other functions besides its role as an inhibitor of clotting. The other vitamin K-dependent protein (protein Z) is assumed to have a haemostatic role but as yet its function is unclear.

Role of Vitamin K in Bone health

Osteoporosis is one of the most common disorders associated with old age, affecting one in every three women and one in every twelve men over the age of 50 years. Reduced bone density is a major risk factor for low trauma fracture, with consequent disability, death and cost to society ⁽³⁴⁾. Osteoporosis has been defined as "a progressive, systematic, skeletal disease that is characterised by low bone mass and deterioration of the small structures in the bones with subsequent increase in bone fragility and susceptibility to fracture" ⁽³⁵⁾, and more recently osteoporosis has been operationally defined on the basis of bone mineral density (BMD) assessment. According to the WHO criteria, osteoporosis is defined as a BMD that lies 2.5 standard deviations or more below the average value for young healthy women ⁽³⁶⁾.

Although the role of calcium in bone health has long been established, other nutritional deficiencies may also play an important part in bone loss ⁽³⁷⁾. Bone matrix is formed by osteoblasts which synthesize osteocalcin, and vitamin K has been
identified as necessary to enable gamma glutanyl carboxylation of osteocalcin. Without this post translational modification osteocalcin is inactive and the body cannot mineralise bone effectively. Serum levels of under carboxylated osteocalcin levels can therefore be used to measure the effect of vitamin K intake on bone health.

Over the past few years accumulating evidence supports a role for vitamin K in bone health. In the majority of studies higher intake of phylloquinones is associated with lower serum concentrations of undercarboxylated osteocalcin. This in turn has been associated with lower bone mineral density and a higher risk of hip fracture ^(38;39).

The direct relationship between phylloquinone intake and bone mineral density has also been reported although this appears less consistent. The ECKO study randomised 440 postmenopausal women to receive either 5mg vitamin K₁ or placebo for a minimum of 2 years. Despite showing a 10 fold increase in serum K₁ levels along with a decrease in the proportion of undercarboxylated osteocalcin levels no improvement in age related BMD was found ⁽⁴⁰⁾. The Framingham observational study investigated vitamin K intake in older women (mean age 75 years) with a mean vitamin K₁ intake of 155µg/ day. While it found no correlation between vitamin K intake and either bone mineral density or bone loss, in the Framingham offspring cohort a positive correlation was found in younger women (average age 59 years) but not men ⁽⁴¹⁾. The Nurses' Health Study followed 120,000, women for a period of 10 years and a prospective analysis of this cohort discovered that the women with the lowest risk of hip fracture were those middle aged and older women who reported higher levels of vitamin K consumption on their food questionnaires ⁽³⁹⁾.

An epidemiological study of Japanese premenopausal women compared those who traditionally have a high intake of vitamin K (MK7) ingested as fermented soybean with women from another Japanese area with a staple diet and British women whose diet did not include natto. Those Japanese women consuming the natto (soybean) showed significantly higher serum levels of circulating MK7 and researchers found a statistically significant inverse correlation between natto consumption and the incidence of osteoporotic hip fracture ⁽⁴²⁾.

Role of Vitamin K in Vascular Disease

One of the cardinal signs of cardiovascular disease is the formation of atherosclerotic plaques in arterial walls. Until recently calcification of arteries was thought to be a passive and clinically irrelevant process, a result of inflammation, lipid accumulation, diabetes or high calcium. However it is now clear that vascular calcification is in fact an active, structured process which is strongly and independently associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. Calcification results in reduced elasticity (stiffening) of the vascular walls causing a reduction of arterial compliance, which promotes development of left ventricular hypertrophy and causes decreased coronary perfusion. The end result is an increased risk of serious complications – myocardial infarction, stroke, heart failure and cardiovascular death.

In the vasculature a key inhibitor of calcification is the Gla protein Matrix Gla protein (MGP) which is synthesised by smooth muscle cells and is found in a wide variety of tissues including cartilage, heart, kidney and lung.

The role of vitamin K in vascular calcification was proposed over 30 years ago when a study of vitamin K dependent proteins in aortic valve calcification found evidence of Gla in all the calcified valves studied while those valves without calcification had no traceable Gla ⁽⁴³⁾. Within vascular smooth muscle cells the synthesis of MGP prevents vascular calcification as shown in studies of mice where the removal of the MGP gene resulted in calcification of the elastic lamellae of the abdominal aorta with death from rupture of the aorta occurring within two months ⁽⁴⁴⁾. Other studies found that rats who were given the vitamin K antagonist warfarin developed vascular calcification after 2 weeks ⁽⁴⁵⁾ while in humans uncarboxylated MGP (i.e. nonfunctional MGP) has been identified in calcified regions of the vasculature ⁽³⁸⁾.

The link with atherosclerosis was first considered when proteins containing Gla residues (osteocalcin and MGP) were isolated from atherosclerotic plaques. A population based study with 113 post-menopausal women found a link between low levels of vitamin K and atherosclerotic calcification in the abdominal aorta ⁽⁴⁶⁾.

Apparently healthy people have shown substantial under carboxylated MGP suggesting that these healthy adults may be vitamin K deficient ⁽⁴⁷⁾. It has thus been suggested that previously identified Recommended Daily Intake levels for vitamin K, although sufficiently high to maintain a regulated clotting mechanism may not be high enough to ensure the complete carboxylation of all the other vitamin K dependent proteins required to maintain healthy bone and artery wall function. Importantly a review of current literature showed no evidence for intake of vitamin K_1 but interestingly 2 cohort studies have found an association between vitamin K_2 and fewer CHD events ^(38;48), while a study of 118 postmenopausal women, assessed

the effect of supplementing the diet with vitamin K, vitamin E and calcium and found this had a beneficial effect on elasticity and compliance of the carotid artery when compared to other groups without vitamin K supplementation $^{(49)}$.

A recently completed randomised controlled trial confirmed that most patients requiring haemodialysis have a deficiency in vitamin K. It also demonstrated that daily supplementation with vitamin K decreases the levels of inactive MGP providing strong evidence to proceed to a full study looking at the effect on vascular calcification in this high risk group ⁽⁵⁰⁾.

1.3 Population Ageing

Ageing, as defined by Kirkwood, is "the progressive loss of function accompanied by decreasing fertility and increasing mortality with advancing age" ⁽⁵¹⁾. The WHO 2008 classes those over the age of 70 years as being 'elderly', those 75-89 years as 'old' and those over the age of 90 years being 'very old' ⁽⁵²⁾. In almost every country in the world, the proportion of people aged over 60 years is growing faster than any other age group. It has been projected that by 2035 23% of the UK population will be aged \geq 65 years with 3.6 million being aged \geq 85 years ⁽¹⁹⁾.

In the early twentieth century better hygiene, public health, nutrition and better obstetric care resulted in a rapid decline in the mortality of the population of developed countries around the world ⁽⁵³⁾. This trend along with declining fertility rates has given rise to a reduction in the number of young persons under the age of 15 years but an increase in the population of those in the later stages of life. As a

result "population ageing" - the process by which older individuals make up a proportionally larger share of the total population over a period of time - has thrown up new challenges to both developed and developing countries such as the increasing demand and expense on healthcare and social care.

WHO currently records the world's total population of those aged 60 and above at 650 million but it expects this figure to reach 2 billion by 2050. According to the Office for National Statistics (ONS) in Scotland the number of people of pensionable age is expected to rise by 3% from 1.04 million in 2010 to 1.07 million in 2020 and then reach 1.32 million in 2035, while the number of people aged 75 and over is anticipated to increase from 0.41 million in 2010 to 0.50 million in 2020 and to continue rising, reaching 0.74 million in 2035 – an increase of 82 per cent over the 25 year period.

Age Structure

Within Scotland there has been very little change in the total number of people over the past 50 years, but the age profile of the population has changed quite significantly within the past decade ⁽⁵⁴⁾. One hundred years ago there were few older people and a large, young, working age population to support them; average life expectancy was only 40 years. However it is predicted that by 2031 in Scotland the number of people aged 65 years or over will increase from 0.75 million in 2000 to 1.2 million in 2031. (See figure 4.) Those who are aged \geq 65 will have increased by 62% while those aged \geq 85 will have increased by 144%. The population of older persons is itself ageing. Among those aged 60 years or over, the fastest growing population is that of the oldest-old, that is, those aged 80 years or over.

Figure 4 - Population pyramids of Scotland by age group and sex (1911, 1951, 1991 and 2031) taken from National Workforce Planning Framework 2005 ⁽⁵⁵⁾



While population ageing is a success story for public health policies and for socioeconomic development, it brings with it many challenges for both individuals and for society as a whole. As the proportion of older people increases, so the age structure of Scotland's population is also changing (see figure 5). By 2010 there were more people aged 65 years and over (20%) than there were under the age of 16 (17%).

Figure 5: The changing age structure of Scotland's population, 2000-2010 taken from ⁽⁵⁶⁾



Life Expectancy

UK life expectancy at birth is 78 years for males and 82 years for females ⁽⁵⁷⁾. Old age is however associated with health problems including chronic diseases such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus, coronary artery disease, stroke, dementia and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) with chronic disease being closely linked to a reduced quality of life ⁽⁵⁸⁾.

While life expectancy is defined as the expected number of years of life remaining at a given age, healthy life expectancy (HLE) is defined as the period of life one can expect to spend in good health and is currently calculated by the recording of self-reported overall general health status. Health expectancies can be measured in several ways, including life expectancy in good health, free from disability, or free from a specific disease. While data suggests a rise in both life expectancy and general HLE between 1981 and 2001 there has been a slight drop in the reported % of life spent in good health with women reporting more chronic ill health and disability than men ⁽⁵⁹⁾. (See Table 2.)

 Table 2:Trends in life expectancy and healthy life expectancy at birth, 1981 to 2001

 (source www.statistics.gov.uk)

	Women		Men	
Year	1981	2001	1981	2001
Life expectancy (years)	76.8	80.4	70.9	75.7
General HLE (years)	66.7	68.8	64.4	67.0
% life in Good or fairly good health	86.9%	85.6%	90.0%	88.5%

HLE: - Healthy Life Expectancy

Observational data show that while for both male and females' life expectancy at birth for the UK as a whole continues to rise and the gap between males and females is also closing, men and women in Scotland have some of the lowest life expectancy at birth in the European Union (EU). For males, life expectancy at birth is almost one year lower than the EU average and, for females; it is almost two years lower. For both sexes, life expectancy is about four years lower than those countries with the highest life expectancy.

HLE without disability is also lower in the UK compared to the average within the EU (see figure 6. UK figures from 2005 show while men aged 65 can expect to live another 10 years without disability they should expect to spend their last 7 years with one. Women at 65 years are likely to live a further 12 years without followed by 9 years with a disability. This constitutes a total of 43% of their remaining life span at 65 years spent with some form of disability.

Figure 6: Expected healthy life years remaining for people aged 65 throughout European countries in 2005 ⁽⁶⁰⁾.



Mortality

In previous centuries death was frequently the result of outbreaks or epidemics of infectious diseases. Improved sanitary conditions, better nutrition, antibiotics and immunisations have now left the developed countries of the world with new epidemics to deal with.

In Scotland mortality rates from the big three killers - cancer, coronary heart disease and stroke - account for more than 50% of deaths recorded in Scotland, with 15% being attributed to coronary heart disease and 9% to stroke in 2010. The past two decades however have seen these rates steadily decline (see Figure 7) partly as a result of health education, lifestyle improvements and improved health care interventions. In 2005, 60% of deaths were of people aged 75 and over, and a further 20% occurred in those who were between the ages of 65 and 74. The relative stability of the number of deaths over recent years masks significant improvements in age-specific mortality. The consequence of this is that there are ever more older people surviving with chronic cardiovascular diseases.



Figure 7 Scotland's Population - Mortality Rates (61)

1.4 Cardiovascular Disease in Older adults

For many people old age is associated with ill health. Although death rates have been falling, cardiovascular disease remains the biggest cause of death in the UK accounting for 1 in 3 of all recorded deaths and currently costing the UK economy around £30 billion per year ⁽⁶²⁾. Given that chronic disease reflects a lifetime exposure to damaging risk factors, most chronic conditions will manifest themselves in later life and are as a result of multiple disease processes.

Mortality rates in Scotland from cardiovascular disease are among the highest in the world. It is the main cause of death in the UK annually accounting for 191,000 or one in three of all deaths and, while there has been a dramatic reduction in death rates, its prevention remains high on the Scottish Government's agenda. Once an

individual reaches the age of 65 their risk of developing cardiovascular disease increases, and cardiac-related disease accounts for around 40% of deaths in the 65 to 74 year age group $^{(63)}$. In 2009 of the 180,000 recorded deaths only 25,000 were under 75 years. Not only is it a major cause of mortality but it is also a major contributor to the decline in physical function in old age $^{(64)}$.

Current knowledge about the management of cardiovascular disease, especially in relation to drug treatments, has in the main been taken from studies carried out in younger populations ⁽⁶⁵⁾, despite the aforementioned physiological differences and the increased likelihood of co-morbid disease. Lifestyle factors such as diet and physical activity are important contributors to the prevention and treatment of cardiovascular diseases, and there is evidence to support improvements with disease following short periods of intervention (e.g. stopping smoking and taking exercise). While much nutritional research has focused on fat and salt intake, there is growing interest in the role of micronutrients in the prevention of chronic disease.

In early life arteries are elastic and flexible, which facilitates optimal cardiac function. With advancing age however a gradual thickening of the arteries' muscle layer (the tunica media) along with an increase in the deposition of collagen fibres and elastin becomes apparent, while other substances involved in inflammatory and atherosclerotic reactions are also more plentiful in older arteries ⁽⁶⁶⁾. Arterial stiffness increases primarily due to a breakdown of the elastin fibrous structure of the arterial walls but also due to an increase in mean arterial pressure.

Vascular calcification is common in the older population as well as in those suffering from chronic kidney disease, diabetes and aortic stenosis. Studies using animals have shown that it is possible to reverse calcification of the arteries but two human studies using intensive lipid-lowering therapy have not proved successful in preventing the progression of coronary calcification ^(67;68)

Hypertension

Cardiovascular diseases are the leading cause of death worldwide, with high blood pressure causing 7 million deaths each year ⁽⁶⁹⁾.Blood pressure is recorded as systolic/diastolic blood pressure measured in millimetres of mercury (mmHg). Raised blood pressure is diagnosed when either the systolic pressure exceeds 140mmHg or the diastolic exceeds 90mmHg with hypertension being the recording of raised blood pressure on three subsequent occasions ⁽⁷⁰⁾. In Scotland one third of all the adult population has high blood pressure the prevalence of which increases with age such that more than two thirds of the Scottish population aged over 75 have high blood pressure ^(71;72).

Hypertension is known to accelerate arthrosclerosis, increasing the risk of vascular disease, and may result in coronary heart disease, left ventricular hypertrophy, transient ischaemic attack and peripheral vascular disease (PVD) ⁽⁷³⁾ with the Framington study demonstrating the link between hypertension and cardiovascular disease (CVD) as well as hypertension and left ventricular mass ⁽⁷⁴⁾. Furthermore, in older patients there is a link between arterial stiffness and high blood pressure

especially in those with ischemic heart disease. These patients are therefore an ideal group to target for testing the effect of vitamin K on artery function.

Diabetes Mellitus

Diabetes mellitus is a metabolic disorder characterised by chronic hyperglycaemia resulting from defects in insulin secretion and glucose disposal. Recent figures indicate that one person in every 25 in Scotland has been diagnosed with the condition, and that level is increasing at a rate of 4% per year ⁽⁷⁵⁾.

Diabetes mellitus and CVD share several characteristics. Both increase in incidence with age, are associated with lifestyle factors, and both may be reduced if common risk factors are reduced ⁽⁷⁶⁾. Diabetes has been identified as a risk factor for CVD, with coronary heart disease the most common vascular complication among people with diabetes, resulting in an increased risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. The Framingham Study found that the incidence of CVD among diabetic men was double that found in non-diabetic men, while in the female population cardiovascular disease was found to be three times more common in those with a diagnosis of diabetes ⁽⁷⁷⁾.

Diabetes is also closely linked to other risk factors for CVD; hypertension ⁽⁷⁸⁾ and dyslipidaemia ⁽⁷⁹⁾ are significantly more prevalent in this population, with the risk of stroke within the first 5 years of diagnosis found to be double that of the general population in a population-based cohort study ⁽⁸⁰⁾. Medial calcification is also found

to be more prevalent in those with diabetes mellitus thus this group of patients are an ideal group to target for testing the effect of vitamin K.

Established Vascular Disease

For those with established vascular disease such as myocardial infarction, stroke or peripheral vascular disease, the risk of having a second event is higher than in those groups without such history.

Those with established vascular disease are more likely to have impaired endothelial function and stiff arteries, and are therefore potential targets for improvement with an intervention.

Thus vascular disease is a common, important contributor to disease in old age. There now exists a body of evidence to suggest that vitamin K may be able to modify vascular disease, but to test this hypothesis, randomised controlled trials are needed.

2. METHODS

2.1 Study Aims

The aims of the study were:

1. To determine whether supplementation with vitamin K improves markers of vascular health in older people with existing vascular disease.

2. To determine whether vitamin K supplementation improves physical function in older people with existing vascular disease.

2.2 Study Design

The study was a parallel group, double blind, placebo controlled, randomised trial. The study was approved by Tayside Committee on Medical Research Ethics (ref number 11/009) on 12th September 2011 and was funded by Chest, Heart & Stroke Scotland (reference R11/A137).

2.3 Sample Size

The primary outcome was a change in flow-mediated dilatation of the brachial artery between baseline and 6 months. In anticipation of a 10% dropout rate (based on previous trials ^(81;82)) a final sample size of 80 (40 per arm) would give 80% power at alpha = 0.05 to detect a 2% absolute change in FMD (given a standard deviation of change of 3% as seen in previous studies ⁽⁸¹⁾).

2.4 Study Population

Community dwelling people aged 70 and over with a history of hypertension, diabetes or previously diagnosed vascular disease (see Table 3 for inclusion and exclusion criteria) were recruited from the community via the Scottish Primary Care Research Network (SPCRN). This group of patients has a high risk of recurrent vascular events and therefore would have most to gain from any effective intervention.

Exclusion Criteria

A minimal exclusion criterion for the study was set to ensure the presence of as wide a range of older people with vascular disease as possible. Given that warfarin inhibits vitamin K epoxide reductase those prescribed warfarin or those with a diagnosis of atrial fibrillation and therefore potentially requiring warfarin treatment in the future, were not included in the study population or indeed those who stated that they already supplemented their diet with vitamin K supplements.

Anyone unable to give informed consent or unable to walk without physical assistance, and thus unable to participate in the physical functioning assessment, were also excluded

Table 3. Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria

- Age 70 and over with at least one of the following diagnosis:
- Hypertension (based on recorded diagnosis from primary or secondary care)
- Diabetes mellitus (based on recorded diagnosis from primary or secondary care)
- Established Vascular disease one or more of:
 - Myocardial infarction (based on symptoms of ischaemia or ECG changes, plus rise in cardiac enzymes)
 - 2. Percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty
 - 3. Coronary artery bypass grafting
 - 4. Stroke/TIA (based on a recorded diagnosis established in secondary care and recorded in the medical case notes)
 - 5. Peripheral vascular disease (symptoms of peripheral ischaemia and either a previous ankle/brachial pressure index <0.7 OR
 - 6. Previous evidence of arterial stenosis on angiography or ultrasound)

Exclusion criteria

- Atrial fibrillation
- Taking Warfarin
- Taking Vitamin K supplements
- Unable to give written informed consent
- Unable to walk without human assistance (walking aids are permitted)
- Participation in another study

2.5 Investigator Training

The investigator (RF) undertook a period of training prior to recruitment of participants to the study. Good Clinical Practice training was undertaken at the Clinical Research Centre (see appendix 1) with all other training was carried out within the department of medicine at Ninewells Hospital and encompassed both instruction in the vascular assessments and the physical function tests.

Training began with repeated demonstration of the techniques by an experienced practitioner, which gave the investigator the opportunity to observe formally the techniques being carried out successfully. All training manuals and standard operating procedures were read until RF had a full and clear understanding of the procedures.

In order to assess reproducibility, Flow Mediated Dilation (FMD), carotid intimamedia thickness and pulse wave velocity (PVW) were carried out on 20 individuals initially under close supervision before being repeated at least 3 times on each volunteer. For FMD measurements are taken pre and post forearm artery occlusion with the increase expressed as percentage change from baseline. An absolute percentage change of 2% is considered to be clinically significant therefore an increase of less than 2% was considered satisfactory to demonstrate reproducibility.

Regular meetings with the experienced practitioner where held to allow results to be studied. Tables (4&5) below show FMD and PWV results on the final ten healthy

volunteers and demonstrate that techniques where being reproduced to an acceptable level and recruitment of participants could begin.

Subject	Reading 1	Reading 2	Difference %
1	Min 4.21	Min 4.22	
	Max 4.53	Max 4.56	
	% Increase 7.57	% Increase 8.03	0.5
2	Min 3.72	Min 3.42	
	Max 4.0	Max 3.69	
	% Increase 7.04	% Increase 7.88	0.8
3	Min 3.77	Min 3.85	
	Max 3.97	Max 4.07	
	% Increase 5.50	% Increase 6.02	0.5
4	Min 3.0	Min 2.59	
	Max 3.13	Max 2.73	
	% Increase 4.33	% Increase 5.16	0.8
5	Min 3.98	Min 3.99	
	Max 4.32	Max 4.30	
	% Increase 8.52	% Increase 7.57	0.8
6	Min 4.68	Min 4.60	
	Max 4.91	Max 4.81	
	% Increase 4.91	% Increase 4.57	0.3
7	Min 3.89	Min 3.81	
	Max 4.25	Max 4.16	
	% Increase 9.2	% Increase 9.1	0.1
8	Min 5.46	Min 5.10	
	Max 5.60	Max 5.22	
	% Increase 2.6	% Increase 2.4	0.2
9	Min 4.06	Min 4.48	
	Max 4.27	Max 4.67	
	% Increase 5.2	% Increase 4.3	0.9
10	Min 4.55	Min 4.18	
	Max 4.88	Max 4.53	
	% Increase 6.8	% Increase 7.7	0.9

Table 4. Training records for FMD healthy volunteers

Subject	Readin	g 1	Readin	1g 2	Difference
1	PVW	6.9 ± 0.3	PVW	7.3 ± 0.2	0.4
	Axl	7%	Axl	6%	1%
2	PVW	9.3 ± 0.6	PVW	10.6 ± 0.9	1.3
	Axl	15%	Axl	13%	2%
3	PVW	8.6 ± 0.6	PVW	7.9 ± 0.7	0.7
	Axl	24%	Axl	25%	1%
4	PVW	8.7 ± 0.5	PVW	8.9 ± 0.6	0.2
	Axl	9%	Axl	10%	1%
5	PVW	7.5 ± 0.5	PVW	7.3 ± 0.6	0.2
	Axl	19%	Axl	19%	0%
6	PVW	8.4 ± 0.4	PVW	8.0 ± 0.5	0.4
	Axl	35%	Axl	36%	1%
7	PVW	8.1 ± 0.6	PVW	8.5 ± 0.7	0.4
	Axl	34%	Axl	36%	2%
8	PVW	8.0 ± 0.4	PVW	7.6 ± 0.3	0.4
	Axl	12%	Axl	15%	3%
9	PVW	8.0 ± 0.4	PVW	7.2 ± 0.5	0.8
	Axl	12%	Axl	11%	1%
10	PVW	8.4 ± 0.4	PVW	8.6±0.6	0.2
	Axl	31%	Axl	33%	2%

Table 5. Training records PVW healthy volunteers

2.6 Participant Selection and Enrolment

Recruitment

Participants were recruited through SPCRN, previously known as the Scottish Practices and Professionals Involved in Research (SPPIRe). The network, which was established in 2002, aims to act as a framework to co-ordinate national research activity in primary care. It is funded by the Chief Scientist Office of the Scottish Government and is operationally managed at a regional level by four nodes based in the North, East, South East and West of Scotland. Participants were recruited using the East of Scotland node of the SPCRN. GP practices who are members of the network were sent information regarding the study and two practices who agreed to be involved in the research project were visited by a SPCRN research officer. Using the practice's patient computer database system and the study inclusion / exclusion criteria the research officer produced a list of participants who were potentially eligible for the study. The list was then reviewed by one of the practice GP's to exclude any patients who they deemed unsuitable to enter the study because, for example, they had recently been diagnosed with a serious illness, or had been recently bereaved.

An invitation letter along with a Participant Information Sheet (PIS) (Appendices 2 and 3), reply slip (appendix 4) and a stamped addressed envelope were sent from the GP to the patients who met the study eligibility criteria. After reading the PIS only those individuals who wished to know more about the study were asked to respond by returning the reply slip.

Reply slips were collected by the SPCRN team and forwarded to members of the study team. Respondents were contacted by telephone by Roberta Fulton (RF). During this initial contact a brief outline was given of the purpose of the study and details of what involvement in the study would entail. Eligibility was also checked and potential participants were encouraged to ask questions at any point during the phone call.

Informed Consent

Verbal consent

All those who agreed to participate in the study and attend the screening / baseline visit gave verbal consent during the initial telephone contact for RF to review their hospital notes to further assess eligibility and document past medical history.

Written Consent

Based on the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki, written informed consent was obtained from each participant when they attended their screening / baseline visit (see appendix 5 for consent form)

Randomisation

Randomisation of study medication was carried out by Tayside Pharmaceuticals, an MHRA licensed manufacturing unit at Ninewells Hospital. Staff at Tayside Pharmaceuticals prepared and retained a computer-generated randomisation list randomised on a 1:1 ratio (active: placebo) with no stratification. Four blocks of 20 participants were randomised to ensure equal allocation across both arms of the trial, even in the event of suboptimal recruitment.

On entering the study each participant was allocated a sequential number and was dispensed the study medication bearing the same number, each bottle containing medication sufficient to last for 6 months.

Each participant was dispensed an identical looking bottle informing them that the bottle contained either vitamin K or placebo medication ensuring that the participant remained blind to the study medication. Randomisation codes were held by the pharmacy and not by the researchers themselves; however the codes were held in a sealed enveloped in the trial master file (TMF) in case emergency unblinding was required out with pharmacy times.

Researchers also remained blind to the treatment allocation which was only broken once all the data analysis was complete.

2.7 Medication

Manufacture

Study medication was manufactured by NattoPhama ASA (Høvik, Norway) and encapsulated by Legosan AB, Kumla, Sweden as vitamin K_2 using bacillus subtilis natto, a Japanese dish made of fermented soybeans which is currently the richest known source of natural vitamin K_2 ⁽⁸³⁾. Participants were randomised to receive one capsule per day of either vitamin K_2 (MK7 subtype) 100mcg or placebo, with both intervention and placebo medications being over capsulated to give an identical appearance. All study medication was issued at the end of the baseline visit with instructions to take one tablet per day. Participants were instructed to contact RF with any questions concerning the medication during their time in the study.

A letter was sent to each participant's general practitioner notifying the doctor that their patient had enrolled in the study and was therefore possibly taking vitamin K (see appendix 6), something which they should be conscious of if they were to consider warfarin therapy over the course of the subsequent six months, as vitamin K antagonises the effect of warfarin ⁽⁸⁴⁾.

Medication Adherence

Medication adherence, defined by the WHO as 'the extent to which a patient follows medical instructions', was assessed by a tablet count at 12 weeks and 6 months following the participant's baseline visit. The number of remaining tablets was recorded in the case report form (see appendix 7) as was the total number of days each participant had been enrolled in the study. Adherence was calculated as the proportion of tablets actually taken over the 6 month period divided by the amount they should have taken. An intake of 80% or more of the initial tablets supplied at baseline was recorded as medication adherent.

Measurements of serum vitamin K levels were also recorded at baseline and at the 6 month study visits as a further check that medication was being ingested as opposed to merely being removed from the bottle.

All unused medication was recorded on the medication accountability log before being returned to the clinical trials pharmacist at Tayside Pharmaceuticals for safe disposal.

2.8 Outcome Measurement

Screening Assessment

All visits for the study were carried out in study rooms at Tayside Institute for Cardiac Research, level 7 Ninewells Hospital. Taxi transport was provided if required. Assessment of suitability for study entry was reviewed at the screening / baseline visit. Inclusion / exclusion criteria were re-examined, and during the initial part of the screening / baseline visit a 12-lead electrocardiogram (ECG) was carried out. Any patient displaying a recording of atrial fibrillation (AF), a heart condition that causes an irregular and often abnormally fast heart rate, on the ECG was then excluded from further participation. A copy of the ECG was forwarded on to the GP for antithrombotic prophylaxis consideration as people with AF have a five-fold increase in risk of stroke and previous trials have established sound evidence to support warfarin treatment in high risk groups ⁽⁸⁵⁾. It is well documented that vitamin K alters the metabolism of warfarin,⁽⁸⁶⁾ hence patients in AF were excluded from the trial. The procedure for recording the ECG was carried out as described by Jevon ⁽⁸⁷⁾. Any person with AF on their ECG was gently informed that this is a relatively common condition affecting around 20% of the population over the age of 80 years ⁽⁸⁸⁾ which can be managed effectively, and that their GP would be informed of the findings for further consideration.

Following consent those participants eligible for inclusion continued with the baseline visit as follows:

Baseline Assessment

- Past medical history including dates of diagnosis (if known) and whether the condition was currently an on-going problem.
- Concomitant medications were recorded
- Demographic information was documented specifically:
- (i) Current living status (own home, sheltered housing, residential or nursing home resident or living with relatives)
- (ii) Living alone at home and current home help
- (iii) Smoking history; current smoking habit
- (iv) Use of walking aids (none, 1 or 2 sticks, zimmer frame or triwheel walker).

Lying and standing blood pressure was recorded using an Omron digital blood pressure monitor model HEM-400C as per The British Hypertension Society/European Society for Hypertension guidelines ⁽⁸⁹⁾. Participants were asked to lie in a supine position for 5 minutes prior to the blood pressure being recorded three times then asked to stand in an upright position while recordings were taken again at 30 seconds, 2 minutes and 3 minutes to test for orthostatic hypotension.

Participants were asked if they had experienced any feelings of dizziness or lightheadedness during the procedure and these were also recorded in the Case Report Form (CRF). Lying and standing blood pressure recordings were documented in the CRF, then mean lying blood pressure was also calculated and recorded in the CRF. A falls history was also taken at this time at each of the three study visits, with the number of falls occurring within the previous three month period documented along with the circumstances surrounding each event.

Primary Outcome Measure

The primary outcome for the trial was between group differences in endothelial function at 6 months as assessed using the technique of Flow Mediated Dilation (FMD) of the brachial artery in response to 5 minutes of forearm occlusion.

The endothelium is the largest organ in the body located between the wall of blood vessels and the blood stream. Stimuli such as pressure, shear stress, or hormonal stimuli, induce the release substances which regulate vasomotor function, activate inflammatory processes, and affect haemostasis ^{(90).}

Endothelial dysfunction was first described in human hypertension in the forearm vasculature in 1990 ⁽⁹¹⁾ and encompasses various abnormalities such as reduced vasodilation, altered inflammatory and anticoagulant properties as well as abnormal vascular growth remodelling. ⁽⁹²⁾ It has been demonstrated to be present in patients with diabetes ^(93;94); hypertension ⁽⁹⁵⁾; coronary artery disease ⁽⁹⁶⁾; and peripheral vascular disease ⁽⁹⁷⁾ and is associated with ageing ⁽⁹⁸⁾.

The ability of the blood vessels to dilate in response to an increase in blood flow has been named FMD and is largely mediated by nitric oxide (NO). This increase in blood flow can be produced by triggering reactive hyperaemia (RH), that is, by temporarily occluding an artery and then restoring the flow of blood. When blood flow through an arterial section is occluded, hypoxia causes vasodilation of downstream resistance vessels followed by an increase in blood flow upon release of the occlusion. This increase of blood flow increases the shear stress exerted on the endothelium initiating release of NO and the relaxation of vascular smooth muscle cells. The result is conduit vessel dilation. RH therefore produces a compensatory increase in blood flow inducing the release of NO from the endothelium and thus, when this technique is carried out under controlled conditions, the impact of NO bioavailability can be measured ⁽⁹⁹⁾. The size of the blood vessel, participants' age and gender, as well therapeutic interventions are also known to influence FMD ⁽¹⁰⁰⁾ as are ambient temperature and food ingestion ⁽¹⁰¹⁾.

FMD of the brachial artery as devised by Celermajer et al ⁽¹⁰²⁾ is a non-invasive, reproducible technique used to assess endothelial function and has been identified as a marker for future cardiovascular events in patients with diabetes mellitus ⁽¹⁰³⁾; essential hypertension ⁽¹⁰⁴⁾; chest pain ⁽¹⁰⁵⁾; peripheral vascular disease ⁽¹⁰⁶⁾ and chronic heart failure ⁽¹⁰⁷⁾. With a usual diameter of 2.5 to 5mm the brachial artery is the preferred site of measurement as arteries with smaller diameter are difficult to image accurately and reproducibly and very small changes in absolute diameter are consequently reported as large percentage changes.

Participants were asked to fast, and avoid caffeine and tobacco for 6 hours prior to the test. They were studied in a quiet, temperature-controlled room (23°C) and asked to lie flat on the bed with 1 pillow under their head. The right arm was extended onto

the clamp table. Three ECG leads were placed on the chest and a sphygmomanometer cuff placed around right forearm just below the antecubital fossa (see Figure 8), as placement of the cuff more distally around the wrist has previously been shown to result in a smaller reactive hyperaemia response and lower FMD. A 2D image of the brachial artery was recorded in end-diastole, identified by the onset of the R-wave for 2 minutes just above the antecubital fossa in the longitudinal plane using an Acuson sequoia 512 ultrasound machine with an 8L5 Transducer.

Figure 8: Positioning for measurement of brachial artery flow mediated dilation



The cuff was then inflated using a Hokanson rapid cuff inflator (Hokanson Inc., Bellview, WA. USA) to 200mmHg or 50 mmHg more than the recorded systolic blood pressure (whichever level was higher for 5 minutes and then deflated. Previous studies have examined duration times for cuff occlusion ⁽¹⁰⁸⁾ concluding

that more than 5 min occlusion duration has been shown to prolong the duration of hyperaemia and evoke a non-NO-mediated response. A further 2 minute recording of the artery was taken and FMD calculated as the percentage change in the brachial artery diameter during hyperaemia compared to the baseline measurement using semi–automated analysis software (Brachial Tools edge detection software, Medical Imaging Applications, Iowa City, USA).

Secondary Outcome Measures

Measures of Vascular Function

Carotid intima-media thickness (IMT) of the common carotid artery has been identified as an indicator for cardiovascular disease. An increase in IMT is the earliest measurable morphological alteration of the arterial wall ⁽¹⁰⁹⁾. It has been recognised as being a highly accurate, easily reproducible test, correlating well with pathophysiologic measurements ⁽¹¹⁰⁾. Hashimoto et al demonstrated direct correlation between FMD of the brachial artery and carotid IMT in men ⁽¹¹¹⁾, while in a study of 963 participants carotid IMT was associated with atherosclerotic risk factors, increasing with the number of concurrent risk factors even after stratification for age ⁽¹¹²⁾.

Carotid B-mode ultrasonography enables measurement of the thickness of tunica intima and tunica media, the innermost two layers of the arterial wall. An increased cross-sectional intima-media thickness has been associated with increased risk of stroke and myocardial infarction ^(113;114) as well as lower extremity atherosclerosis ⁽¹¹⁵⁾. B-mode scanning of one of the carotid arteries was performed using Siemens

Acuson Sequoia 512 using an 8 MHz transducer. The participant was asked to lie in a supine position with the neck extended and the chin turned away from the side which was being examined. The participant's carotid artery was identified initially with the transducer in a transverse plane and then studied longitudinally. The common carotid artery was examined with three measurements of the IMT being taken at a point on the far wall of the artery just below the carotid bulb (see figure 9). Although vessels at different locations throughout the circulatory system may be used to assess IMT the carotid arteries are deemed most suitable due to their position, size and limited movement with the common carotid artery positioned parallel to the skin surface ⁽¹¹⁶⁾.

Different techniques in the measurement of IMT currently exist with researchers in previous studies taking different approaches and carrying out measurements at different points of the carotid artery. One approach is to take multiple measurements within the three main segments of the artery – the common carotid, bifurcation and the internal carotid artery - measuring both the near and far away walls. The maximal measurements for each section are recorded and an average is taken. This approach, although widely used, is problematic when areas of the internal carotid artery have been difficult to visualise and studies using this method tend to have larger amounts of missing data ⁽¹¹⁶⁾. Alternatively other researchers have recorded the common carotid artery near and far wall.



Figure 9: Ultrasound View of Carotid Artery and IMT taken from (117)

Common carotid IMT was measured approximately 10mm proximal to the carotid bulb on each of the three study visits. Three measurements over a 1cm section were taken and the average calculated and recorded in the CRF.

Arterial stiffness can be increased by three key mechanisms: firstly there is a breakdown of elastin within the arterial walls, secondly damage occurs to the endothelium and thirdly there is an increase in mean arterial pressure. Several methods of measuring arterial stiffness currently exist –

Pulse pressure - Pulse pressure is the difference between the peak systolic blood pressure (SBP) and peak diastolic blood pressure (DBP). It is dependent on cardiac output pressure and can be easily measured using a standard sphygmomanometer. Although elevated pulse pressure has been associated with cardiovascular disease ⁽¹¹⁸⁾ both SBP and DBP usually increase with age until around the age of 60 years when there is usually no further increase in DBP and in many cases it actually declines widening the pulse pressure. Pulse pressure alone therefore is inadequate to assess arterial stiffness accurately. The 'normal' amplification of the pressure wave as it travels from the aorta to the periphery becomes less pronounced with increasing

age thus measurements of pulse pressure made in the periphery do not always accurately reflect the actual central pulse pressure. In fact differences of up to 20mmHg between central pressures of patients with identical brachial blood pressure readings have been recorded. Central pressure may, therefore, be a more accurate predictor of risk than peripheral blood pressure. A number of studies have shown that pulse pressure is an important predictor of risk. The Framingham study in the US demonstrated that in hypertensive patients over the age of 50 years, the pulse pressure was a better predictor of coronary heart disease risk than either systolic or diastolic pressure alone ⁽¹¹⁹⁾.

Pulse Wave Analysis (PWA) is a method of measuring aortic pressure wave. It was first established back in the late 1800s by Frederick Akbar Mohamed who identified the difference between the carotid and radial waveform using the sphygmograph ⁽¹²⁰⁾. Following the invention of the sphygmomanometer however the recording of diastolic blood pressure became more widely used as the primary indicator of cardiovascular risk ⁽¹²¹⁾ with studies such as the Framingham study clearly demonstrating the link between blood pressure and cardiovascular disease. ⁽⁷⁴⁾. It can be argued however that while BP has been shown to be a significant factor associated with the risk of cardiovascular disease the brachial artery routinely used to measure BP may not be as affected by atherosclerosis and thus the measurement of the ascending aortic pressure may be a better predictor ⁽¹²²⁾.

PWA and Pulse Wave Velocity (PWV), two techniques of recording changes in the central aorta which have arisen from the loss of arterial elasticity can be assessed easily using the Sphygmograph.

The systolic pulse wave in the central aorta is amplified by the reflection of blood from arterial bifurcation points, primarily that of the distal aorta itself. A perfectly elastic aorta will absorb the entire pulse wave produced by ventricular contraction however a completely stiff and rigid tube will reflect a large proportion of the wave. The pulse pressure waveform differs in different blood vessels in the same individual, and is reliant on several things; the viscoelastic properties of the artery; the viscosity of the blood; the wave reflection and the wave dispersion.

Wave reflection leads to amplification of the aortic pressure wave. This wave travels from the left ventricle to the periphery where it reaches vessels of greater impedance that act as a mirror, reflecting it back to the aorta. Thus the resulting pressure in the ascending aorta is the sum of the incident and reflected wave and is dependent on the heart rate, the speed of the pulse wave and the amplitude of the reflected pulse wave (see figure 10).



Figure 10: Diagram of a pulse wave taken from ⁽¹²³⁾

For a given heart rate, the time of arrival of the reflected wave depends on the PWV, which is in turn determined by how stiff the vasculature is. If the reflected wave arrives early in the cardiac cycle it combines with the incident wave giving a greater ascending aortic pressure against which the left ventricle has to pump; however, if it arrives later in the cardiac cycle it increases the ascending aortic pressure in diastole, leading to improved coronary circulation. The Augmentation Index (Alx), because of its correlation with PWV - which has been shown to be dependent on arterial stiffness - has been proposed as a marker for arterial stiffness.

PWV is calculated by measuring the time it takes for the arterial waveform to pass between sites (usually the carotid and radial, or carotid and femoral) two points which are a measured distance apart, and involves taking the readings simultaneously, or by gating separate recordings to a fixed point in the cardiac cycle, usually the R wave of the ECG.

The relationship between how stiff arteries are and the speed of the pulse wave was first predicted by Thomas Young in 1808 and is described as a mathematical equation - The Moens-Korteweg equation or $PWV=\sqrt{Eh/2\rho R}$. PWV is calculated from measurements of pulse transit time and the distance travelled by the pulse between two recording sites: PWV=Distance (metres)/Transit Time (seconds). Various different methods are available, both invasive and non-invasive, but the development of modern tonometer systems has enabled the measurement of accurate pressure waveforms without the need for invasive catheter-based measurements.
The SphygmoCor system used in this study has a transfer function which can be used to calculate central pressure from the radial pulse waveform, using a hand-held tonometer. The SphygmoCor can also be used at other superficial arterial sites including the carotid and femoral arteries, and by ECG-gating, the time for transmission of the arterial pulse wave between sites (PWV) is calculated.

The SphygmoCor (version 7.1) is a recently-developed computerized, portable and simple-to-use device validated to assess pulse waveforms and assess arterial stiffness ⁽¹²⁴⁾. Aortic pulse waveform, Alx, and central aortic pressure were derived at the radial artery by applanation tonometry. For this study the radial and carotid artery sites were used mainly due to ease of access.

The participant was asked to lie in a relaxed, comfortable position with their arm extended across a flat hard surface, palm of the hand facing upward. The radial and carotid artery pressure waves and amplitude were recorded non-invasively with a pencil-type probe (at the base of neck for the common carotid artery and over the right radial artery).

The probe incorporates a transducer at the tip, which has a small pressure-sensitive ceramic sensor area with a frequency response of >2 kHz that is coplanar with a longer area (7mm diameter) of flat surface in contact with the skin overlying the arterial pulse. The probe's technology is based on the principle of applanation tonometry, as used in ocular tonometry for the assessment of intraocular pressure. The probe was held on the skin over the maximal arterial pulsation by hand and

pressed down on the artery against the underlying bone (Figure 11). Recordings were taken when a reproducible signal was obtained with high amplitude excursion (usually 10 consecutive beats to cover a complete respiratory cycle are needed for subsequent analysis).

A quality control mechanism for both PVW and Alx is built into the SphygmoCor system and this was used to ensure that all data recorded was of an adequate quality for analysis. All PVW data had a SD of less than 10% of the velocity with the system highlighting clearly if the reading had not been of sufficient quality. The Alx was calculated by a computer algorithm derived from invasive pressure and flow data, and recorded as a percentage. Three successful readings where recorded for the Alx with the median value recorded in the CRF

Both Alx and PWV were recorded. It has been found in previous studies that these two measures of arterial stiffness correlate significantly with each other.



Figure 11: Diagram of applanation tonometry process being taken.

Research has shown that PWV is a more reliable measure of arterial stiffness in the older population than Alx. The recording of PWV is a valid and reproducible and relatively simple procedure which can be learned fairly easily. Outcome data has shown PWV to be an independent predictor of cardiovascular risk in both hypertensive patients and patients with end-stage renal disease ^(125;126).

Measures of Vascular Prognosis

B-type Natriuretic Peptide (BNP)

A 10ml sample of venous blood was taken in a purple vacutainer containing potassium EDTA during both the baseline visit and the 6 month follow–up visit. On each occasion the sample was placed on ice and then centrifuged at 3000rpm at 4°C for 10 minutes. The plasma was removed from the sample and then placed in a 5ml sample bottle which was stored in a -70°C freezer until all 80 participants had completed the study at which point all samples were assayed. All 80 baselines and follow-up visit samples were assayed using the Bachem radio immune assay kit (Bachem, Peninsula Laboratories, Inc, US).

Atrial Natriuretic peptide (ANP) and Brain-type Natriuretic Peptide (BNP) belong to a family of peptide hormones and are both secreted in the cardiac ventricles in response to volume expansion and pressure overload.

The main actions of ANP and BNP include natriuresis, diuresis, and inhibition of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system and thereby play an important role in regulating blood pressure and blood volume ⁽¹²⁷⁾.

ANP is secreted as a direct response to atrial stretch while BNP is produced in the left ventricle as a direct response to elevated left ventricular pressure ⁽¹²⁸⁾. Elevated BNP levels have been used to identify the presence of heart failure as well as a range of cardiovascular diseases such as atrial fibrillation and valvular disease in an elderly population ⁽¹²⁹⁾, and are found to be elevated with the presence of essential hypertension ⁽¹³⁰⁾.

A study of elderly functionally impaired adults with multiple comorbidity found elevated BNP to be an independent predictor of all cause and cardiovascular mortality, more significant than blood pressure, diabetes or age, and predictive of death in those in older functionally impaired patients with multiple comorbid disease with or without previous cardiovascular history ⁽¹³¹⁾.

C-reactive protein (CRP)

A 3ml sample of venous blood from each participant was collected in a gold vacutainer at baseline and six month follow up. The sample was then kept for a minimum of ten minutes before being centrifuged at 3000rpm for ten minutes at 4°C. Serum was extracted from the centrifuged sample, placed in a 1ml sample tube and transferred to a -80°C freezer and stored until the last participant had completed the study.

C-reactive protein (CRP) is a 224-residue protein which is found circulating in the blood where its levels are found to increase in response to inflammation, trauma and

infection only to decrease just as quickly with the resolution of the condition ⁽¹²⁸⁾. The measurement of CRP is widely used to monitor various inflammatory states such as Rheumatoid Arthritis ⁽¹²⁹⁾ and used as part of a wider assessment along with clinical and laboratory information to manage acute bacterial infections ⁽¹³²⁾. More recently research has shown that inflammatory processes have an active role to play in atherogenesis ⁽¹³³⁾.

CRP has been found to be a baseline predictor of future cardiovascular events in apparently healthy men ⁽¹³⁴⁾ while individuals with elevated levels of CRP have a risk 2 to 3 times higher than the risk of those with low levels. The American Heart Association ⁽¹³⁵⁾ classified levels obtained using "high sensitivity" CRP assays as follows: less than 1 mg/L is desirable and reflects a low overall cardiovascular risk.; levels between 1 and 3 mg/L are indicative of moderate risk, while levels of CRP in excess of 3 mg/L suggest elevated vascular risk.

CRP, which can be measured inexpensively with high sensitivity assays, has been shown to identify increased risk of future cardiovascular events in stroke $^{(136)}$ and PVD $^{(137)}$ as well as being associated with incident events in the elderly, especially in those with subclinical disease at baseline $^{(138)}$.

In a study looking at the use of statins in the prevention of coronary events, CRP was an independent predictor of cardiovascular disease with statins being effective in reducing levels of CRP even in participants with relatively low lipid levels. ⁽¹³⁹⁾ Ridker et al showed that CRP was in fact a better predictor of cardiovascular risk that low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol ⁽¹⁴⁰⁾.

All samples were analysed in Professor Allan Struthers' laboratory in Ninewells Hospital by Ms. Lesley McFarlane using a microplate-based EIA (ELISA) double antibody sandwich assay for C-reactive protein from Kalon Biological Ltd.

Serum Cholesterol

Total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol and LDL cholesterol were collected at baseline and 6 months. Patients were fasted for a minimum of 5 hours prior to collection of a 3ml sample collected in gold vacutainer. Following collection blood samples were delivered to the Biochemistry Department at Ninewells Hospital, Dundee for analysis reports returning within 48 hours to RF.

Serum MK7 Level

Fasting vitamin K1 reference values in healthy adults range from 0.15 to 1.0 μ g/L (median 0.5 μ g/L) ⁽¹⁴¹⁾. A 3ml sample of venous blood from each participant was obtained as for CRP collection and stored in the -80°C freezer until the last participant had completed the study.

All samples were analysed within the department laboratory by Dr Sandy Hill using high-performance liquid chromatography, using cetyl naphthoate ⁽¹⁴⁰⁾, synthesised in house, as internal standard and based on a previously validated method for assay in human serum ⁽¹⁴¹⁾.

Measures of Physical Function

Physical function along with exercise capacity decline with age and are a major source of disability in older people ⁽¹⁴²⁾. Testing physical function has been shown to be an accurate indicator of current health status, be predictive of future health and disability, and may be used to predict the likelihood of health and social care use in the future ⁽⁽¹⁴³⁾. Function may be assessed by either self-reported questionnaires or by tests of physical performance.

Short Physical Performance Battery (SPPB)

Participants were asked to participate in a short physical function test, which was repeated at 6 months. The three-part test was explained fully and commenced only after the participant had had the opportunity to rest for 5 minutes. Each part of the test was demonstrated by the researcher and scores were obtained by the participant for each of the three parts: balance testing; gait speed testing and chair speed testing and entered into the CRF under the relevant section (see appendix 8 for SPPB scoring sheet and protocol.) The test focuses on lower limb function using tasks that mimic daily activities and includes a timed 4 metre walk to measure gait speed; one chair stand followed by 5 timed chair stands, if the first is successfully completed; and finally balance stands with the feet held in 3 different positions for 10 seconds each. These areas represent essential tasks important for independent living and are thus an important outcome measure for patients with cardiovascular disease. Any part of the test either not attempted or not completed by the participant automatically

scored a zero and was entered into the CRF while standardised encouragement was offered at various points during the test.

Standardised physical performance tests have been increasingly used in ageing research and have been found to be positively associated with health status as well as being predictive of outcomes such as hip fracture, nursing home admission and death ⁽¹⁴⁴⁾. Evidence also exists that these tests are suitable for use in non-disabled adults ⁽¹⁴⁵⁾ as well as being able to identify those who are at increased risk for the onset of functional dependence ^(146;147).

The SPPB is an objective assessment tool for evaluating lower extremity functioning in older persons and has been designed to measure physical performance and decline over time. It was developed by the National Institute on Aging and is freely available for use without permission or the payment of royalty fees. Performance tests have increasingly been associated with measures of health status and the SPPB has indeed been found to be predictive of long term disability and of future institutionalisation (¹⁴⁸⁾. A 4 year prospective cohort study of older, non-disabled older adults found that those with the poorest lower extremity performance at baseline spent significantly more days in hospital (17.7 v 9.7 days) when compared to those who had recorded a high performance even after adjustment for baseline chronic conditions (¹⁴⁹⁾. In a recent study comparing the predictive value for mortality of several different performance measures, the SPPB score emerged as the strongest predictor of mortality in elderly community dwelling participants with the chair stand subtask showing highest predictive value (¹⁵⁰⁾. The test is easily administered, takes around 10 minutes to complete and can be easily reproduced.

Hand Grip Dynamometry

Handgrip dynamometry is a simple test used to directly measure muscle strength. All participants' handgrip strength was assessed at both baseline and the 6 month followup visit using the T.K.K 5001 Grip – A hand held dynamometer (Takei Scientific Instruments Company Ltd, Japan). Each participant was asked to identify their dominant hand before taking the dynamometer with the non-dominant one. The grip width was adjusted so that the second joint of the pointing finger made a right angle when using the instrument. In a standing immobilised position, in order to minimise the contribution to the measured force from muscle groups in other areas of the body, with the arm hanging by their side, the participant was asked to squeeze as tightly as possible and then return the dynamometer back to the researcher who recorded the reading given in kilograms. This procedure was repeated a total of three times with the highest of the three readings recorded in the CRF for use in analysis.

Hand grip strength has been found to correlate with strength of other muscle groups and is thus a good indicator of overall strength ⁽¹⁵¹⁾. A study among healthy 45 to 68 year old men, found it to be highly predictive of functional limitations and disability 25 years later and concluded that good muscle strength in midlife may protect people from old age disability ⁽¹⁵²⁾

Rantanen *et al* examined the association between muscle strength and total and cause-specific mortality in older disabled women concluding that hand grip strength was indeed a powerful predictor of cause-specific and total mortality $^{(153)}$ while

Cheung *et al* demonstrated that handgrip strength was associated with multi morbidity, and that handgrip strength may be a more useful marker of this than chronological age in men. Furthermore, they also demonstrated that handgrip strength was associated with different chronic diseases ⁽¹⁵⁴⁾, while in a recent population-based cohort study based in Sweden of one million men, reduced handgrip strength was associated with increased risk of incident coronary heart disease and all strokes ⁽¹⁵⁵⁾,

Follow-up visits

Participants returned at 3 months for assessment of outcomes (FMD; PWV and Carotid IMT); lying and standing BP were also recorded. (Fig 12). Medication adherence was assessed and recorded as was any change to life circumstance or medical history. The 6 month follow-up visit repeated the assessments of handgrip strength; SPPB; serum cholesterol; BNP and CRP in addition to those carried out during the 3 month visit.

Figure 12: Schedule of study visits

Screening – baseline visit (0 month)

ECG, consent, demographics, past medical history, concomitant medication,

lying & standing BPs & falls history,

Baseline outcomes measured: FMD, PWV, Carotid IMT, hand grip strength,

SPPB, blood samples for CRP & BNP



2.9 Data Handling

Data Entry and Management

The researcher recorded data for each participant on the CRF during each study visit. Other data such as log sheets for study medication, adverse events, serious adverse events and specimen storage were also recorded and kept securely within the department of Ageing and Health, University of Dundee.

All data were entered into an Excel spread sheet by the researcher at regular intervals during the study in preparation for data analysis. Missing data for each time point was excluded from the initial analysis of outcome measures.

Data Analysis

All data were analysed using SPSS statistical package (Version 21.0). Analyses of the primary and secondary outcomes were performed prior to breaking the treatment codes. A 2-sided p value of < 0.05 was taken to be significant for all analyses.

Differences between treatment groups for outcome measures were assessed. Baseline data were compared between groups using an independent samples t-test for all normally distributed data, and Mann Whitney test for non-normally distributed data. Categorical variables were compared at baseline using Pearson's Chi-squared test.

All analyses of treatment effect were conducted according to the principles of intention to treat analysis. For each outcome, change scores (follow-up minus baseline) were calculated for each follow-up time point, Change scores were tested for normal distribution, and compared between groups for each follow-up time point using analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) models. Unadjusted analyses were

calculated, and adjusted analyses were performed, adjusting for a) age, b) baseline value of the outcome variable under test, and c) (for vascular outcomes only) systolic blood pressure.

3. RESULTS

3.1 Recruitment

Participants were recruited from 2 GP practices using the East of Scotland node of the SPCRN. Recruitment took place between January 1st 2012 and September 30th 2012.

Two GP practices approached by the SPCRN agreed to participate with a search of their databases identifying 991 potential participants. All those identified as potentially suitable were contacted by letter and of the 991 letters sent 143 (14%) responded indicating their interest in the study. Practice A obtained 74/541 (14%) positive replies while invitations sent to patients from Practice B resulted in 69/450 (15%) positive replies. Recruitment was divided equally between the two practices.

A total of 97 people were contacted by telephone and screened further to assess eligibility; the remaining respondents were not contacted as the recruitment target had been reached, and these respondents were thanked for their interest. Of the 97 people, 8 felt unable to participate due to ill health or family commitments while 4 people were deemed ineligible following the telephone discussion and a more detailed check of their medical notes. One individual was found to already be enrolled in an on-going hypertension study. In total 84 potential participants were invited to attend the detailed screening / baseline visit at Ninewells Hospital. One person was unsuitable to participate due to the presence of atrial fibrillation on their ECG recording, while 3 people agreed to take part but failed to attend the screening visit (see Figure 13 for CONSORT diagram and participant flow through the study). Thus 80 people were recruited and randomised.

Figure 13: CONSORT diagram showing participant flow through trial



3.2 Baseline Characteristics

Of the 80 participants who were randomised to the trial, 55% (44/80) of these were male with the participants' mean age being 77 (SD 5) years (Table 4). More than a quarter were aged 80 years or over. Over a third lived alone and only 10% (8/80) required any formal help at home. Eighteen percent (14/80) required the use of a walking aid to mobilise, while 13% (10/80) of participants smoked despite their medical history.

Ninety percent (72/80) of all participants had been given a diagnosis of hypertension with 93% (74/80) currently on active antihypertensive treatment. Despite this, blood pressure control was suboptimal, with the mean supine blood pressure 153/82 mmHg at the baseline visit. Table 6 shows baseline characteristics of all 80 randomised participants.

Participants were generally well matched between the two groups with a few notable exceptions. Of the participants in the vitamin K supplemented group, 18/40 (45%) lived alone, significantly more than in the placebo group 10/40 (25%). The vitamin K group were on significantly more medication than the placebo group, and PWV was significantly higher in the placebo group than the vitamin K group.

Dropout during the six month follow-up period was very low; 77/80 (96%) of participants completed the final follow-up visit.

	Vitamin K	Placebo	р
	(n=40)	(n=40)	
Mean Age (years) (SD)	76.0 (4.4)	77.1 (4.8)	0.31
Male sex (%)	21 (53)	23 (58)	0.37
Mean Systolic Blood Pressure (mmHg)	144 (17)	148 (20)	0.33
Mean Diastolic Blood Pressure (mmHg)	81 (11)	83 (10)	0.39
Past Medical history			
Hypertension (%)	36 (90)	36 (90)	1.00
Previous stroke / TIA (%)	8 (20)	9 (23)	0.79
Previous Myocardial Infarction (%)	7 (18)	8 (20)	0.78
Angina (%)	11 (28)	7 (18)	0.30
CABG/PTCA (%)	7 (18)	5 (13)	0.76
Diabetes Mellitus (%)	9 (23)	9 (23)	1.00
Peripheral Vascular Disease (%)	5 (13)	3 (8)	0.46
Osteoarthritis (%)	16 (40)	9 (23)	0.15
Social history			
Walking aid (%)	10 (25)	4 (10)	0.24
Lived alone (%)	18 (45)	10 (25)	0.006
Home help (%)	4 (10)	4 (10)	1.0
Current smoker (%)	3 (8)	7 (18)	0.26

Table 6: Baseline characteristics of randomised participants

Medications			
On Antiplatelet medications (%)	25 (63)	18 (45)	0.12
On ACEi / ARB (%)	30 (75)	25 (63)	0.23
On Beta blocker (%)	8 (20)	10 (25)	0.59
On Calcium Channel Blockers (%)	20 (50)	14 (35)	0.18
On other antianginals (%)	7 (18)	3 (8)	0.81
On statins (%)	26 (65)	27 (68)	0.31
Median total no. of medications (IQR)*	8 (5)	5 (4)	<0.001
Baseline Outcome measures			
Mean Flow Mediated Dilatation (%)(SD)	6.3 (2.7)	7.3 (2.4)	0.24
Mean Pulse Wave Velocity (m/s) (SD)	9.7 (2.1)	10.7 (2.3)	0.05
Mean Carotid IMT (cm) (SD)	0.077(0.015)	0.080(0.021)	0.50
Median Grip Strength kgs (IQR)*	25.8 (13.0)	27.3 (13.3)	0.20
Median SPPB score (IQR)*	8.8 (2.4)	9.3 (2.4)	0.25
Blood Results			
Mean serum Sodium (mmol/L) (SD)	140 (3)	140 (2)	0.97
Mean serum Creatinine(umol/L) (SD)	79 (22)	83 (18)	0.16
Median Urea (mmol/L) (IQR) *	6.4 (3.1)	6.9 (2.7)	0.59
Median BNP level (pg/ml) (IQR)*	33 (29)	33 (22)	0.42
Median CRP level (mg/L) (IQR)*	1.8 (2.1)	1.8 (2.1)	0.34
Mean Total Cholesterol (mmol/L) (SD)	4.7 (1.1)	4.7 (1.1)	0.99
Median Vitamin K2 levels (pg/ml) (IQR)	476 (301)	502 (242)	0.43

CABG- coronary artery bypass graft;

- PTCA percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty;
- ACEi angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor;
- ARB angiotensin receptor blocker;
- IMT intima-media thickness;
- SPPB short physical performance battery;
- BNP B-type natriuretic peptide;
- CRP C-reactive protein
- * Data analysed using Mann-Whitney tests for non-parametric tests

3.3 Outcome Measures

Primary outcome

The primary outcome measure of change in mean FMD is given in Table 7. No significant treatment effect was seen for between-group change at either 3 months or 6 months; adjustment for baseline FMD, systolic blood pressure and age did not affect the outcome.

Time	Vitamin K	Placebo	Р
Baseline visit (%) (SD)	6.3 (2.7)	7.3 (2.4)	0.24
3 month visit (%) (SD)	7.1 (2.5)	7.0 (3.0)	0.90
6 month visit (%) (SD)	7.6 (2.7)	8.6 (2.4)	0.79
Treatment Effect (0 v 3 months) (%) (95% CI)	0.9 (-0.7	to 2.5)	0.26
Adjusted Treatment Effect *	0.4 (-0.9	to 1.8)	0.51
(0 v 3 months) (%) (95% CI)			
Treatment Effect (0 v 6 months) (%)	0.1 (-1.0	to 1.2)	0.87
Adjusted Treatment Effect *	-0.3 (-1.3	to 0.8)	0.62
(0 v 6 months) (%) (95% CI)			

 Table 7. Effect of Intervention on Flow Mediated Dilatation of the Brachial

 Artery

*adjusted for baseline flow-mediated dilatation, age and systolic blood pressure Participants at each visit: baseline n= 78; 3 month visit n= 73; 6 month visit n= 74

Secondary outcomes

Vascular Markers

No significant treatment effect was noted for carotid IMT (Table 8) and this also did not change after adjustment for baseline values. Pulse wave velocity (Table 9) and augmentation index (Table 10) also did not show any significant change with treatment, pulse wave velocity, although by six months, pulse wave velocity had fallen by 0.8 m/s in the vitamin K group relative to placebo after adjustment for baseline values. This was despite a significant baseline difference between the groups, with the vitamin K group starting with a lower baseline value (9.7 vs. 10.7 m/s)

 Table 8. Effect of intervention on Carotid Intima-Media Thickness

Time	Vitamin K	Placebo	Р
Baseline visit (cm) (SD)	0.07 (0.015)	0.08 (0.021)	0.50
3 month visit (cm) (SD)	0.078 (0.013)	0.078 (0.010)	0.80
6 month visit (cm) (SD)	0.076 (0.020)	0.080 (0.010)	0.36
Treatment Effect (0 v 3 months) (cm) (95% CI)	0.004 (-0.00)3 to 0.011)	0.23
Adjusted Treatment Effect* (0 v 3 months) (cm)	0.003 (-0.00	02 to 0.007)	0.21
(95% CI)			
Treatment Effect (0 v 6 months) (cm) (95% CI)	0.001 (-0.00)8 to 0.009)	0.89
Adjusted Treatment Effect* (0 v 6 months) (cm)	0.003 (-0.00	02 to 0.007)	0.78
(95% CI)			

*adjusted for baseline carotid intima-media thickness and baseline age

Participants at each visit: baseline n = 79; 3 month visit n = 77; 6 month visit n = 76

Time	Vitamin K	Placebo	Р
Baseline visit (m/s) (SD)	9.7 (2.1)	10.7 (2.3)	0.05
Visit 2 (m/s) (SD)	10.0 (3.1)	10.2 (1.7)	0.71
Visit 3 (m/s) (SD)	9.9 (1.4)	10.9 (3.0)	0.08
Treatment Effect (0 v 3 months) (m/s) (95% CI)	0.6 (-0.9	to 2.0)	0.44
Adjusted Treatment Effect* (0 v 3 months) (m/s) (95% CI)	-0.1 (-1.4	to 1.3)	0.91
Treatment Effect (0 v 6 months) (m/s) (95% CI)	-0.3 (-1.5	to 0.8)	0.58
Adjusted Treatment Effect* (0 to 6 months) (m/s) (95% CI)	-0.8 (-1.8	to 0.3)	0.15

Table 9. Effect of Intervention on Pulse Wave Velocity

*adjusted for baseline pulse wave velocity, systolic blood pressure and age

Participants at each visit: baseline n=76; 3 month visit n=73; 6 month visit n=76

Time	Vitamin K	Placebo	Р
Baseline visit (%) (SD)	28 (10)	28 (7)	0.92
3 month (%) (SD)	26 (9)	28 (6)	0.47
6 month (%) (SD)	25 (8)	27 (6)	0.54
Treatment Effect (0 v 3 months) (%) (95% CI)	-1 (-5 t	03)	0.55
Adjusted Treatment Effect* (0 v 3 months) (%)	-1 (-5 t	o 2)	0.46
(95% CI)			
Treatment Effect (0 v 6 months) (%) (95% CI)	-1 (-5 t	o 3)	0.54
Adjusted Treatment Effect* (0 v 6 months) (%)	-2 (-5 t	o 2)	0.32
(95% CI)			

Table 10	. Effect of	Intervention	on Augment	tation Index
----------	-------------	--------------	------------	--------------

*adjusted for baseline augmentation index, age and systolic blood pressure

Participants at each visit: baseline n= 80; 3 month visit n= 76; 6 month visit n=75

There was no significant change in either systolic or diastolic blood pressure in either group (Table 11). Mean systolic blood pressure (SBP) fell over the six month follow up period in both groups, but fell by a greater amount in the placebo group.

	Vitamin K	Placebo	Р
Systolic blood pressure			
Baseline visit (mmHg) (SD)	144 (17)	148 (20)	0.33
3 month visit (mmHg) (SD)	141 (16)	144 (17)	0.36
6 month visit (mmHg) (SD)	140 (17)	140 (18)	0.86
Treatment Effect (0 v 3 months) (mmHg) (95% CI)	0 (-8 to	9)	0.91
Adjusted Treatment Effect* (0 v 3 months) (mmHg)	-1 (-8 t	0 6)	0.72
(95% CI)			
Treatment Effect (0 v 6 months) (mmHg) (95% CI)	3 (-5 to	11)	0.53
Adjusted Treatment Effect* (0 v 6 months) (mmHg)	1 (-6 to	0 8)	0.75
(95% CI)			
Diastolic blood pressure	·		
Baseline visit (mmHg) (SD)	81 (11)	83 (10)	0.39
3 month visit (mmHg) (SD)	82 (9)	82 (9)	0.98
6 month visit (mmHg) (SD)	80 (9)	80 (9)	0.98
Treatment Effect (0 v 3 months) (mmHg) (95% CI)	2 (-2 to	5 6)	0.38
Adjusted Treatment Effect* (0 v 3 months) (mmHg)	1 (-3 to	o 4)	0.65
(95% CI)			
Treatment Effect (0 v 6 months) (mmHg) (95% CI)	2 (-2 to	0 6)	0.39
Adjusted Treatment Effect* (0 v 6 months) (mmHg)	1 (-3 to	5)	0.65
(95% CI)			

Table 11. Effect of Intervention on Blood Pressure

*adjusted for baseline blood pressure and age

Measures of Physical Function

No change was noted in handgrip strength between baseline and follow-up with a measure of treatment effect giving a non-significant result (Table 12). The maximum possible score on the SPPB is 12. Although these data were skewed at each timepoint, change scores between timepoints were normally distributed, and thus mean values for change are presented in Table 13.

Table 12. Effect of intervention on Grip Strength

Time	Vitamin K	Placebo	Р
Baseline visit (Kg) (SD)	26.2 (9.3)	29.1 (9.0)	0.16
		· · ·	
6 month (Kg) (SD)	26.7 (9.8)	29.0 (8.8)	0.29
Treatment Effect (0 v 6 months) (Kg) (95% CI)	0.1 (-1.0	to 1.2)	0.83
Adjusted Treatment Effect* (0 v 6 months) (Kg)	-0.1 (-1.0) to 1.2)	0.87
(95% CI)			

*adjusted for baseline grip strength and age

Participants at each visit: baseline n= 80; 6 month visit n= 77

Time	Vitamin K	Placebo	Р
Median score baseline visit (IQR)	9 (4)	10 (3)	0.25
Median score 6 month visit (IQR)	9 (3)	10 (4)	0.21
Mean treatment Effect (0 v 6 months) (95% CI)	-0.3 (-1.0) to 0.3)	0.29
Adjusted mean treatment Effect* (0 v 6 months)	-0.5 (-1.1	to 0.2)	0.14
(95% CI)			

Table 13. Effect of Intervention on Short Physical Performance Battery Scores

Participants at each visit: baseline n=80; 6 month visit n=77

Blood Tests

B-type Natriuretic Peptide (BNP) and C-reactive protein (CRP) levels

Similarly, data at baseline and 6 month follow-up were not normally distributed for BNP and CRP thus between group comparisons were performed using Mann Whitney tests. Change scores were however normally distributed, thus mean values are given and ANOVA was used to compare change scores between groups. Results are given in Tables 14 and 15; no significant between-group differences were seen even after adjustment for baseline values.

Time	Vitamin K	Placebo	Р
Median baseline visit (pg/ml) (IQR)	33 (29)	33 (22)	0.83
Median 6 month visit (pg/ml) (IQR)	40 (24)	37 (29)	0.30
Mean treatment effect (0 v 6 months) (pg/ml)	8 (-8 to 2	23)	0.33
(95%) CI			
Adjusted mean treatment effect* (0 v 6 months)	8 (-8 to 2	24)	0.31
(pg/ml) (95% CI)			

 Table 14. Effect of intervention on B-type Natriuretic Peptide levels

*adjusted for baseline B-type natriuretic peptide level, age and systolic blood pressure

Table 15. Effect of intervention of	n C-reactive protein levels
-------------------------------------	-----------------------------

Time	Vitamin K	Placebo	P
Median Baseline visit (mg/L) (IQR)	1.8 (3.3)	1.4 (2.1)	0.76
Median 6 month visit (mg/L) (IQR)	1.8 (3.5	1.8 (2.6)	0.82
Mean treatment effect (0 v 6 months) (mg/L)	1.8 (-4.7 to 8.3)		0.58
(95% CI)			
Adjusted mean treatment Effect* (0 v 6 months)	-0.1 (-3.8 to 3.5)		0.94
(mg/L) (95% CI)			

*adjusted for baseline C-reactive protein and age

Serum cholesterol

Baseline total cholesterol level was identical between the two groups at 4.7mmol/L (SD 1.1). High cholesterol was a documented past medical history in a high percentage of participants with 26/40 (65%) of the vitamin K group and 27/40 (68%) of the placebo group prescribed statin therapy at baseline. Table 16 shows no significant difference in either total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol or LDL cholesterol between either group at either baseline or six months.

Serum vitamin K

Vitamin K₂ levels rose in the intervention arm compared to placebo (+48 pg/ml vs -6 pg/ml, p=0.03) at six months compared to baseline, confirming that the study intervention successfully raised circulating vitamin K2 levels.

Time	Vitamin K	Placebo	Р
Total cholesterol			
Baseline visit (mmol/L) (SD)	4.7 (1.1)	4.7 (1.1)	0.99
6 month visit (mmol/L) (SD)	4.6 (1.1)	4.5 (1.1)	0.73
Treatment Effect (0 v 6 months) (mmol/L) (95% CI) 0.0 (-0.3 to 0.3)			0.96
Adjusted Treatment Effect* (0 v 6 months)0.0 (-0.2 to 0.3)		o 0.3)	0.79
(mmol/L) (95% CI)			
HDL cholesterol			
Baseline visit (mmol/L) (SD)	1.5	1.5	0.72
	(0.5)	(0.6)	
6 month visit (mmol/L) (SD)	1.4	1.4	0.47
	(0.5)	(0.4)	
Treatment Effect (0 v 6 months) (mmol/L) (95% CI)	0.0 (-0.	1 to 0.1)	0.90
Adjusted Treatment Effect* (0 v 6 months) (mmol/L)0.0 (-0.1 to 0.1)		1 to 0.1)	0.77
(95% CI)			
LDL cholesterol			<u> </u>
Baseline visit (mmol/L) (SD)	3.3	3.3	0.89
	(1.0)	(1.1)	
6 month visit (mmol/L) (SD)	3.3	3.4	0.81
	(0.9)	(1.0)	
Treatment Effect (0 v 6 months) (mmol/L) (95% CI)	-0.1 (-0.	4 to 0.3)	0.67
Adjusted Treatment Effect* (0 v 6 months) (mmol/L)	-0.1 (-0.	.3 to 0.2)	0.73
(95% CI)			

Table 16: Effect of intervention on Serum Cholesterol

HDL: High-density lipoprotein. LDL: Low-density lipoprotein

*adjusted for baseline cholesterol and age

3.4 Major Recorded Adverse Events

Serious Adverse Events

A total of 6 serious adverse events (SAE) i.e. those resulting in hospitalisation or death were recorded, with 4 in the vitamin K group and 2 in the placebo group (see Table 17). One participant died following a myocardial infarction which occurred during participation in an exercise event prior to the final study visit while the five other hospital admissions were also unrelated to study participation.

System	Vitamin K		Placebo	
	Hospital	Death	Hospital	Death
	admissions		admissions	
Cardiovascular	1	1	0	0
	(pulmonary	(following		
	oedema)	myocardial		
		infarction)		
Musculoskeletal	2	0	0	0
	(falls; one			
	fracture)			
Gastrointestinal	0	0	2	0
			(1 dehydration, 1	
			planned surgical	
			admission)	
Hospitalisation	3		2	
Death	1		0	

Table 17 Record of Serious Adverse Events

Adverse Events

Table 18 shows the total number of adverse events over the six month study period. More adverse events (42 vs. 35) were recorded by the vitamin K group than placebo, with gastrointestinal disturbance and falls mainly accounting for the excess of events.

There were 17 falls recorded in the vitamin K group, two of which required hospitalisation, and one of which had sustained a fractured wrist. Logistic regression analysis was carried with variables in the equation: group; walking aid; living alone; baseline grip strength; osteoarthritis; and medication burden at baseline. Risk of having sustaining a fall depending on group was 0.421 (95% CI 0.108 to 1.638) p=0.21 indicating that group selection did not contribute to a higher risk of falls.

Table 18. Adverse Events

System	Vitamin K	Placebo	
Cardiovascular	6	5	
	(cellulitis, varicose ulcers, leg	(TIA not admitted to hospital,	
	cramps & poor circulation)	lower limb circulatory problems)	
Pain	4	3	
	(knee, back & shoulder)	(leg, abdominal pain)	
Gastro-Intestinal	10	5	
disturbances	(nausea/vomiting, swallowing	(weight loss, Oral thrush,	
	difficulties, dry throat, abnormal	gastric ulcer, dry mouth)	
	liver function results)		
Postural symptoms	2	2	
	(Labyrinthitis & dizzy spells)	(dizzy spells)	
Falls /	17	7	
musculoskeletal	(not requiring medical attention)	(not requiring medical attention)	
Infections	6	5	
TOTAL Events:	42	27	

TIA: transient ischaemic attack. GI: Gastrointestinal

3.5 Adherence to medication

Adherence to medication was assessed by tablet counting at each study visit with >80% of medications taken deemed as 'adherent'. Of the 78 participants who returned for the three month visit 33/39 (83%) of the vitamin K group and 31/39 (78%) of the placebo were categorised on this basis as 'adherent'. At the end of the study all study medication containers were returned and tablet counting categorised 35/38 (92%) of the vitamin K group and 37/39 (95%) of the placebo group adherent to medication giving a very good overall adherence of 94%.

Dropout during the six month follow-up period was very low; 77/80 (96%) of participants completed the final follow-up visit.

3.6 Analysis

All results were calculated using only data collected at each time point for each participant with missing values not included. To test if this missing data had had an effect on the results of the vascular outcome measures missing values were imputed using age; sex; baseline SBP, 6 month SBP, baseline FMD and 6 month FMD.

When results of the five sets of imputations were combined the adjusted between group difference in FMD at 6 months was -0.3% (95%CI -1.4 to 0.8), no change from the original results. It is unlikely therefore that had the data been complete it would not have resulted in a change of outcome.

4. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

4.1 Summary of main findings

This randomised controlled trial found that six months of vitamin K supplementation did not improve endothelial function of the brachial artery measured by FMD when compared to placebo administration. In addition, no significant differences were seen in PWV, carotid IMT, BNP, CRP or in physical function as measured by hand grip strength and SPPB between the two groups. Arterial stiffness, as measured by PWV, was non-significantly lower in the vitamin K group at 6 months, after adjustment for baseline values.

Adherence to the study medication was high, and dropout rates were low despite the study group comprising older people with significant multimorbidity.

Missing data was low at <10% however multiple imputation analysis was carried out confirming that missing values did not have an effect on the overall results.

Recruitment and Retention

The study met its aim to recruit 80 older people with a history of vascular disease and achieved excellent retention. Several factors were likely to have contributed to this:

• All participants were recruited via their GP surgeries and it was evident from the initial telephone contact that all were aware of their vascular history and motivated to try an intervention with the potential to reduce their risk of a vascular event. Most of the participants (90%) had a diagnosis of hypertension, and awareness of this diagnosis may have prompted people to volunteer for a study in which a simple vitamin supplement might reduce their vascular risk.

- The group of patients enrolled in this trial were relatively fit compared to those enrolled in some other trials to improve health in older people ^(156;157) as evidenced by their superior SPPB and grip strength measurements. They were prepared to travel to and from hospital for outcome visits, something which may have discouraged frailer, less able people from taking part. Another factor that may have improved retention in the study was that the burden of the study visits was low, with a requirement to attend three visits of between 1 and 2 hour duration over a 6 month period with a request to take only one extra medication capsule per day. Given the daily medication burden of the participants (median 5 medications per day) this did not deter the majority of volunteers from entering the study with only eleven choosing not to attend the screening visit following the initial telephone contact.
- Approximately 25% of the older population in the UK take nutritional supplements ⁽¹⁵⁸⁾. Several participants acknowledged that they were motivated to participate because the study involved a vitamin rather than a medicinal product with potential of side effects; this may have made the process of recruitment easier. This factor, along with the prospect of having vascular assessments which would not be routinely offered on the NHS was also anecdotally expressed as a positive aspect of participation for many of those who consented.

Baseline Measurements

There were no significant differences at baseline between groups in the primary outcome of FMD or in any of the secondary outcome measurements except for the PWV scores. Measurement of maximum reactive hyperaemia resulted in a 1% difference between the groups at baseline, and although this did not reach statistical significance, this difference was potentially important in interpreting the analyses as calculating the change score between baseline and 6 months can be misinterpreted if correlation between these two scores is low.

Ninety per cent of participants had a diagnosis of hypertension and antihypertensive treatment was widely prescribed. This was reflected in the high mean baseline BP of 145/83 which although higher than the 140/90 target set for younger age groups, was below the 150/90 target set for patients aged 80 years and older ^{(159).}

A total of 43/80 (53%) of the participants scored > 10 on the SPPB which has a maximum score of 12, while the median score of 9 (IQR3) would indicate that the participants were located within the minimal limitation range (8 – 10) and are thus among the most independent of this population ⁽¹⁶⁰⁾. The vitamin K group were noted to have a lower baseline score than placebo with 15/40 (38%) within the minimal limitations range compared to 21/40 (53%) in placebo. This was reflected in the fact that more of the vitamin group required a walking aid to mobilise and also had a lower recorded grip strength.
4.2 Significance of findings

Primary Outcome

This study found that vitamin K did not improve vascular function in older people with vascular disease as measured by endothelial function. There was no change in FMD of the brachial artery in either 3 or 6 month follow-up outcome measurements. There are several possible explanations for this finding.

- I. The sample size was too small. The study was powered to detect a 2% absolute change in FMD given a standard deviation of 3% based on previous studies carried out with diabetic and stroke patients ^(81;161). The 95% CI for the 0 v 6 months change score analysis had 0.3% as the upper limit. This makes it highly unlikely that a real effect of 2% improvement in FMD would have been missed.
- II. Improvements were masked by ceiling effects. The baseline measurements recorded in this study were higher than average seen in those with vascular disease in the Framingham study, and were higher than those previously measured in our laboratory in patients with isolated systolic hypertension ⁽¹⁶²⁾ and stroke ⁽⁸¹⁾ using the same protocol and equipment. However, baseline FMD was considerably lower than that seen in healthy volunteers; a cut off of 10.4% has been suggested by some researchers indicating normal artery function thus it is unlikely that ceiling effects can explain the lack of improvement seen. Furthermore, both groups improved by 1 to 1.5% over the 6 month study period.

- III. The dose of vitamin K was insufficient. Participants received 100 µg/L Vitamin K2 (MK7 subtype) daily. The current RDI for vitamin K is 80 µg/L but this is based purely on the role vitamin K has on the clotting mechanism. Studies examining the relationship between vitamin K and CHD have used Food Frequency Questionnaires to identify daily intake however this study supplemented the diet ⁽¹⁶³⁾. Despite the evidence linking vitamin K to vascular health it is not yet clear if it can reverse existing vascular damage or existing calcification and if so in what the optimum dosage to achieve this would be. This study administered the current recommended dose to a population regarded as having an intake well below the recommended daily intake ⁽¹⁶⁴⁾ and which is currently available to buy over the counter. No upper limit for vitamin K has been set and evidence pertaining to vitamin K_1 has indicated that 1mg or more may be required to maximally carboxylate Osteocalcin and Matrix Gla Protein ⁽¹⁶⁵⁾. Thus potentially higher doses might need to be administered in order to achieve an effect as seen in postmenopausal women recruited to the ECKO study who received 5 mg of vitamin K_1 (166) where circulating blood vitamin K levels were ten times higher in the intervention group compared to placebo.
- IV. The 6 month study duration was too short. A 6 month study duration may not have been sufficiently long to detect changes in the vascular markers selected. Calcification of blood vessels is a process which has developed over many years and intervention with vitamin K may require to be delivered over a much longer time period to alter this as shown in previous studies. FMD has shown improvement in a few weeks for several treatments such as vitamin D

⁽⁸¹⁾ and allopurinol ⁽¹⁶⁷⁾. However if effects of vitamin K are not on endothelial function but solely on calcification this would fit with the results found in this study. Invasive methods such as plethysmography ⁽⁸¹⁾ have also been used to assess improvement in endothelial function ^(168;169), however Mullen et al were unable to detect a treatment effect of daily doses of enalapril after 24 weeks and concluded that brachial FMD may have been unable to detect improvement due to the complex nature of vascular disease in diabetes mellitus ⁽¹⁷⁰⁾.

V. The target population was wrong. The inclusion criteria were designed to select participants diagnosed with a wide range of vascular disease. The failure of the study to improve vascular function may have been because the wrong cohort was selected. Vascular calcification develops over many years and it may be that intervention is required at a much earlier stage of the disease process i.e. before arthrosclerosis or vascular calcifications are established. This group of participants clearly had a high level of physical function for their age group and their baseline vascular measurements were reasonably good, another explanation is that they may not have had sufficient disease severity to show a significant difference in the study period.

Secondary Endpoints

Arterial stiffness and reflectivity: PWV and Alx were used to measure arterial stiffness and reflectivity. The vitamin K group showed a small improvement at six month follow-up while the placebo group deteriorated slightly but neither were significant. The small but gradual improvement noted in PWV over the study period

suggests there may be potential for further improvement if the intervention was to be given over a longer period of time. This would be true especially if the improvement was due to a reduction in calcification in the arteries which has taken many years to develop.

Only a small, non-significant reduction in AIx was seen. However this measure is shown to have greater validity in younger populations where changes with interventions have been noted rather than improvements in PWV ⁽⁷⁴⁾.

No change was detected in the thickness of the intima and media of the carotid artery over the duration of the study period. Although previous studies have used changes in carotid IMT as a surrogate endpoint for determining the success of interventions such as those that lower the levels of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol ⁽¹⁷¹⁾ it may have simply been the wrong tool for this study. It may also be that the 6 month time point may have been too short for any potential changes to occur. Previous studies have varied in duration with some taking up to 4.5 years before improvements in IMT were noted ⁽¹⁷²⁾. Atherosclerosis is a process requiring many years to progress and a six month follow-up may well have been insufficient to detect improvement. This is especially likely in this study population with a mean baseline measurement of 0.08cm when values of 0.09 ± 0.26 have been identified in older people without vascular disease. Carotid IMT measurement is frequently chosen as an outcome measure because of its quantitative value and high reproducibility. However, given that the mean normal change over one year is between 0.010mm and 0.012mm, a 6

month study duration may have been insufficient to show any statistically significant change.

- I. Markers of vascular prognosis: As with arterial stiffness and reflectivity none of the markers chosen to assess vascular prognosis changed over the study duration. BNP, blood pressure, total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, or LDL cholesterol remained unchanged. The median BNP was relatively low in the study population therefore it may have been difficult for any intervention to have further reduced the levels.
- II. Markers of inflammation: The results of the CRP blood test followed a similar pattern to the other outcome measures with no significant difference noted. Median baseline measurements of 1.8 (3.3) shown in the vitamin K group indicated that this group of participants were not identifiable as being at particularly high risk and therefore it would have been difficult for the intervention to have reduced this level. It is also possible that although vitamin K has been shown to reduce inflammation *in vitro* ⁽¹⁷³⁾ the mechanisms by which vitamin K influences biomarkers of inflammation are not known and it may be that vitamin K does not affect inflammation directly but by an alternative anti-inflammatory mechanism.
- III. Markers of physical function: A change of 0.54 on the SPPB would have been required to identify a small change in physical function, but this did not occur in either group. Previous studies have shown that alternative measures such as the 400 metre walk test may be a better outcome measure in high functioning patients ⁽¹⁷⁴⁾. As with the vascular and inflammatory markers the markers of physical function were relatively good at baseline. While the

vitamin K group were identified as less physically able than the placebo group (grip strength 26.2kgs vs. 29.1kgs), the overall physical functioning of all the participants was particularly good given their age and medical history. It may be that the potential for this group of relatively fit and active individuals to improve significantly over such a short duration period was low or that again a higher dose of vitamin K was required to have an effect on muscle function. No direct link has yet been made between muscle function and vitamin K and given that no improvement in vascular health was identified in this study, positive effect on muscle was unlikely.

Adherence

Non-adherence to medication can be a major problem with older people often due to sensory deficits, cognitive problems and complex regimes as well as the occasional belief that the medication will not in fact improve health. It has been estimated that adherence for chronic disease averages only 50% ⁽¹⁷⁵⁾ and non-adherence to medication contributes to around 10% of hospital admissions. ⁽¹⁷⁶⁾ Adherence to medication in clinical trials of participants receiving treatment for chronic disease varies between 43 and 78% ⁽¹⁷⁷⁾.

Adherence to medication was assessed by tablet count at the two subsequent study visits. The 94% overall adherence rate found in this study was similar to that of a previous study of vitamins in older community dwelling adults ⁽¹⁷⁸⁾. Serum vitamin K levels were checked at baseline and 6 months with the rise in levels shown in the

intervention group giving some evidence that the medication was not just removed from the bottle, but was actually ingested.

Adverse Events

More falls were identified in the vitamin k group compared to placebo (17 vs. 7). Of note however, the vitamin K group appeared to be at higher risk of falls than the placebo group because of a higher (but non-significant) baseline incidence of osteoarthritis, walking aid usage and isolating personal home circumstance.

Also worth consideration is that although a higher incidence of adverse events occurred in the vitamin K group this may be attributable to the overall reduced functioning ability and increased dependence level of the intervention group compared to the placebo group as evidenced by the baseline physical outcome measures. The median total medications intake of the vitamin k group was also greater (8 vs. 5) suggesting a greater presence of co-morbid disease which may also have accounted for the events recorded. Given these between group differences at baseline logistic regression was carried out which concluded that group selection was not a significant indictor of falls risk.

4.3 Strengths and Weaknesses

Strengths

• The study had a number of notable strengths. It was run as a parallel group, randomised controlled trial where both the participants and investigator

remained blind to treatment. All outcome measurements, entry of data and subsequent data analysis were performed by one single trained investigator which eliminated inter-observer variation. Full analysis was performed prior to breaking the treatment code which eliminated expectation bias. The treatment period was of six months duration, considered to be reasonable time for study medication to have affected the preliminary and outcome measurements which were collected at three time points throughout the duration of the study following the protocol and as per SOPs.

- A wide range of differing vascular markers were selected as outcome measures covering vascular stiffness and calcification. All measures have been widely used in clinical research and used previously in similar trials within the department and were highly acceptable to participants as evidenced by the low drop out rate.
- The study recruited persons over the age of 70 years, a relevant group of participants as vascular disease is more prevalent in later life.
- Recruitment and retention to the study was excellent with recruitment completed within the target timescale and 77/80 (96%) participants competing all three study visits.
- Adherence to study medication was higher than usually found in clinical trials especially those targeting older people providing reassurance that the negative findings cannot be explained by participants not taking the drugs.

Weaknesses

• No stratification was carried out at baseline resulting in baseline differences between the groups. More of the vitamin K group required walking aids

which may have contributed to the excess of falls which occurred in this group. The difference in primary outcome at baseline, although insignificant, made analysis more complicated than if both groups had been ideally matched and potentially biases the PWV and the adverse event data.

- People who volunteered were relatively fit and functionally independent. The findings therefore apply only to this group. A further trial would be necessary to determine whether the results would be different in a frailer group.
- Follow-up was at three and six months. Other intervention studies, e.g. the MARS study have shown that a longer period of intervention is required in order for any vascular calcification to regress. The MARS study found that while lipid lowering drugs reduced progression of carotid IMT it was not until the end of the first year of treatment that any significant reduction was detected ⁽¹⁷⁹⁾. Antihypertensive drugs have also been noted to have success in producing significant decreases in carotid IMT. These studies which included the drugs Amlodipine ⁽¹⁸⁰⁾, and Ramipril ⁽⁽¹⁷²⁾ varied in length between 48 months to 4.5 years duration before a significant reduction or decrease in progression was identified in carotid IMT.
- Dose was set at baseline with the intervention group receiving a fixed dose of vitamin K. Comparison with further groups receiving a higher dose of vitamin K could have been made to determine the dose response effect but this would have increased the size, complexity and cost of the trial.
- The choice of outcomes might not have been best suited to detecting change within the recruited population. Many physical function tools exists however and while the SPPB and grip strength are simple effective measures which

have been widely used in older populations, they were not sensitive to the effect of vitamin K.

- The 6 hour fast prior to study visits may have been insufficient to ensure dietary vasoactive substances did not influence results while all participants were asked to take their normal medications including any antihypertensives if prescribed on the morning of each for their assessment visits. Although these pre-visit preparation instructions may have in some way influenced results of vascular assessments, especially the FMD and PWV results, it could be argued that had participants been asked to omit regular medication or fast for a longer period this may also have influenced results thus a consistent approach was taken across the study.
- Although FMD, carotid IMT and PVW are widely used validated techniques, which once learnt, have good inter- and intra-operator reproducibility this was the first study using these techniques for the investigator, resulting in a lack of validation data. Despite training and repeated practice showing good reproducibility prior to participant recruitment this lack of experience may have affected the collection of data.
- PVW can be measured using several different artery sites with carotid-radial and carotid-femoral being the two most commonly used in clinical studies. This study measured carotid-radial PWV as it was felt that this would be less of a physical burden on the older patients being recruited. Despite this site being validated and used in other published clinical trials it does not follow the 2007 European Society of Hypertension guidelines, which set carotidfemoral as the gold standard measurement of arterial stiffness.

• It was not possible to collect data on every participant for all outcome measurements at each of the 3 study time points. This missing data, although totalling less than 10% of the overall total, may have had some affect on the results. It is however unlikely that missing data made a significant difference to the overall results.

4.4 Conclusion

This study showed that supplementation of the diet with the daily recommended dose of vitamin K did not improve vascular health or physical function in older people with established vascular disease; this despite excellent adherence to medication and a low dropout rate from the study.

Osteocalcin, Matrix Gla protein, and Gas6 have all been identified as proteins which are dependent on the presence of vitamin K. It is thus it is entirely possible that increased intake of vitamin K could exert beneficial effects on vascular health, particularly with respect to vascular calcification which is highly prevalent in older people and leads to stiff arteries and high blood pressure.

Previous studies have shown that higher intake of vitamin K is associated with lower serum concentrations of undercarboxylated osteocalcin, which in turn is associated with lower bone mineral density ^(38;39). Animal studies have shown that the reversal of calcification of the arteries is possible, while in humans uncarboxylated MGP has been identified as being present in calcified regions of the vasculature ⁽³⁸⁾. A previous

study of post-menopausal women identified a link between low levels of vitamin K and atherosclerotic calcification in the abdominal aorta ⁽¹⁸¹⁾ providing strong evidence to study the effect on vascular calcification in this high risk group ⁽¹⁸²⁾.

Although no improvement was noted in the primary or the majority of the secondary outcome measures a small improvement in arterial stiffness was identified at 6 months. This small but gradual reduction in PWV at 6 months may suggest that treatment with vitamin K over a longer period of time might indeed provide further benefit. These are the results which would have been expected if indeed vitamin K is acting via inhibition of calcification, rather than directly to improve endothelial function.

This was the first study testing the ability of vitamin K to improve vascular health in older people. However those who volunteered for the study were relatively fit and healthy given their age and the findings therefore apply only to this group and a further trial would be necessary to determine whether the results would be different in a frailer group.

5. FUTURE RESEARCH

The majority of the study population had hypertension and although vitamin K did not improve vascular calcification in this particular patient group investigation of the role of vitamin K in other populations may be worthwhile.

The dose required or time frame necessary to improve vascular function remains uncertain, with the key question of whether the *in vitro*, animal data and observational data translate into clinically important effects in humans. Further research should address the fact that this study only evaluated a single dose of vitamin K and investigate the outcome for higher vitamin K doses given over a longer period of time.

The reporting of adverse events, although higher in the vitamin K group, was very unlikely to be attributable to the supplementation in this study. However any future work in this field, particularly if higher doses are to be administered, should ensure adverse events are monitored closely.

5.1 Vitamin K and Cardiovascular Health

The vascular disease process has been shown to develop in arteries many years before the symptoms emerge. Giving vitamin K to a younger group of people may be a better approach. The close links between both diabetes and CVD and between chronic kidney disease and CVD are well known but both these groups also develop medial calcification. This merits further exploration of the effect of vitamin K in future trials, as this pattern of vascular calcification differs from the atherosclerotic calcification pattern typically seen in older patients.

5.2 Vitamin K and Neuromuscular function and Bone Health

Given about a third of all people aged over 65 fall each year (equivalent to over three million people), ⁽¹⁸³⁾ and the available evidence reports that those with lower circulating vitamin K levels sustain higher hip fracture rates ⁽¹⁸⁴⁾ research should aim to encapsulate both these disease processes. A study of older people with a history of falls would involve participation from frailer, less independent people. This may offer the potential to exhibit change both physically as well as functionally, which was not possible within the group used for this study.

REFERENCE LIST

- 1. Ball GFM. 'Historical events leading to the establishment of vitamins'. *Vitamins Their Role in the Human Body*. 2004: 1-7.
- Wolf G, Carpenter, K.J 'Early Research into the Vitamins: The Work of Wilhelm Stepp' *The Journal of Nutrition1997; 127;. 7; 1255-1259*
- Rosenfeld L. 'Vitamine vitamin. The early years of discovery'. *Clinical Chemistry* 1997; 43; 4; 680-685.
- Griminger P. 'Casimir Funk: A Biographical Sketch (1884–1967)'. Journal of Nutrition 1972; 102; 1107-1113.
- Rosenfeld L. 'Vitamine vitamin. The early years of discovery'. *Clinical Chemistry* 1997; 43; 4; 680-685.
- Carpenter K. 'The Nobel Prize and the Discovery of Vitamins' 2012; <u>http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/medicine/articles/carpenter/</u>
- 7. Turner MR. 'Vitamins, minerals and health'. The National Dairy Council. 1988
- McNinch A. 'Vitamin K deficiency bleeding: Early history and recent trends in the United Kingdom'. *Early Human Development* 2010; 86; S63-S65
- 9. Ball GFM. 'Historical events leading to the establishment of vitamins'. *Vitamins Their Role in the Human Body*. 2004: 1-7.

- 10. Cranenburg E, Schurgers L, Vermeer C. Vitamin K: 'The coagulation vitamin that became omnipotent'. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis* 2007; 98; 120-125.
- 11. Hey E. 'Vitamin K- what, why, and when'. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* -*Fetal and Neonatal Edition* 2003; 88; 2; F80-F83.
- Lamson DW, Plaza S. 'The Anticancer Effects of Vitamin K'. Alternative Medicine Review 2003; 8; 3; 303.
- 13. Barrington R. 'The nutrition blog of Robert Barrington'. http://www.robertbarrington.net/vitamin-k.
- 14. Aesler N, Schettgen T, Mutucumarana VP, Bradenburg V, Jahnen-Dechent W, Schurgers LJ, Krüger T. 'A Fluorescent method to determine vitamin K dependent gamma-glutamyl carboxylase activity'. *Analytical Biochemistry* 2012; 421; 2; 411-416.
- 15. Presnell SR, Stafford DW. 'The Vitamin K-dependent Carboxylase'. *Thrombosis* and Haemostasis 2002; 87; 937- 946.
- 16. Shearer MJ, Newman P. 'Metabolism and cell biology of vitamin K'. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis* 2008; 100; 4; 530-546.

- 17. Bolton-Smith C, Price RJG, Fenton ST, Harrington DJ, Shearer MJ.
 'Compilation of a provisional UK database for the phylloquinone (vitamin k₁) content of foods'. *British Journal of Nutrition* 2000; 83:389-399
- Thane C, Bolton-Smith C, Coward W. 'Comparative dietary intake and sources of phylloquinone (vitamin k₁) among British adults in 1986-7 and 2000-01'. *British Journal of Nutrition* 2006; 96; 1105-1115.
- 19. Insel P, Ross D, McMahon K, Bernstein M. Nutrition, 2011 fourth edition; 11-24
- 20. Dietary Reference Intakes for Energy, Carbohydrate, Fibre, Fat, Fatty Acids, Cholesterol, Protein, and Amino Acids (Macronutrients). Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2005.
- 21. World Health Organisation. 'Keep fit for life Meeting the nutritional needs of older persons'. World Assembly on Ageing Madrid, 8 to 12 April 2002.
- 22. Booth SL, Tucker KL, Chen H, Hannan MT, Gagnon DR, Cupples LA, Wilson PWF, Ordovas J, Schaefer EJ; Dawson-Hughes B, Kiel D. 'Dietary vitamin k intakes are associated with hip fracture but not bone mineral density in elderly men and women'. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2000; 71, 5, 1201-1208.

- 23. Vermeer C, Shearer MJ, Zittermann A, Bolton-Smith C, Szulc P, Hodges S, Walter P, Rambeck W, Stöcklin E, Weber P. 'Beyond deficiency: Potential benefits of increased intakes of vitamin K for bone and vascular health'. *European Journal of Nutrition* 2004; 43; 6; 325-335.
- 24. Vermeer C, Gijsbers B, Craciun A, Dooren M, Knapen M. 'Effects of Vitamin K on bone mass and bone metabolism'. *Journal of Nutrition* 1996; 126; 1187S-1191S.
- 25. Shurgers LJ, Teunissen KJF, Hamulyak K, Knapen MHJ, Vik H, Vermeer C.
 'Vitamin k containing dietary supplements: comparison of synthetic vitamin k1and natto-derived menaquinone 7'. *Blood* 2007; 109; 8; 3279-3283.
- 26. Geleijnse JM, Vermeer C, Grobbee DE, Schurgers LJ, Knapen MHJ, van der Meer IM, Hofman A, Witteman JCM. 'Dietary Intake of Menaquinone Is Associated with a Reduced Risk of Coronary Heart Disease: The Rotterdam Study'. *Journal of Nutrition* 2004; 134; 11; 3100-3105.
- 27. Board on Agriculture. 'Vitamin K. Vitamin tolerance of animals'. 1987: 31-35
- 28. European Commission. 'Discussion Paper on the setting of maximum and minimum amounts for vitamins and minerals in foodstuffs'. 2006.
- 29. Food and Nutrition Board. 'Vitamin K. Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin A, Vitamin K, Arsenic, Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron, Manganese, Molybdenum, Nickel, Silicon, Vanadium, and Zinc' 2001: 162-196

- 30. Usui Y, Tanimura H, Nishimura N, Kobayashi N, Okanoue T, Ozawa K.
 'Vitamin K concentrations in the plasma and liver of surgical patients'. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 1990; 51: 846-852.
- 31. Suttie JW. 'Vitamin-K and Human-Nutrition'. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 1992; 92; 5; 585-590.
- Stoelting RK, Dierdorf SF. Handbook for Anaesthesia and Co-Existing Disease.
 1993.
- Godfrey D, Richardson D. 'Vitamins and minerals for health'. *British food Journal* 2002 104, 11; 913-933.
- Walker J. 'Osteoporosis: pathogenesis, diagnosis and management'. *Nursing Standard* 2012; 22; 17; 48-56.
- 35. World Health Organisation Scientific group on the assessment of osteoporosis at primary health care level- Summary Meeting Report Brussels, Belgium, 5-7 May 2004. 2007.
- Binkley N, Suttie J. 'Vitamin K nutrition and osteoporsis'. *Journal of Nutrition* 1995; 125; 1812-1821.
- Booth S. 'Roles for vitamin K beyond coagulation'. *Annual Review Nutrition* 2009; 29; 89-11.

- 38. Feskanich D, Weber P, Willett W, Rockett H, Booth S, Colditz G. 'Vitamin k intake and hip fractures in women: a prospective study'. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 1999; 69; 74-79.
- 39. Cheung AM, Tile L, Lee Y, Tomlinson G, Hawker G, Scher J, Hu H, Vieth R, Thompson L, Jamal S, Josse R. 'Vitamin K supplementation in postmenopausal women with osteopenia (ECKO Trial): A randomized controlled trial'. *PLoS Medicine* 2008; 5; 10; 1461-1472.
- 40. Kaneki M, Hedges S, Hosoi T, Fujiwara S, Lyons A, Crean S et al. 'Japanese fermented soybean food as the major determinant of the large geographic difference in circulating levels of vitamin K2: possible implications for hip-fracture'. *Journal of Nutrition* 2001; 17; 4; 315-321.
- Levy RJ, Zenker JA, Lian JB. 'Vitamin K-dependent calcium binding proteins in aortic valve calcification'. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 1980; 65; 563-566.
- 42. Luo G, Ducy P, McKee MD, Pinero GJ, Loyer E, Behringer RR et al.'Spontaneous calcification of arteries and cartilage in mice lacking matrix Gla protein'. *Nature* 1997; 386; 78; 81.
- 43. Price PA, Faus SA, Williamson MK. 'Warfarin causes rapid calcification of the elastic lamellae in rats arteries and heart valves'. *American Heart Journal* 1998; 18, 1400-1407.

- 44. Jie KSG, Vermeer C, Witterman JC, Grobbee DE. 'Vitamin K intake and osteocalcin levels in women with and without aortic atherosclerosis: a population-based study'. *Athersclerosis* 1995; 116; 117-123.
- 45. Gast GCM, de Roos NM, Sluijs I, Bots ML, Beulens JWJ, Geleijnse JM et al. 'A high menaquinone intake reduces the incidence of coronary heart disease'. *Nutrition Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases* 2009; 19; 7; 504-510.
- 46. Rees K, Guraewal S, Wong YL, Majanbu DL, Mavrodaris A, Stranges S et al. 'Is vitamin K consumption associated with cardio-metabolic disorders? A systematic review'. *Maturitas* 2010; 67; 2; 121-128.
- 47. Braam L, Hoeks APG, Brouns F, Hamulyak K, Gerichhausen MJW, Vermeer C.
 'The elastic properties of the vessel wall in postmenopausal women: a follow up study'. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis* 2004; 91; 373-380.
- 48. Westenfield R, Krueger T, Schlieper G, Cranenburg ECM, Magdeleyns EJ,
 Heidenreich S et al. 'Effect of vitamin K₂ supplementation on functional vitamin
 K deficiency in hemodialysis patients: a randomized trial'. *American Journal of Kidney Disease* 2009; 59; 2; 186-195.
- 49. Kirkwood TBL, Austad SN. 'Why do we age?' Nature 2000; 408; 233-238.
- 50. Shepherd A. 'Nutrition through the life span. Part 3 adults aged 65 years and over'. *British Journal of Nursing* 2009; 18; 5; 301-307.

- 51. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs / Population Division. 'World Mortility Report' 2009. http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/WPA2009/WPA2009_WorkingPa per.pdf
- Raeside R, Khan H. 'The ageing Scottish population: trends, consequences, responses. *Canadian Studies in Population* 2008; 35; 2; 291-310.
- 53. The Scottish Government. 'National Workforce Planning Framework' 2005: <u>http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Img/57346/0016000.gif</u>.
- 54. The Scottish Government. 'Population and Migration: high Level Summary of Statistics'2011. <u>http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/933/0121929.pdf</u>.
- 55. Office for National Statistics. 'Life expectancy at birth and at age 65 by local areas in the United Kingdom'. 2012. <u>http://www.statistics.gov.uk/hub/population/deaths/life-expectancies/index.html</u>
- 56. Fortin M, Bravo G, Hudon C, Lapointe L, Almirall J, Dubois M et al. 'Relationship between multimorbidity and health-related quality of life of patients in primary care'. *Quality of Life Research* 2006; 15; 1; 83-91.
- 57. The Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology. 'Healthy Life Expectancy' 2006. www.parliament.uk/parliamentary_offices/post/pubs2006.cfm .

- 58. European Commission. 'Europe in figures' Eurostat Year book 2008 Chapter 3 – Health. 2008.
- 59. The Scottish Government. Trend Mortality Rates 2013. <u>http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Statistics/Browse/Health/TrendMortalityRate</u>.
- 60. The British Heart Foundation Statistics database. www.heartstats.org. 2010.
- Nicholls C, Sani M. 'The treatment of cardiovascular disease in older people'. Nursing Older People 2003; 15; 7; 31-32.
- Kamper AM, Stott DJ, Hyland M, Murray HM, Ford I. 'Predictors of functional decline in elderly people with vascular risk factors or disease'. *Age and Ageing* 2005; 34; 450-455.
- 63. Mangin D, Sweeney K, Heath I. 'Preventive health care in elderly people needs rethinking'. *British Medical Journal* 2007; 335; 285-287.
- 64. Ferrari A, Radaelli A, Centola M. 'Invited Review: Aging and the cardiovascular system'. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 2003; 95; 6; 2591-2597.
- 65. Cowell JS, Newby BMDE, Prescott RJ, Bloomfeild P, Reid J, Northridge DB et al. 'A Randomized Trial of Intensive Lipid-Lowering Therapy in Calcific Aortic Stenosis'. *New England Journal Medicine* 2005; 352; 2389-2397.

- 66. Raggi P, Callister TQ, Davidson M, Welty FK, Bachmann GA, Laskey R et al. 'Aggressive versus moderate lipid lowering therapy in hypercholesterolemic postmenopausal women: Beyond Endorsed Lipid Lowering with EBT Scanning (BELLES)'. *Circulation* 2005; 112; 5; 563-571.
- 67. Witham MD, Dove FJ, Sugden JA, Doney AS, Struthers AD. 'The effect of vitamin D replacement on markers of vascular health in stroke patients A randomised controlled trial'. *Nutrition, Metabolism & Cardiovascular Diseases* 2012; 22; 864-870.
- 68. Burton LA, Sumukadas D, Witham MD, Struthers AD, McMurdo MET. 'Effect of Spironolactone on Physical Performance in Older People with Self-reported Physical Disability'. *The American Journal of Medicine* 2013; 126; 7; 557-656.
- 69. World Health Organisation Heath Report 'Reducing risk, promoting healthy life – overview' 2002. 7-14.
- 70. National Institute for Health and clinical Excellence. Hypertension.
 'Management of hypertension of adults in primary care. Clinical guideline 34'
 2006; 1-45.
- 71. Welsh E. 'Hypertension'. Nursing Standard 2003; 18; 13; 45-53.
- 72. Scottish Public Health Observatory. 'High Blood Pressure Prevalence;' 2012.

- Breen J. 'An Introduction to causes, detection and management of hypertension'. *Nursing Standard* 2008; 23; 14; 42-46.
- 74. Davies JI, Struthers AD. 'Pulse wave analysis and pulse wave velocity: a critical review of their strengths and weaknesses'. *Journal of Hypertension* 2003; 21; 3; 463-472.
- 75. Diabetes action plan 2010 'Quality care for diabetics in Scotland'. Scottish Government publications. 2010.
- 76. Resnick HE, Howard BV. 'Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease'. *Annual Review* of Medicine 2002; 53; 245-267.
- 77. Kannel WB, McGee DL. 'Diabetes and cardiovascular risk factors: the Framingham study'. *Circulation* 1979; 59; 8-13.
- 78. UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. 'Tight blood pressure control and risk of mascrovascular and microvascular complications in type 2 diabetes: UKPDS 38'. *British Medical Journal* 1998; 317; 7160; 703-713.
- Goldberg IJ. 'Diabetic Dyslipidemia: Causes and Consequences'. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2001; 86; 3; 965-971.
- 80. Jeerakathill T, Johnson JA, Simpson SH, Majumdar SR. 'Short-Term Risk for Stroke Is Doubled in Persons With Newly Treated Type 2 Diabetes Compared With Persons Without Diabetes'. *Stroke* 2007; 38; 1739-1743.

- 81. Schurgers LJ, Spronk HMH, Soute BAM, Schiffers PM, Demey JGR, Vermeer C. Regression of warfarin-induced medial elastocalcinosis by high intake of vitamin K in rats. *Blood* 2007; 109; 7; 2823-2831.
- Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network. 'Antithrombotic Therapy guideline 1999'.
- Hirsh J, Fuster V, Ansell J, Halperin JL. American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology Foundation Guide to Warfarin Therapy. *Circulation* 2003; 107; 1692-1711.
- 84. Jevon P. 'Recording an accurate ECG'. Practice nursing 2010 21; 8; 404-408.
- 85. Stewart S, Hart CL, Hole DJ, McMurray J.J.V. 'Population prevalence, incidence, and predictors of atrial fibrillation in the Renfrew/Paisley study'. *Heart* 2001; 86; 5; 516-521.
- 86. Cox B. 'Standing up, sitting or lying down: What do these BP readings mean?' *The British Journal of Primary Care* 2009; 6; 3; 1-3
- 87. Poredos P. 'Intim-media thickness: indicator or cardiovascular risk and measure of the extent of atherosclerosis. *Vascular Medicine* 2004; 9; 46-54.
- 88. Poredos P. Intima-media thickness: indicator of cardiovascular risk and measure of the extent of atherosclerosis. Vascular Medicine 2004; 9; 46-54.

- Endemann DH, Schiffrin EL. 'Endothelial Dysfunction'. *Journal American* Society of Nephrology 2004; 15; 8; 1983-1992.
- 90. Panza JA, Quyyumi AA, Brush JE, Epstein SE. 'Abnormal endotheliumdependent vascular relaxation in patients with essential hypertension'. *New England Journal Medicine* 1990; 323; 22-27.
- Faulx MD, Wright AT, Hoit BD. 'Detection of endothelial dysfunction with brachial artery ultrasound scanning'. *American Heart Journal* 2003; 145; 6; 943-948.
- 92. Clarkson PDS, Celermajer AE, Sampson DM, Sorensen KE, Adams M, Yue DK et al. 'Impaired vascular reactivity in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus is related to disease duration and low density lipoprotein cholesterol levels'. *Journal American College of Cardiology* 1996; 28; 573-579.
- 93. Hogikyan RV, Galecki AT, Pitt B, Halter JB, Greene DA, Supiano MA. 'Specific Impairment of Endothelium-Dependent Vasodilation in Subjects with Type 2 Diabetes Independent of Obesity'. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 1998; 83; 6; 1946-1952.
- 94. Taddei S, Virdis A, Sudano I, Ghiadoni L, Salvetti A. 'Endothelial Dysfunction in Hypertension'. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology* 2001; 38: S11-S14.

- 95. Kinlay S, Ganz P. 'Role of Endothelial dysfunction in Coronary Artery Disease and Implications for Therapy'. *The American Journal of Cardiology* 1997; 80 ;(9 supplement 1); 11I-16I.
- 96. Gokce N, Keaney JF, Hunter LM, Watkins MT, Nedeljkovic ZS, Menzoian JO et al. 'Predictive Value of Noninvasively Determined Endothelial Dysfuntion for Long-Term Cardiovascular Events in Patients with Peripheral Vascular disease'. *Journal American College of Cardiology* 2003; 41; 10; 1769-1775.
- 97. Celermajer DS, Sorensen KE, Spiegelhalter DJ, Georgakopoulos D, Robinson J, Deanfield JE. 'Ageing is associated with endothelial dysfunction in healthy men years before the age related decline in women'. *Journal American College of Cardiology* 1994; 24; 2; 471-486.
- Charakida M, Masi S, Luscher TK, Kastelein JJP, Deanfield JE. 'Assessment of atherosclerosis: the role of flow-mediated dilatation'. *European Heart Journal* 2010; 31; 2854-2861.
- 99. Neunteufi T, Heher S, Katzenschlager R, Wolfl G, Koster K, Maurer G et al.
 'Late prognostic value of flow-mediated dilation in the brachial artery of patients with chest pain'. *The American Journal of Cardiology* 2000; 86; 2; 207-210.

100.Corretti MC, Anderson TJ, Benjamin EJ, Celermajer DS, Charbonneau F, Creager MA et al. 'Guidelines for the ultrasound Assessment of Endothelial-Dependent flow-Mediated Vasodilation of the Brachial Artery'. *Journal of American Cardiology* 2002; 39; 2; 257-265

101.Celermajer DS, Sorensen KE, Gooch VM, Spiegelhalter DJ, Miller OI, Sullivan ID et al. 'Non-invasive detection of endothelial dysfunction in children and adults at risk of atherosclerosis'. *Lancet* 1992; 340; 1111-1115

102.Naka KN, Papathanassiou K, Bechlioulis A, Kazakos N, Pappas K, Tigas S et al. 'Determinants of vascular function in patients with type 2 diabetes'. *Cardiovascular Diabetology* 2012; 11; 127.

103.Perticone F, Ceravolo R, Pujia A, Ventura G, Iacopino S, Scozzafavz A et al.' Prognostic Significance of Endothelial Dysfunction in Hypertensive Patients'. *Circulation* 2001; 104; 191-196.

104.Brevetti G, Silvestro A, Schiano V, Chiariello M. Disease : 'Additive Value of Flow-Mediated Dilation to Ankle-Brachial Pressure Index Endothelial Dysfunction and Cardiovascular Risk Prediction in Peripheral Arterial'. *Circulation* 2003; 108; 2093-2098.

105.Meyer B, Mortl D, Strecker K, Hulsmann M, Kulemann V, Neunteufi T et al. 'Flow-mediated Vasodilation Predicts Outcome in Patients with chronic Heart Failure, comparison with B-Type Natiuretic Peptide'. *Journal American College of Cardiology* 2005; 46; 6; 1011-1018

106.Mullen MJ, Kharbanda RK, Cross J, Donald AE, Taylor M, Vallance P et al. 'Heterogenous Nature of Flow-Mediated Dilatation in Human Conduit Arteries In Vivo - Relevance to Endothelial Dysfunction in Hypercholesterolemia'. *Circulation Research* 2001; 88; 145-151.

107.Riley WA, Barnes RW, Applegate WB, Dempsey R, Hartwell T, Davis VG et al. 'Reproducibility of Non-invasive Ultrasonic Measurement of Carotid Atherosclerosis The Asymptomatic Carotid Artery Plaque Study'. *Stroke* 1992; 23; 1062-1068.

108.Hashimoto M, Eto M, Akishita M, Ako KK, Iijima K, Kim S et al. 'Correlation between flow-mediated vasodilation of the brachial artery and intima-mediated thickness in the carotid artery in men'. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 1999; 19; 2795-2800.

109.Baldassarre D, Amato M, Bondioli A, Sirtori CR, Tremoli E. 'Carotid artery intima-media thickness measured by ultrasonography in normal clinical practice correlates well with atherosclerosis risk factors'. *Stroke* 2003; 31; 2426-2430.

110.Bots ML, Hoes AW, Koudstaal PJ, Hofman A, Grobbee DE. 'Common carotid intima-media thickness and risk of stroke and myocardial infarction: the Rotterdam Study'. *Circulation* 1997; 96; 1432-1437.

111.O'Leary DH, Polak JF, Kronmal RA, Manolio TA, Burke GL, Wolfson SK. 'Carotid-artery intima and media thickness as a risk factor for myocardial infarction and stroke in older adults. Cardiovascular Health Study Collaborative Research Group'. *New England Journal Medicine* 1999; 340; 1; 14-22.

112.Bots ML, Hofman A, Grobbee DE. 'Common carotid intima-media thickness and lower extremity arterial atherosclerosis. The Rotterdam Study'. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 1994; 14; 1885-1891.

113.alternityhealthcare.com. 'Ultrasound View of Carotid Artery and IMT'. http://alternityhealthcare.com/ultrasound-view-of-carotid-artery-and-imt-2/. 2013.

114.Christensen KL. 'Reducing pulse pressure in hypertension may normalize small artery structure'. *Hypertension* 1991; 18; 722-727.

115.Franklin SS, Khan SA, Wong ND, Larson MG, Levey D. 'Is pulse pressure useful in predicting risk for coronary heart Disease? The Framingham heart study'. *Circulation* 1999; 100; 4; 354-360.

116.O'Rourke MF, Pauca A, Jiang X. 'Pulse Wave Analysis'. *British Journal* Clinical Pharmacology 2001; 51; 6; 507-522.

117.Tsai P, Yucha CB. 'Non-invasive measurements of central arterial pressure and distensibility by arterial applanation tonometry with a generalized transfer function: Implications for nursing'. *Heart & Lung* 2001; 30; 6; 437-444.

118.O'Rourke MF, Staessen JA, Vlachopoulos C, Duprez D, Plante GE. 'Clinical applications of arterial stiffness; definitions and reference values'. *American Journal Hypertension* 2002; 15; 5; 426-444.

119.Mills ML, Miller JJ, Anand A, Robinson SD, Frazer GA, Anderson D et al. 'Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Increased arterial stiffness in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a mechanism for increased cardiovascular risk'. *Thorax* 2008; 63; 306-311.

120.Rajzer MW, Wojciechowska W, Klocek M, Palka I, Brzozowska-Kiszka M, Kawecka-Jaszcz K. 'Comparison of aortic pulse wave velocity measured by three techniques: Complior, SphygmoCor and Arteriograph'. *Journal of Hypertension* 2008; 26; 10; 2001-2007

121.Laurent S, Boutouyrie P, Asmar R, Gautier I, Laloux B, Guize L et al. 'Aortic Stiffness Is an Independent Predictor of All-Cause and Cardiovascular Mortality in Hypertensive Patients'. *Hypertension* 2001; 37; 1236-1241.

122.Blacher J, Safar ME, Guerin AP, Pannier B, Marchais AJ, London JM. 'Aortic pulse wave velocity index and mortality in end-stage renal disease'. *Kidney International* 2003; 63; 1852-1860.

123.Nishikimi T, Maeda N, Matsuoka H. 'The role of natriuretic peptides in cardioprotection'. *Cardiovascular Research* 2006; 69; 2; 318-328.

124.Maeda K, Tsuatamoto T, Wada A, Hisanage T, Kinoshita M. 'Plasma brain natriuretic peptide as a biochemical marker of high left ventricular end-diastolic pressure in patients with symptomatic left ventricular dysfunction'. *American Heart Journal* 1998; 135; 5; 825-832.

125.Hutcheon SD, Gillespie ND, Struthers AD, McMurdo MET. 'B-type natriuretic peptide in the diagnosis of cardiac disease in elderly day hospital patients'. *Age and Ageing* 2003; 31; 4; 295-301.

126.Buckley MG, Markandu ND, Sagnella GA, MacGregor GA. 'Plasma concentrations and comparisons of brain and atrial natriuretic peptide in normal subjects and in patients with essential hypertension'. *Journal Human Hypertension* 1993; 7; 3; 245-250.

127.Witham MD, Gillespie ND, Hutcheon SD, Struthers AD, McMurdo MET. 'Btype Natriuretic Peptide Is associated with mortality in older functionally Impaired Patients'. *Journal American Geriatric Society* 2005; 53; 11;1991-1995.

128. Ridker, P.M 'C-Reactive Protein A Simple Test to Help Predict Risk of Heart Attack and Stroke': *Circulation* 2003; 108: e81-e85

129. Pincus T, Sokka T. 'Laboratory tests to assess patients with rheumatoid arthritis: advantages and limitations' *Rheumatic Diseases Clinics North America*.
2009 ;35; 4:731-4,

130.Teragawa H, Ueda K, Yoshizumi M, Charayama K. 'Relation between Creactive protein concentrations and coronary microvascular endothelial function'. *Heart* 2004; 90; 750-754.

131.Blake GL, Ridker PM. C-reactive protein and other inflammatory risk markers in acute coronary syndromes. *Journal American College Cardiology* 2003; 41;4; 37S-45S.

132.Koenig W, Sund M, Fröhlichm M, Fischer HJ, Löwel H, Döring A et al. 'C-Reactive Protein, a sensitive marker of inflammation, predicts future risk of coronary heart disease in initially healthy middle aged men'. *Circulation* 1999; 99; 237-242.

133.Ridker PM. 'C-Reactive Protein a simple test to help predict risk of heart attack and stroke'. *Circulation* 2003; 108; e81-e85.

134.Rost NS, Wolf PA, Kase CS, Kelly-Hayes M, Silbershatz H, Massaro JM et al. 'Plasma concentration of C-Reactive Protein and risk of ischemic stroke and transient ischemic attack - The Framingham Study'. *Stroke* 2001; 32; 2575-2579.

135.Ridker PM, Stampfer MJ, Rifai N. 'Novel risk factors for systemic atherosclerosis: A comparison of C-Reactive Protein, Fibrinogen, Homocysteine, Lipoprotein(a), and standard cholesterol screening as predictors of peripheral arterial disease. *Journal American Medical Association* 2001; 285; 19; 2481-2485. 136.Tracy RP, Lemaitre RN, Psaty BN, Ives DG, Evans RW, Cushman M et al. 'Relationship of C-Reactive Protein to risk of cardiovascular disease in the elderly results from the Cardiovascular Health Study and the Rural Health Promotion Project'. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 1997; 17:1121-1127.

137.Ridker PM, Rifai N, Clearfield M, Downs JR, Weis SO, Miles JS et al. 'Measurement of C-Reactive Protein for the targeting of statin therapy in the primary prevention of acute coronary events. *New England Journal Medicine* 2001; 344; 1959-1965.

138.Ridker PM, Rifai N, Rose L, Buring JE, Cook NR. 'Comparison of C-Reactive Protein and Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Levels in the prediction of first cardiovascular events. *New England Journal Medicine* 2002; 347; 1557-1565.

139.Shearer MJ. 'Vitamin K in parenteral nutrition'. *Gastroenterology* 2009; 137;(5S); 105-108.

140.Sumukadas D, Witham MD, Struthers AD, McMurdo MET. 'Effect of perindopril on physical function in elderly people with functional impairment: a randomized controlled trial'. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 2009; 177; 867-874.

141.Guralnik JM, Simonsick EM, Ferrucci L, Glynn RJ, Berkman LF, Blazer DG et al. 'A Short Physical performance battery assessing lower limb function: with selfreported disability and prediction of mortality and nursing home admission'. *Journal Gerontology* 1994; 49; 2; M85-M94. 142. Cham BE, Roeser HP, Kamst TW: Simultaneous liquid-chromatographicdetermination of vitamin K1 and vitamin E in serum.' *Clinical Chemistry*. 1989, 35;2285-9.

143. Marinova M, Lütjohann D, Westhofen P, Watzka M, Breuer O and Oldenburg
J: 'A Validated HPLC Method for the Determination of Vitamin K in HumanSerum
– First Application in a Pharmacological Study'. *The Open Clinical Chemistry Journal*, 2011, 4, 17-27

144.Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L, Pieper CF, Leveille SG, Markides KS, Ostir GV et al. 'Lower Extremity function and subsequent disability: Consistency across studies, predictive models and value of gait speed alone compared with the short physical performance battery'. *Journal of Gerontology* 2000; 55A; 4; M221-M231.

145.Gill TM, Williams CS, Tinetti ME. 'Assessing risk for the onset of functional dependence among older adults: the role of physical performance'. *Journal American Geriatric Society* 1995; 43; 6; 1172-1181.

146.Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L, Simonsick EM, Salive ME, Wallace RB. 'Lower-Extremity Function in Persons over the Age of 70 Years as a Predictor of Subsequent Disability'. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1995; 332; 556-562.
147.Gawel J, Vengrow D, Collins J, Brown S, Buchanan A, Cook C. 'The short performance battery as a predictor for long term disability or institutionalization in the community dwelling population aged 65 years old or older'. *Physical Therapy Reviews* 2012; 17; 1; 37-44.

148.Penninx BWJH, Ferrucci L, Leveille SG, Rantanen T, Pahor M, Guralnik JM. 'Lower Extremity Performance in nondisabled older persons as a predictor of subsequent hospitalisation'. *Journal of Gerontology* 2000; 55A; 11; M691-M697.

149.Cesari M, Onder G, Zamboni V, Manini T, Shorr RI, Russo A et al. 'Physical function and self-rated status as predictors of mortality: results from longitudinal analysis in the ilSIRENTE study'. *Ageing Clinical and Experimental Research* 2008; 8; 234-241.

150.Rantanen T, Era P, Kauppinen N, Heikkinen E. 'Maximal isometric muscle strength and socio-economic status, health and physical activity in 75-year-old persons'. *Journal Ageing Physical Activity 1994*; 2; 206-220.

151.Rantanen T, Guralnik JM, Foley D, Masaki K, Leveille S, Curb D et al. 'Midlife hand grip strength as a predictor of old age disability. *Journal American Medical Association* 1999; 281; 6; 558-560.

152.Rantanen T, Volpato S, Ferrucci L, Heikkinen E, Fried LP, Guralnik JM.
'Handgrip strength and cause-specific and total mortality in older disabled women: Exploring the mechanism'. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2003; 51; 5; 636-641.

153.Cheung CL, Nguyen US, Au E, Tan KC, Kung AW. 'Association of handgrip strength with chronic diseases and multimorbidity - A cross-sectional study'. *Age* 2012; 35; 3; 929-941.

154.Silventoinen K, Magnusson PK, Tynelius P, Batty GD, Rasmussen F. 'Association of body size and muscle strength with incidence of coronary heart disease and cerebrovascular diseases: a population-based cohort study of one million Swedish men'. *International Journal Epidemiology* 2009; 38; 110-118.

155.Sumukadas D, Witham MD, Struthers AD, McMurdo MET. 'Effect of perindopril on physical function in elderly people with functional impairment: a randomized controlled trial'. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 2007; 117; 8; 867-874.

156.Avenell A, Campbell M, Cook JA, Haanaford PC, Kilonzo MM, McNeill G et al. 'Effect of multivitamin and multimineral supplements on morbidity from infections in older people (MAVIS trial): pragmatic, randomised, double blind, placebo controlled trial'. *British Medical Journal* 2005; 331; 324-329. 157.NICE. Hypertension: Clinical management of primary hypertension in adults: Monitoring treatment and blood pressure targets. http://publications.nice.org.uk/hypertension-cg127/guidance 2011.

158.Vasunilashorn S, Coppin AK, Patel AV, Lauretani F, Ferrucci F, Bandinelli S et al. 'Use of the Short Physical Performance Battery Score to Predict Loss of Ability to Walk 400 Meters: Analysis From the InCHIANTI Study'. *Journal Gerontology A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2009; 64A; 2; 223-229.

159.Witham MD, Dove FJ, Dryburgh M, Sugden JA, Morris AD, Struthers AD. 'Effect of different doses of vitamin D3 on Markers of Vascular Health in Patients with type 2 Diabetes, A Randomised Controlled Trial'. *Diabetologia* 2010; 53; 10; 2112-2119.

160.Gast GCM, de Roos NM, Sluijs I, Bots ML, Beulens JWJ, Geleijnse JM et al. 'A high menaquinone intake reduces the incidence of coronary heart disease'. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases* 2009; 19; 7; 504-510.

161.Thane CW, Bates CJ, Shearer MJ, Unadkat N, Harrington DJ, Paul AA et al. 'Plasma phylloquinone (vitamin K1) concentration and its relationship to intake in a national sample of British elderly people'. *British Journal Nutrition* 2002; 87; 6; 615-622. 162.Binkley NC, Krueger DC, Kawahara TN, Engelke JA, Chappell RJ, Suttie JW. 'A high phylloquinone intake is required to achieve maximal osteocalcin ycarboxylation'. *American Journal Clinical N*utrition 2002; 76; 5; 1055-1060.

163.George J, Carr E, Davies J, Belch JJF, Struthers AD. 'High-Dose Allopurinol Improves Endothelial Function by Profoundly Reducing Vascular Oxidative Stress and Not by Lowering Uric Acid'. *Circulation* 2006; 114; 2508-2516.

164.Mancini GBJ, Henry GC, Macaya C, O'Neill BJ, Pucillo AL, Carere RG et al. 'Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibition With Quinapril Improves Endothelial Vasomotor Dysfunction in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease The TREND (Trial on Reversing ENdothelial Dysfunction) Study.' *Circulation* 1996; 94; 258-265.

165.O'Driscoll G, Green D, Rankin J, Stanton K, Taylor R. 'Improvement in endothelial function by angiotension converting enzyme inhibition in insulindependent diabetes mellitus'. *Journal Clinical Investigation* 1997; 100; 678-684.

166.Mullen MJ, Clarkson P, Donald AE, Thomson H, Thorne SA, Powe AJ et al. 'Effect of enalapril on endothelial function in young insulin-dependent diabetic patients: a randomized, double-blind study'. *Journal American College Cardiology* 1998; 6; 1330-1335. 167.Furbeg CD, Adams HP, Abblegate WB, Byington RP, Espeland MA, Hartwell T et al. 'Effect of lovastatin on early carotid atherosclerosis and cardiovascular events'. *Circulation* 1994; 90; 1679-1687.

168.Lonn EM, Yusuf S, Dzavik V, Doris I, Yi Q, Smith S et al. 'Effects of ramipril and vitamin E on atherosclerosis the study to evaluate carotid ultrasound changes in patients treated with ramipril and vitamin E (SECURE)'. *Circulation* 2001; 103; 919-925.

169.Shea MK, Booth SL, Massaro JM, Jacques PF, D'Agostino RB, Keaney JF et al. 'Vitamin K and vitamin D status: associations with inflammatory markers in the Framingham Offspring Study'. *American Journal Epidemiology* 2008; 167; 3; 313-320.

170. World Health Organisation. Report 'Adherence to Long Term therapy'. 2003.

171.SchlenK EA, Dunbar JJ, Engberg S. 'Medication non-adherence among older adults - a review of strategies and intervention for improvement'. *Journal Gerontology Nursing* 2004; 7; 33-43.

172.Osterberg L, Blaschke T. 'Adherence to Medication'. New England Journal Medicine 2005; 353; 487-497.

173.Graat J, Schouten EJ, Kok FJ. 'Effect of daily vitamin E and multivitaminmineral supplementation on acute respiratory tract infections in elderly persons: A randomized controlled trial'. *Journal American Medical Association* 2002; 288; 6; 715-721.

174.Blankenhorn DH, Kramsch DM, Azen SP, Mack WJ, Cashin-Hemphill L, Hodis HN et al. 'Coronary Angiographic Changes with Lovastatin Therapy: The Monitored Atherosclerosis Regression Study (MARS)'. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 1993; 119; 10; 969-976.

175.Pitt B, Byington RP, Furberg CD, Hunninghake DB, Mancini GBJ, Miller ME et al. 'Effect of amlodipine on the progression of atherosclerosis and the occurrence of clinical events'. *Circulation* 2000; 102; 13; 1503-1510.

176.Masud T, Morris RO. 'Epidemiology of falls'. *Age and Ageing* 2001; 30; S4;3-7.

Appendix 1 Good Clinical Practice Certificate



Appendix 2: Patient Information Letter

GP Practice Headed paper

Dear Mr/ Mrs XYZ,

<u>Research Project: Vitamin K to improve markers of vascular</u> <u>health in older people with vascular disease</u> <u>– a randomised controlled trial</u>

Our practice is helping researchers at the University of Dundee with this research study, which is funded by Chest Heart and Stroke Scotland.

People with high blood pressure, diabetes, previous heart disease or stroke often have stiff arteries, which can increase the chances of further heart and blood vessel problems. Dr Miles Witham and his team at the University of Dundee are testing whether taking a vitamin K supplement for 6 months can reduce the stiffness and improve the health of arteries.

Taking part would involve taking a single tablet of either vitamin K or a placebo (dummy) for 6 months, and visiting Ninewells Hospital on three occasions to have tests on your arteries, strength and balance.

We are writing to you because you are over the age of 70 and this study may be suitable for you to take part in.

Please complete the attached reply slip and return to me in the enclosed stamped addressed envelope. If you are interested, I will pass your name to the study team in Ageing and Health at Ninewells Hospital, Dundee, and the study team will get in touch with you to provide more information.

With best wishes GP

Appendix 4: Patient Reply Slip

PRACTICE HEADER

<u>Research Project: Vitamin K to improve markers of vascular</u> <u>health in older people with vascular disease</u> <u>– a randomised controlled trial</u>

Please only complete and return if you would like for information about the study

Name	
Address	
	Postcode
Telephone number	
Best time to contact	

Appendix 3: Patient Information Sheet

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

Can Vitamin K improve markers of vascular health and physical function in older people with vascular disease?

My name is Roberta Fulton and I am required to undertake a project as part of my MSc course at the University of Dundee. I invite you to take part in the following study however, before you decide to do so, I need to be sure that you understand firstly why I am doing it, and secondly what it would involve if you agreed. I am therefore providing you with the following information. Please read it carefully and be sure to ask any questions you might have, and, if you want, discuss it with others including your friends and family. I will do my best to explain the project to you and provide you with any further information you may ask for now or later. You do not have to make an immediate decision.

Why are we doing this study?

Vitamin K has long been known to be an important factor in maintaining good bone health but recent research has shown that it may also have a beneficial effect on our blood vessels. Unfortunately daily intake of vitamin K is below the recommended dose for the majority of adults in the UK, this low level of vitamin K has been linked to stiffening of the arteries, which in turn may cause high blood pressure, heart attacks and strokes, especially in older people.

We therefore want to test if giving a daily dose of vitamin K to people with either high blood pressure or previous cardiovascular disease (stroke, heart attack, angina, or hardening of the leg arteries) will improve the function of the blood vessels as well as general fitness.

Why have I been chosen?

You have been chosen to take part in the study because you are over the age of 70 years and have had a cardiovascular disease, high blood pressure or diabetes.

Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide. Participation in this study is entirely voluntary and you are free to refuse to take part or to withdraw from the study at any time without having to give a reason and without this affecting your future medical care or your relationship with medical or nursing staff looking after you.

What will happen to me if I take part?

The study takes 6 months in total to complete.

The study is of randomized, doubled blind design. This means that you will be asked to take a capsule by mouth once a day. This will either contain vitamin K, or a placebo (dummy) medication. The one that you will be given is decided in a random way (a bit like tossing a coin, but done by a computer). Neither you nor the research team will know which tablet you are taking until after the study is finished. This means that the results of the study cannot be influenced by you or the researchers knowing what you are taking.

You will be asked to come to Ninewells Hospital in Dundee on three occasions over 6 months for study visits. We can provide a taxi to transport you to Ninewells and back for each visit or we can reimburse your travel expenses should you choose to make your own travel arrangements.

After making sure that you are suitable to participate in the study and obtaining your consent we will ask you to undergo an assessment which will last between one and two and a half hours. At each visit we will do the following:

- We will measure your blood pressure while you are lying down and then when you stand up.
- We will ask permission to take a blood test (about two tablespoons of blood will be taken). Blood samples will be

stored and analysed at the end of the study. We will also ask your permission to store the blood samples for a period of 10 years after the end of the 20 month study, so that we can run further tests on the blood in the future. We will not test any of your blood samples for genetic testing either now or in the future.

- You will be asked to do some mobility tests including standing tests, balance tests and a test to measure your hand grip strength.
- We will then measure how one of the blood vessels in your arm functions (brachial artery ultrasound), this will show any evidence of hardened (stiff) arteries. This is done using an ultrasound machine. To see how stiff the blood vessel is we need to look at how it responds to a short period of having the circulation to the forearm blocked. A blood pressure cuff will be placed below your elbow and we measure the heart tracing (ECG) at the same time. We will then take an ultrasound measurement of the artery above your elbow. This involves placing a probe gently on the skin above the elbow. We will then inflate the cuff to cut off the circulation to the forearm for a period of 5 minutes. This can be a little uncomfortable, just like if you lie on your arm when you are asleep. After 5 minutes we will release the blood pressure cuff and take another measurement of the artery above the elbow. We will also scan the artery in your neck using the ultrasound probe. This will all take about 30 minutes
- We will test how elastic the blood vessels are in your neck, wrist and thigh by using a small pencil-like device placed over the blood vessel to measure your pulse. At the same time, the electrical activity of your heart will be monitored with a heart tracing. This will take about 10 minutes.
- We will issue your study tablets

At 3 and 6 months we will ask you to pay us further visits where we will repeat some or all of the above tests – see the summary below.

Summary of tests:

Baseline visit: Sign consent form. Blood test, lying and standing blood pressure, artery tests, heart tracing, standing tests, balance tests and tests to measure your hand strength. Receive medication.

Time: 2 hours

3 month visit: Lying and standing blood pressure, artery tests. Receive medication.

Time: 1 hour

6 month visit: Blood test, lying and standing blood pressure, artery tests, heart tracing, standing tests, balance tests and tests to measure your hand strength.

Time: 90 minutes

What is being tested?

Vitamin K is a natural substance which is present in everyday foods such as leafy vegetables. Many people in Scotland don't get as much vitamin K as recommended. We wish to test whether or not giving a daily dose of vitamin K can improve the function of blood vessels and improve general fitness.

Will taking part in the study affect your usual care?

We will not alter any of your medication or interfere with your treatment in any way however we would ask you not to purchase or take any vitamin K independently while on the study.

What are the possible discomforts, risks and side effects?

This dose of vitamin K has been used before and is known to be safe but as with all medications there is a small possibility of side effects. If you experience any side effects of sickness, diarrhoea, dizziness or bruising, please report them to us as soon as they arise.

Having blood taken can cause some bruising. The blood pressure cuff causes mild discomfort to some people.

What happens if something goes wrong?

This is very unlikely, but if something does go wrong then the University of Dundee has a scheme which could provide compensation, if appropriate.

If you believe you have been harmed in any way by taking part in this research, the normal NHS complaints mechanism would also be available to you. To register a complaint against the NHS in Tayside, or to receive more information, contact:

Advice Teem	Complaints and
	Level 7, Ninewells
Hospital and Medical School	Dundee DD1 9SY.
Free-phone 0800 027 5507	

Will my GP know about this research project?

If you agree to take part, your GP will be informed of this.

Will my taking part in this study be kept confidential?

All the identifiable data, samples or information collected with your consent will be retained and used in the study. They will be kept strictly confidential. The information will be kept in a locked room and held on a secure computer, with your name and other identifying details removed. Should you choose to withdraw from the study no further data or samples would be collected. Only the researchers involved in the study will have access to the information. We will keep the information for at least 15 years.

What will happen to the results?

The results will be examined by the researchers who have organised the study and a short report will be produced. You will not be identified in this report. The results will be shared with the funder for the study (Chest Heart and Stroke Scotland). The results will then be published in scientific journals. Again, you will not be identified in any journal articles.

Who is organizing and funding this research?

The study has been organised by Dr Miles Witham and Professor Marion McMurdo (Ageing and Health, University of Dundee), Dr Faisel Khan and Dr Sandy Hill (Vascular Medicine, University of Dundee). The study is funded by Chest Heart and Stroke Scotland.

Who has reviewed the study?

Tayside Research Ethics Committee, which has responsibility for scrutinising proposals for medical research on humans in Tayside, has examined the proposal and has raised no objections from the point of view of medical ethics. It is a requirement that your records in this research, together with any relevant medical records, be made available for scrutiny by monitors from NHS Tayside and the University of Dundee whose role it is to check that research is properly conducted and the interests of those taking part are adequately protected.

Thank you for reading this Information Sheet and considering taking part in this study.

For further information contact:

Mrs Roberta Fulton - Research Nurse on telephone 01382 632436 or email <u>r.l.z.fulton@dundee.ac.uk</u>

Dr Miles Witham - on telephone 01382 632436 or email <u>m.witham@dundee.ac.uk</u>

Dr Jacob George - Department of Clinical Pharmacology, Ninewells Hospital. Email <u>j.george@dundee.ac.uk</u> Appendix 5: Consent Form

Study Number: 11/ES/0009

Patient Identification Number for this trial:

CONSENT FORM v1.1 (05/09/2011)

Title of Project: The KIMVASC study: vitamin K to improve markers of vascular health and physical function in older people with vascular disease – a randomised controlled trial

	Name of Peron Taking	Consent Da	ate	Signature	
Name	of Participant	Date		Signature	
	I agree to take part in the	above study.			
	I agree to the storage of r	my leftover blo	ood sample	es for use in future research.	
	I agree to my GP being in	itormed of my	participatio	on in the study.	
	permission for these indiv	viduals to have	e access to	my records.	
	of Dundee, where it is rele	evant to my ta	king part ir	n this research. I give	
	I understand that relevant the study may be looked	t sections of n at by represer	ny medical ntatives fro	notes and data collected during	
	and used in the study.		, <u>.</u>	г.,	
	affected. If I withdrawn I u	Inderstand an	v data alre	ady collected will be retained	
	I understand that my part	icipation is vo	luntary and	I that I am free to withdraw at	
	information, ask question	s and have ha	ad these ar	swered satisfactorily.	
	(version 1.1) for the above	e study. I hav	ve had the	opportunity to consider the	
	I confirm that I have read	and understo	od the info	rmation sheet dated 05/09/11	
Name	of Researcher: Dr Miles D) Witham		Please initial box	

When complete, 1 for participant; 1 for researcher site file; 1 (original) to be kept in medical notes

Appendix 6: GP Letter

Vitamin K to improve markers of vascular health and physical function in older people with vascular disease - a randomised controlled trial

1

Dr XYZ Surgery

Dear Dr

Re: Mr/Mrs ABC, Address

DOB/CHI: 000000000

Your patient, Mr/Mrs ABC, has very kindly agreed to take part in the above trial.

Participants will receive 6 months of oral vitamin K_2 100 micrograms per day or placebo. We will provide all of the trial medication while all other medications can continue as usual. Both participants and assessors will be blinded to the nature of the therapy. We will assess outcomes (endothelial function, arterial stiffness, carotid intima-media thickness, physical function, strength and balance, blood pressure, B-type natriuretic peptide and Creactive protein) at baseline, 3 and 6 months.

Please let us know if you need to consider warfarin therapy over the course of the next six months, as vitamin K antagonises the effect of warfarin.

This project has been funded by Chest, Heart & Stroke Scotland.

The study has been approved by the Tayside Committee on Medical Ethics. If you have any questions about the study, or if there is any aspect of your patient's healthcare that we can assist you with, please do not hesitate to contact us.

Yours sincerely,

Dr Miles D Witham Clinical Senior Lecturer and CSO Clinician Scientist in Ageing and Health Tel: 01382 632436

Appendix 7: Case Report Form Page 1

CASE REPORT FORM Visit 1 – (Screening & Baseline visit)

Patient Study ID number	Date of Study Visit
A. Inclusion Criteria	
Age 70 and over And a	t least 1 of following:
Hypertension (as a listed diagnosis) \bigcirc 1	
Diabetes mellitus 2 My	vocardial infarction 🗌 ₃
Coronary artery bypass grafting4 Co	pronary angioplasty \bigcap $_5$
Stroke or TIA 6 Pe	ripheral Vascular disease 🛛 7
*IF THE ANSWER IS NO TO ANY OF THE ABOVE, CONTINUE IN THE STUDY	THE PATIENT IS NOT ELIGIBLE TO
B. Exclusion Criteria	
Atrial fibrillation \Box_1 Unable to give	written informed consent 3
Taking Warfarin 2 Currently takin	g Vitamin k supplements4
Unable to walk without human assistance (valking aids are permitted)
Enrolled in another research study	
*IF THE ANSWER IS YES TO ANY OF THE ABOVE CONTINUE IN THE STUDY	, THE PATIENT IS NOT ELIGIBLE TO
Informed Consent Has written informed consent been obtained for stud	ly participation? Yes $_1$ / No $_2$

If yes, date consent signed

DD	/	MM	/	ΥΥΥΥ

Study ID	
Demographics	
Sex Male 1 / Female 2	
Living Status: Own Home $^{\rm 1}$ / Sheltered Housing $^{\rm 2}$ / RHE $^{\rm 3}$ / I / Other $^{\rm 6}$	NH 4 / Living with relative 5
If other please specify	
Living Alone Yes 1 / No 2 Formal Help	at Home Yes ₁ / No ₂
Smoker Never ¹ Ex ² Approx. number of years smoked Current ³ Average number cigarettes per day	Date stopped
Walking Aid None ¹ / 1 Stick ² / 2 Sticks ³ / TWW ⁴ If other please specify Past Medical History	/ ZWF ⁵ / Other ⁶
Description Date	of Diagnosis if known
° Hypertension Yes 1 / No 2 —	
$^{\circ}$ Previous MI Yes ¹ / No ²	
$^{\circ}$ Stroke / TIA Yes ¹ / No ²	
 Angina Yes¹ / No² 	
$^{\circ}$ CABG / PTCA Yes 1 / No 2	
 Diabetes Mellitus Yes¹ / No² 	
° P VD Yes ¹ / No ²	
° CHF Yes ¹ / No ²	

Study ID

Any Other relevant medical or surgical history?

Description	Date of Diagnosis if known	Still present
	 	Yes ¹ / No ²
	 	-Yes ¹ /No ²
	 	Yes ¹ / No ²
	 	— Yes / No²
	 	-Yes ¹ /No ²
	 	Yes ¹ /No ²
	 	— Yes ¹ / No ²
	 	Yes ¹ / No ²
	 	— Yes ¹ / No ²
	 	-Yes ¹ /No ²

Vital Signs

Lying Supine Blood Pressure (lying for a minimum of 5 minutes prior to recording)

Reading 1	Reading 2	Reading 3 Mean rea	dings of 2 & 3
SBP mmHg mmHg	mmHg	mmHg	
DBP mmHg mmHg	mmHg	mmHg	
Standing 0 minute SBP_	mmHg		
DBP	mmHg	Complaints of dizziness	Yes 1 / No 2
Standing 1 minute SBP_	mmHg		
DBP _	mmHg	Complaints of dizziness	Yes 1 / No 2
Standing 3 minutes SBP	mmHg		
DBP	mmHg	Complaints of dizziness	Yes ¹ / No ²

	Study ID			
Patient fasted for 4 hours?	Yes ¹ N	No ²		
If No, give reason				
ECG			_	
Has a 12 lead ECG been recorded	Yes ¹ N	No ²		
If No, give reason				
If yes, does ECG show evidence of a	trial fibrillation	Yes ¹	No ²	
If yes participant unable to continue				
Pulse Wave Velocity				
Pulse Wave velocitym/s	ugmentation ind	ex (@	75%)	
Flow Mediated Dilatation				
% change in flow following forearm or	cclusion		%	
Carotid Intima –media thickness				
Carotid Artery Scanned - Right side	/ Left side			
Measurement 1	(cm		
Measurement 2	(cm		
Measurement 3	(cm		
Blood test				
Blood tests taken for measurement of				
C-reactive protein	INR		Plasma mk7	
BNP	U&E's		Cholesterol	
Strength Measures				
Grip strength (peak force dominant hand)	Kg (record	best of	3 - using non	

	Study ID	
SHORT PHYSICAL PERFORMANCE BA	TTERY	L
1) BALANCE TESTS A. Side-by-side-stand	В.	Semi-Tandem Stand
Held for 10 sec 1 point	н	leld for 10 sec 1
Not held for 10 sec 0 points	Ν	lot held for 10 sec 0
Not attempted 0 points 0 points	Ν	lot attempted 0
If 0 points, end Balance Tests and go to and go to and go to section D	lf O p	ooints, end Balance Tests section D
C. Tandem Stand Held for 10 sec Held for 3 to 9.99 sec Held for < than 3 sec Not attempted 2) GAIT SPEED TEST	D. Tot (sum	tal Balance Tests score points)
Time for 1 st Gait Speed Test (sec)	Time for 2	2 nd Gait Speed Test (sec)
Time for 4 meters Sec	Time for 4	4 meters
Aids used none stick	Other	
Using the shorter of the two times:		
If the participant was unable: 0 points	If time is 4.82 to	6.20 sec 3 points
If time is more than 8.70 sec: 1 points	If time is less that	an 4.82 sec: 4 points
If time is 6.21 to 8.70 sec: 2 points		
3) CHAIR STAND TEST		
Unable to complete or >60 sec: 0 point 3 points	ts Chair stand ti	me 11.20 - 13.69 sec:
Chair stand time > 16.70 sec: 1 point 4 points	t Chair stand ti	me 11.19 sec or less
Chair stand time 13.70 to 16.69 sec: 2	points	
Total Balance Test + Gait Speed Test + Chair Stand Test		
Total Score p	points	(sum of 3 points above)

	Study ID	
Falls History		
Falls recorded in past 3 months.	Yes ¹ No ²	
If yes Number		
Details		
Study Medication		
Medication dispensed	Yes ¹ No ²	

Number of tablets dispensed

	J
	_

CASE REPORT FORM Visit 2 - (3 months)

Patient Study ID number	Date of Study Visit	
Has patient taken study medication	Yes ¹ / No ²	
If no state reason		
Count tablets left in bottle. Yes ¹ / No) ²	
If action not carried out please state why		
Number of tablets left in bottle		
Number of days since last study visit		
Have there been any GP appointments sinc	e last visit	
If yes how many		
Have there been any hospitalisations since last visit		
If yes how many		
Have there been any changes to life circums	stances since previous visit?	
If yes please detail		

Medical history update

Has the patient's medical history changed since previous visit? Yes 1 / No 2

If yes please detail



Study ID



Medication

Have there been any changes to the patient's medications since the previous visit?

Yes ¹ / No ² (If yes please detail)



Adverse Events

Has the patient experienced any adverse events since the previous visit Yes 1 / No 2

If yes please complete a Clinical Trial Adverse Events Form.

Vital Signs

Lying Supine Blood Pressure (lying for a minimum of 5 minutes prior to recording)

Reading 1	Reading 2	Reading 3 Mean re	eadings 2 & 3
SBP mmHg	gmmHg	mmHg	
DBP mmHg mmHg	mmHg	mmHg	
Standing 0 minute	SBP mmHg		
	DBP mmHg	Complaints of dizziness	Yes ¹ / No ²
Standing 1 minute	SBP mmHg		
	DBP mmHg	Complaints of dizziness	Yes ¹ / No ²
Standing 3 minutes	SBP mmHg		
	DBP mmHg	Complaints of dizziness	Yes ¹ / No ²

Patient fasted for 4 hours? If No, give reason	Study ID Yes ¹ No	0 ²
Pulse Wave Velocity		
Pulse Wave velocity		<u>%</u>
Augmentation index (@75%)		
Flow Mediated Dilatation		0/
% change in flow following forearm		. %
Carotid Intima –media thickness	<u>8</u>	
Carotid Artery Scanned - Right sid	de / Left side	
Measurement 1 cm		
Measurement 2 cm		
Measurement 3 cm		
Falls History		
Falls recorded in past 3 months. Y	es 🚺 No	2
If yes Number		
Details		

Patient Study ID number Date of Study Visit	
Has patient taken study medication Yes 1 / No 2	
If no state reason	
Count tablets left in bottle. Yes ¹ / No ²	
If action not carried out please state why	
Number of tablets left in bottle	
Number of days since last study visit	
Have there been any GP appointments since last visit? Yes ¹ /	No ²
If yes how many	
Have there been any hospitalisations since last visit?	
If yes how many	
Have there been any changes to life circumstances since previous visit	?
If yes please detail	

CASE REPORT FORM Visit 3 – (6 months)

Medical history update

as the patient's medical history changed since previous visit?	
If yes please detail	

Study ID

Medication

Have there been any changes to the patient's medications since the previous visit?

Yes ¹ / No ² (If yes please detail)

Adverse Events

Has the patient experienced any adverse events since the previous visit Yes $^1\,$ / $\,$ No $^2\,$

If yes please complete a Clinical Trial Adverse Events Form.

Vital Signs

Lying Supine Blood Pressure (lying for a minimum of 5 minutes prior to recording)

Reading 1	Reading 2	Reading 3	Mean readings 2 & 3
SBP mmHg	gmmHg	mmHg	
DBP mmHg mmHg	mmHg	mmHg	
Standing 0 minute	SBP mmHg		
	DBP mmHg	Complaints of diz	zziness Yes ¹ /No ²
Standing 1 minute	SBP mmHg		
	DBP mmHg	Complaints of diz	ziness Yes ¹ /No ²
Standing 3 minutes	SBP mmHg		
	DBP mmHg	Complaints of dizz	ziness Yes ¹ /No ²

	Study ID	
Patient fasted for 4 hours?	Yes ¹	No ²
If No, give reason		
Pulse Wave Velocity		
Pulse Wave velocity		<u>%</u>
Augmentation index (@75%)		
Flow Mediated Dilatation		
% change in flow following forearm occlusion %		
Carotid Intima – media thickness		
Carotid Artery Scanned - Right side / Left side		
Measurement 1 cm		
Measurement 2 cm		
Measurement 3 cm		
Blood test		
Blood tests taken for measurement of		
C-reactive protein Chole	esterol	
BNP Plasm	ma mk7 🦳	
Strength Measures		
Grip strength (peak force dominant hand)	Kg (re	cord best of 3 - using non

	Study ID
SHORT PHYSICAL PERF	
1) BALANCE TESTS A. Side-by-side-stand	B. Semi-Tandem Stand
Held for 10 sec 1 point	Held for 10 sec 1
Not held for 10 sec 0 points points Not attempted 0 points	Not held for 10 sec 0 Not attempted 0
points If 0 points, end Balance Tests and go to and go to section D	If 0 points, end Balance Tests section D
C. Tandem Stand2 pointsHeld for 10 sec1 pointsHeld for 3 to 9.99 sec1 pointsHeld for < than 3 sec	D. Total Balance Tests score (sum points)
2) GAIT SPEED TEST	
Time for 1 st Gait Speed Test (sec)	Time for 2 nd Gait Speed Test (sec)
Time for 4 meters Sec	Time for 4 meters
Aids used none stick	Other
Using the shorter of the two times:	
If the participant was unable: 0 points	If time is 4.82 to 6.20 sec 3
If time is more than 8.70 sec: 1 points points	If time is less than 4.82 sec: 4
If time is 6.21 to 8.70 sec: 2 points	
3) CHAIR STAND TEST	
Unable to complete or >60 sec: 0 points 3 points	Chair stand time 11.20 - 13.69 sec:
Chair stand time > 16.70 sec: 1 point 4 points	Chair stand time 11.19 sec or less
Chair stand time 13.70 to 16.69 sec: 2 po	ints
Total Balance Test + Gait Speed Test - Total Score points	 Chair Stand Test (sum of 3 points above)

Study ID	

Falls History

Falls recorded in past 3 months.

Yes 1 / No 2

If yes Number

Details

Appendix 8: Short Physical Performance Battery Scoring Sheet



Short Physical Performance Battery

Reference List

(1) Ball GFM. Historical events leading to the establishment of vitamins. Vitamins Their Role in the Human Body. 2004: 1-7.

(2) Rosenfeld L. Clinical Chemistry 43[4], 680-685. 1997. Ref Type: Journal (Full)

(3) Griminger P. Casimir Funk: A Biographical Sketch (1884–1967). J.Nutrition 102, 1107-1113. 1972.

Ref Type: Journal (Full)

- (4) Rosenfeld L. Vitamine vitamin. The early years of discovery. Clinical Chemisrty 1997; 43(4):680-685.
- (5) Carpenter K. The Nobel Prize and the Discovery of Vitamins. <u>http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/medicine/articles/carpenter/</u>. 22-4-0004. 11-1-2012.

Ref Type: Electronic Citation

- (6) Turner MR. Vitamins, minerals and health. The National Dairy Council. 1988.
- (7) McNinch A. Vitamin K deficiency bleeding: Early history and recent trends in the United Kingdom. Early Human Development 2010; 86:S63-S65.
- (8) Ball GFM. Vitamins: their role in the human body. Vitamins: their role in the human body. 2004.
- (9) Cranenburg E, Schurgers L, Vermeer C. Vitamin K: The coagulation vitamin that became omnipotent. Thrombosis Haemost 2007; 98:120-125.
- (10) Hey E. Vitamin K--what, why, and when. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2003; 88(2):F80-F83.
- (11) Lamson DW, Plaza S. The Anticancer Effects of Vitamin K. Alternative Medicine Review 2003; 8(3):303.
- (12) Barrington R. The nutrition blog of Robert Barrington. http://www.robertbarrington.net/vitamin-k . 2013.

Ref Type: Electronic Citation

(13) Kaesler N, Schettgen T, Mutucumarana VP, Bradenburg V, Jahnen-Dechent W, Schurgers LJ et al. A Fluorescent method to determine vitamin K dependent

gamma-glutamyl carboxylase activity. Analytical Biochemistry 421[2], 411-416. 15-2-2012.

Ref Type: Journal (Full)

(14) Presnell S.R, Stafford D.W. The Vitamin K-dependent Carboxylase. Thromb Haemost 87[937], 946. 2002.

Ref Type: Journal (Full)

- (15) Shearer MJ, Newman P. Metabolism and cell biology of vitamin K. Thomb Haemost 2008; 100(4):530-546.
- (16) Bolton-Smith C, Price RJG, Fenton ST, Harrington DJ, Shearer MJ. Compliation of a provisional UK database for the phylloquinone (vitamin k1) content of fooeds. British Journal of Nutrition 2000; 83:389-399.
- (17) Thane C, Bolton-Smith C, Coward W. Comparative dietary intake and sources of phylloquinone (vitamin k1) among British adults in 1986-7 and 200001. British journal of Nutrition 2006; 96:1105-1115.

(18) Insel P, Ross D, McMahon K, Bernstein M. nutrition, fourth edition. 11-24. 2011. Ref Type: Generic

(19) Washington DUNAP. DRI DIETARY INTAKES

Institute of Medicine Staff (Contributor). Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin A, Vitamin K, Arsenic, Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron, Manganese, Molybdenum, Nickel, Silicon, Vanadium, and Zinc : A Report of the Panel on Micronutrients. 2002.

Ref Type: Report

(20) Cranenburg E, Schurgers L, Vermeer C. Vitamin K: The coagulation vitamin that became omnipotent. Thrombosis Haemost 2007; 98:120-125.

(21) WHO. Keep fit for life Meeting the nutritional needs of older persons. 2002. Ref Type: Report

(22) Booth SL, Tucker KL, Chen H, Hannan MT, Gagnon DR, Cupples LA et al. Dietary vitamin k untakes are associated with hip fracture but not bone mineral density in elderly men and women. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 71, 1201-1208. 1-5-2000.

Ref Type: Journal (Full)

- (23) Vermeer C, Shearer MJ, Zittermann A, Bolton-Smith C, Szulc P, Hodges S et al. Beyond deficiency: Potential benefits of increased intakes of vitamin K for bone and vascular health. European Journal of Nutrition 2004; 43(6):325-335.
- (24) Vermeer C, Gijsbers B, Craciun A, Dooren M, Knapen M. Effects of Vitamin K on Bone Mass and Bone Metabolism. J Nutrition 1996; 126(suppl.4):1187S-1191S.

(25) Schurgers LJ, Teunissen KJF, Hamulyak K, Knapen MHJ, Vik H, Vermeer C. Vitamin k - containing dietary supplements: comparison of synthetic vitamin k_{1and natto-derived} menaquinone - 7. Blood 109[8], 3279-3283. 15-4-2007.

```
Ref Type: Journal (Full)
```

- (26) Geleijnse JM, Vermeer C, Grobbee DE, Schurgers LJ, Knapen MHJ, van der Meer IM et al. Dietary Intake of Menaquinone Is Associated with a Reduced Risk of Coronary Heart Disease: The Rotterdam Study. j Nutr 2004; 134(11):3100-3105.
- (27) Board on Agriculture. Vitamin K. Vitamin tolerance of animals. 1987: 31-35.
- (28) European Commission. Discussion Paper on the setting of maximum and minimum amounts for vitamins and minerals in foodstuffs. 1-6-2006.

Ref Type: Report

- (29) Food and Nutrition Board. Vitamin K. <u>Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin A,</u> <u>Vitamin K, Arsenic, Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron, Manganese,</u> <u>Molybdenum, Nickel, Silicon, Vanadium, and Zinc (2001)</u>. 2001: 162-196.
- (30) Usui Y, Tanimura H, Nishimura N, Kobayashi N, Okanoue T, Ozawa K. Vitamin K concentrations in the plasma and liver of surgical patients. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1990; 51:846-852.
- (31) Cranenburg E, Schurgers L, Vermeer C. Vitamin K: The coagulation vitamin that became omnipotent. Thrombosis Haemost 2007; 98:120-125.
- (32) Suttie JW. Vitamin-K and Human-Nutrition. Journal of the American Dietetic Association 1992; 92(5):585-590.
- (33) Stoelting RK, Dierdorf SF. Handbook for Anesthesia and Co-Existing Disease. 1993.
- (34) Godfrey D, Richardson D. Vitamins and minerals for health. Brithish food Journal 104[11], 913-933. 2002.

Ref Type: Journal (Full)

(35) Walker J. Osteoporosis: pathogenesis, diagnosis and management. Nursing Standard 22[17], 48-56. 27-8-2012.

Ref Type: Journal (Full)

(36) WHO. WHO SCIENTIFIC GROUP ON THE ASSESSMENT OF OSTEOPOROSIS AT PRIMARY HEALTH CARE LEVEL Summary Meeting Report Brussels, Belgium, 5-7 May 2004. 2007.

Ref Type: Report

(37) Binkley N, Suttie J. Vitamin K Nutrition and Osteoporsis. J Nutrition 1995; 125:1812-1821.

- (38) Booth S. Roles for Vitamin K Beyond Coagulation. Annual Review Nutr 2009; 29:89-110.
- (39) Feskanich D, Weber P, Willett W, Rockett H, Booth S, Colditz G. Vitamin k intake and hip fractures in women: a prospective study. American journal of Clinical Nutrition 1999; 69:74-79.
- (40) Cheung AM, Tile L, Lee Y, Tomlinson G, Hawker G, Scher J et al. Vitamin K Supplementation in Postmenopausal Women with Osteopenia (ECKO Trial): A Randomized Controlled Trial. PLoS MEDICINE 5[10], 1461-1472. 14-10-2008.

Ref Type: Journal (Full)

- (41) Vermeer C, Shearer MJ, Zittermann A, Bolton-Smith C, Szulc P, Hodges S et al. Beyond deficiency: Potential benefits of increased intakes of vitamin K for bone and vascular health. European Journal of Nutrition 2004; 43(6):325-335.
- (42) Kaneki M, Hedges S, Hosoi T, Fujiwara S, Lyons A, Crean S et al. Japanese fermented soybean food as the major determinant of the large geographic difference in circulating levels of vitamin K2: possible implications for hip-fracture. J Nutrition 2001; 17(4):315-321.
- (43) Levy RJ, Zenker JA, Lian JB. Vitamin K-dependent Calcium Binding Proteins in Aortic Valve Calcification. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1980; 65:563-566.
- (44) Luo G, Ducy P, McKee MD, Pinero GJ, Loyer E, Behringer RR et al. Spontaneous calcification of arteries and cartilage in mice lacking matrix Gla protein. Nature 1997; 386(78):81.
- (45) Price PA, Faus SA, Williamson MK. Warfarin causes rapid calcification of the elactic lamellae in rats arteries and heart valves. American Heart Journal 18, 1400-1407. 18-3-1998.

Ref Type: Journal (Full)

- (46) Jie KSG, Vermeer C, Witterman JC, Grobbee DE. Vitamin K intake and osteocalcin levels in women with and without aortic atherosclerosis: a population-based study. Athersclerosis 1995; 116:117-123.
- (47) Gast GCM, de Roos NM, Sluijs I, Bots ML, Beulens JWJ, Geleijnse JM et al. A high menaquinone intake reduces the incidence of coronary heart disease. Nutrition Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases 2009; 19(7):504-510.
- (48) Rees K, Guraewal S, Wong YL, Majanbu DL, Mavrodaris A, Stranges S et al. Is vitamin K consumption associated with cardio-metabolic disorders? A systematic review. Maturitas 2010; 67(2):121-128.
- (49) Braam L, Hoeks APG, Brouns F, Hamulyak K, Gerichhausen MJW, Vermeer C. The elastic properties of the vessel wall in postmenopausal women: a follow up study. Thrombosis and Haemostasis 91, 373-380. 12-1-2004.

Ref Type: Journal (Full)
(50) Westenfield R, Krueger T, Schlieper G, Cranenburg ECM, Magdeleyns EJ, Heidenreich S et al. Effect of vitamin K2 supplementation on functional vitamin K deficiency in hemodialysis patients: a randomized trial. American Journal of Kidney Disease 59[2], 186-195. 9-12-2009.

Ref Type: Journal (Full)

- (51) Kirkwood TBL, Austad SN. Why do we age? Nature 2000; 408:233-238.
- (52) Shepherd A. Nutrition through the life span. Part 3 adults aged 65 years and over. British Journal of nursing 18[5], 301-307. 2009.

Ref Type: Journal (Full)

(53) United Nations Department of Economic and Social Afairs/Population division. World Mortility Report 2009. www. 2009.

Ref Type: Electronic Citation

(54) Raeside R, Khan H. The Ageing Scottish Population: Trends, Consequences, Responses. Canadian Studies in Population 35[2], 291-310. 2008. Ref Type: Journal (Full)

(55) The Scottish Government. National Workforce Planning Framework 2005: Full Report. http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Img/57346/0016000.gif . 2005. Ref Type: Electronic Citation

- (56) The Scottish Government. Population and Migration: high Level Summary of Statistics. http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/933/0121929.pdf . 2011.
 Ref Type: Electronic Citation
 - (57) Life expectancy at birth and at age 65 by local areas in the United Kingdom. Office for National Statistics . 2012.

Ref Type: Electronic Citation

- (58) Fortin M, Bravo G, Hudon C, Lapointe L, Almirall J, Dubois M et al. Relationship Between Multimorbidity and Health-Related Quality of Life of Patients in Primary Care. Quality of Life Research 2006; 15(1):83-91.
- (59) The Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology. HEALTHY LIFE EXPECTANCY. www.parliament.uk/parliamentary_offices/post/pubs2006.cfm . 2006. 4-1-2012.

Ref Type: Electronic Citation

- (60) European Commission. Europe in figures Eurostat Year book 2008 Chapter 3 Health. 197. 2008.
- Ref Type: Report
 - (61) The Scottish Government. Trend Mortality Rates. http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Statistics/Browse/Health/TrendMortalityRat es . 2013.
- Ref Type: Electronic Citation

(62) The British Heart Foundation Statistics database. www.heartstats.org . 2010. 29-11-2011.

Ref Type: Electronic Citation

- (63) Nicholls C, Sani M. The treatment of cardiovascular disease in older people. Nursing Older People 2003; 15(7):31-32.
- (64) Kamper AM, Stott DJ, Hyland M, Murray HM, Ford I. Predictors of functional functional decline in elderly people with vascular risk factors or disease. age and Ageing 34, 450-455. 11-7-2005.

Ref Type: Journal (Full)

- (65) Mangin D, Sweeney K, Heath I. Preventive health care in elderly people needs rethinking. British Medical Journal 2007; 335:285-287.
- (66) Ferrari A, Radaelli A, Centola M. Invited Review: Aging and the cardiovascular system. Journal of Applied Physiology 2003; 95(6):2591-2597.
- (67) Cowell JS, Newby BMDE, Prescott RJ, Bloomfeild P, Reid J, Northridge DB et al. A Randomized Trial of Intensive Lipid-Lowering Therapy in Calcific Aortic Stenosis. New England Journal Medicine 352, 2389-2397. 9-6-2005.
- Ref Type: Journal (Full)
 - (68) Raggi P, Callister TQ, Davidson M, Welty FK, Bachmann GA, Laskey R et al. Aggressive versus moderate lipidlowering therapy in hypercholesterolemic postmenopausal women: Beyond Endorsed Lipid Lowering with EBT Scanning (BELLES). Circulation 112[5], 563-571. 13-4-2005.
- Ref Type: Journal (Full)
 - (69) WHO Heath Report Reducing risk, Promoting heathly life overview. 7-14.2002. WHO.
- Ref Type: Report

 (70) National institute for Health and clinical Excellence. Hypertension. Management of hypertension of adults in primary care. Clinical guideline 34, 1-45. 2006.
Ref Type: Report

(71) Welsh E. Hypertension. Nursing Standard 2003; 18(13):45-53.

(72) Scottish Public Health Observatory. high Blood Pressure Prevelence. 1-2-2012. Ref Type: Report

- (73) Breen J. An Introduction to causes, detection and management of hypertension. Nursing Standard 2008; 23(14):42-46.
- (74) Davies JI, Struthers AD. Pulse wave analysis and pulse wave velocity: a critical review if their strengths and weaknesses. Journal of Hypertension 2003; 21(3):463-472.
- (75) Diabetes action plan 2010 Quality care for diabetics in Scotland. Scottish Government publications . 2010.

Ref Type: Report

- (76) Resnick HE, Howard BV. Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease. Annu Rev Med 2002; 53:245-267.
- (77) Kannel WB, McGee DL. Diabetes and cardiovascular risk factors: the Framingham study. Circulation 1979; 59:8-13.
- (78) UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. Tight blood pressure control and risk of mascrovascular and microvascular complications in type 2 diabetes: UKPDS 38.
 British Medical Journal 1998; 317(7160):703-713.
- (79) Goldberg IJ. Diabetic Dyslipidemia: Causes and Consequences. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 2001; 86(3):965-971.
- (80) Jeerakathill T, Johnson JA, Simpson SH, Majumdar SR. Short-Term Risk for Stroke Is Doubled in Persons With Newly Treated Type 2 Diabetes Compared With Persons Without Diabetes. Stroke 2007; 38:1739-1743.

(81) Witham MD, Dove FJ, Sugden JA, Doney AS, Struthers AD. The effect of vitamin D replacement on markers of vascular health in stroke patients A randomised controlled trial. Nutrition, Metabolism & Cardiovascular Diseases 22, 864-870. 2012. Ref Type: Journal (Full)

- (82) Burton LA, Sumukadas D, Witham MD, Struthers AD, McMurdo MET. Effect of Spironolactone on Physical Performance in Older People with Self-reported Physical Disability. The American Journal of Medicine 2013; 126(7):557-656.
- (83) Schurgers LJ, Teunissen KJF, Hamulyak K, Knapen MHJ, Vik H, Vermeer C. Vitamin k - containing dietary supplements: comparison of synthetic vitamin k_{1and natto-derived} menaquinone - 7. Blood 109[8], 3279-3283. 15-4-2007.

- (84) Schurgers LJ, Spronk HMH, Soute BAM, Schiffers PM, Demey JGR, Vermeer C. Regression of warfarin-induced medial elastocalcinosis by high intake of vitamin K in rats. Blood 2007; 109(7):2823-2831.
- (85) Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network. Antithrombotic Therapy guideline 36. 27/02/12. 1999.

Ref Type: Pamphlet

(86) Hirsh J, Fuster V, Ansell J, Halperin JL. American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology Foundation Guide to Warfarin Therapy. Circulation 2003; 107:1692-1711.

(87) Jevon P. Recording an accurate ECG. Practice nursing 21[8], 404-408. 2010. Ref Type: Journal (Full)

(88) Stewart S, Hart CL, Hole DJ, McMurray J.J.V. Population prevalence, incidence, and predictors of atrial fibrillation in the Renfrew/Paisley study. Heart 2001; 86(5):516-521.

Ref Type: Journal (Full)

(89) Cox B. Standing up , sitting or lying down: What do these BP readings mean? The British Journal of Primary Care , 111-113. 2012.

- (90) Endemann DH, Schiffrin EL. Endothelial Dysfunction. J Am Soc Nephrol 2004; 15(8):1983-1992.
- (91) Panza JA, Quyyumi AA, Brush JE, Epstein SE. Abnormal endothelium-dependent vascular relaxation in patients with essential hypertension. N Engl J Med 1990; 323(22):27.
- (92) Faulx MD, Wright AT, Hoit BD. Detection of endothelial dysfunction with brachial artery ultrasound scanning. American Heart Journal 2003; 145(6):943-948.
- (93) Clarkson PDS, Celermajer AE, Sampson DM, Sorensen KE, Adams M, Yue DK et al. Impaired vascular reactivity in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus is related to disease duration and low density lipoprotein cholesterol levels. J Am Coll Cardiol 1996; 28:573-579.
- (94) Hogikyan RV, Galecki AT, Pitt B, Halter JB, Greene DA, Supiano MA. Specific Impairment of Endothelium-Dependent Vasodilation in Subjects with Type 2 Diabetes Independent of Obesity. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 1998; 83(6):1946-1952.
- (95) Taddei S, Virdis A, Sudano I, Ghiadoni L, Salvetti A. Endothelial Dysfunction in Hypertension. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology 2001; 38:S11-S14.
- (96) Kinlay S, Ganz P. Role of Endothelial dysfunction in Coronary Artery Disease and Implications for Therapy. The American Journal of Cardiology 1997; 80(9 supplement 1):111-16I.
- (97) Gokce N, Keaney JF, Hunter LM, Watkins MT, Nedeljkovic ZS, Menzoian JO et al. Predictive Value of Noninvasively Determined Endothelial Dysfuntion for Long-Term Cardiovascular Events in Patients with Peripheral Vascular disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003; 41(10):1769-1775.
- (98) Celermajer DS, Sorensen KE, Spiegelhalter DJ, Georgakopoulos D, Robinson J, Deanfield JE. Ageing is Assosiated With Endothelial Dysfunction in Healthy Men Years Before the Age related decline in women. J Am Coll Cardiol 1994; 24(2):471-486.
- (99) Charakida M, Masi S, Luscher TK, Kastelein JJP, Deanfield JE. Assessment of atherosclerosis: the role of flow-mediated dilatation. European Heart Journal 2010; 31:2854-2861.
- (100) Neunteufi T, Heher S, Katzenschlager R, Wolfl G, Koster K, Maurer G et al. Late prognostic value of flow-mediated dilation in the brachial artery of patients with chest pain. The American Journal of Cardiology 2000; 86(2):207-210.
- (101) Corretti MC, Anderson TJ, Benjamin EJ, Celermajer DS, Charbonneau F, Creager MA et al. Guidelines for the ultrasound Assessment of Endothelial-Dependent

flow-Mediated Vasodilation of the Brachial Artery. Journal of American Cardiology 2002; 39(2):257-265.

- (102) Celermajer DS, Sorensen KE, Gooch VM, Spiegelhalter DJ, Miller OI, Sullivan ID et al. Non-invasive detection of endothelial dysfunction in children and adults at risk of atherosclerosis. Lancet 1992; 340:1111-1115.
- (103) Naka KN, Papathanassiou K, Bechlioulis A, Kazakos N, Pappas K, Tigas S et al. Determinants of vascular function in patients with type 2 diabetes. Cardiovascular Diabetology 2012; 11:127.
- (104) Perticone F, Ceravolo R, Pujia A, Ventura G, Iacopino S, Scozzafavz A et al. Prognostic Significance of Endothelial Dysfunction in Hypertensive Patients. Circulation 2001; 104:191-196.
- (105) Neunteufi T, Heher S, Katzenschlager R, Wolfl G, Koster K, Maurer G et al. Late prognostic value of flow-mediated dilation in the brachial artery of patients with chest pain. The American Journal of Cardiology 2000; 86(2):207-210.
- (106) Brevetti G, Silvestro A, Schiano V, Chiariello M. Disease : Additive Value of Flow-Mediated Dilation to Ankle-Brachial Pressure Index Endothelial Dysfunction and Cardiovascular Risk Prediction in Peripheral Arterial. Circulation 2003; 108:2093-2098.
- (107) Meyer B, Mortl D, Strecker K, Hulsmann M, Kulemann V, Neunteufi T et al. Flowmediated Vasodilation Predicts Outcome in Patients with chronic Heart Failure, comparison with B-Type Natiuretic Peptide. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005; 46(6):1011-1018.
- (108) Mullen MJ, Kharbanda RK, Cross J, Donald AE, Taylor M, Vallance P et al. Heterogenous Nature of Flow-Mediated Dilatation in Human Conduit Arteries In Vivo - Relevance to Endothelial Dysfunction in Hypercholesterolemia. Circulation Research 2001; 88:145-151.
- (109) Poredos P. Intima-media thickness: indicator of cardiovasculr risk and measure of the extent of atherosclerosis. Vasc Med 9, 46-54. 1-2-2004.

- (110) Riley WA, Barnes RW, Applegate WB, Dempsey R, Hartwell T, Davis VG et al. Reproducibility of Noninvasive Ultrasonic Measurement of Carotid Atherosclerosis The Asymptomatic Carotid Artery Plaque Study. Stroke 1992; 23:1062-1068.
- (111) Hashimoto M, Eto M, Akishita M, Ako KK, Iijima K, Kim S et al. correlation Between Flow-Mediated Vasodilation of the Brachial Artery and Intima-Mediated Thickness in the Carotid Artery in Men. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1999; 19:2795-2800.
- (112) Baldassarre D, Amato M, Bondioli A, Sirtori CR, Tremoli E. Carotid Artery Intima-Media Thickness Measured by Ultrasonography in Normal Clinical Practice Correlates well with Atherosclerosis Risk Facrors. Stroke 2003; 31:2426-2430.

- (113) Bots ML, Hoes AW, Koudstaal PJ, Hofman A, Grobbee DE. Common carotid intima-media thickness and risk of stroke and myocardial infarction: the Rotterdam Study. Circulation 1997; 96:1432-1437.
- (114) O'Leary DH, Polak JF, Kronmal RA, Manolio TA, Burke GL, Wolfson SK. Carotidartery intima and media thickness as a risk factor for myocardial infarction and stroke in older adults. Cardiovascular Health Study Collaborative Research Group. N Engl J Med 1999; 340(1):14-22.
- (115) Bots ML, Hofman A, Grobbee DE. Common carotid intima-media thickness and lower extremity arterial atherosclerosis. The Rotterdam Study. Arterioscler Thromb 1994; 14:1885-1891.
- (116) Poredos P. Intim-media thickness: indicator or cardiovascular risk and measure of the extent of atherosclerosis. Vascular Medicine 2004; 9:46-54.
- (117) alternityhealthcare.com. Ultrasound View of Carotid Artery and IMT. http://alternityhealthcare.com/ultrasound-view-of-carotid-artery-and-imt-2/. 2013.
- Ref Type: Electronic Citation
 - (118) Christensen KL. Reducing pulse pressure in hypertension may normalize small artery structure. Hypertension 1991; 18:722-727.
 - (119) Franklin SS, Khan SA, Wong ND, Larson MG, Levey D. Is pulse pressure useful in predicting risk for coronary heart Disease? The Framingham heart study. Circulation 1999; 100.
 - (120) O'Rourke MF, Pauca A, Jiang X. Pulse Wave Analysis. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2001; 51(6):507-522.
 - (121) Tsai P, Yucha CB. Noninvasive measurements of central arterial pressure and distensibility by arterial applanation tonometry with a generalized transfer function: Implications for nursing. Heart & Lung 2001; 30(6):437-444.
 - (122) O'Rourke MF, Staessen JA, Vlachopoulos C, Duprez D, Plante GE. Clinical applications of arterial stiffness; definitions and reference values. Am J Hypertens 2002; 15(5):426-444.
 - (123) Mills ML, Miller JJ, Anand A, Robinson SD, Frazer GA, Anderson D et al. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Increased arterial stiffness in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a mechanism for increased cardiovascular risk. Thorax 2008; 63:306-311.
 - (124) Rajzer MW, Wojciechowska W, Klocek M, Palka I, Brzozowska-Kiszka M, Kawecka-Jaszcz K. Comparison of aortic pulse wave velocity measured by three techniques: Complior, SphygmoCor and Arteriograph. Journal of Hypertension 2008; 26(10).
 - (125) Laurent S, Boutouyrie P, Asmar R, Gautier I, Laloux B, Guize L et al. Aortic Stiffness Is an Independent Predictor of All-Cause and Cardiovascular Mortality in Hypertensive Patients. Hypertension 2001; 37:1236-1241.

- (126) Blacher J, Safar ME, Guerin AP, Pannier B, Marchais AJ, London JM. Aortic pulse wave velocity index and mortality in end-stage renal disease. Kidney International 2003; 63(1852):1860.
- (127) Nishikimi T, Maeda N, Matsuoka H. The role of natriuretic peptides in cardioprotection. Cardiovasc Res 2006; 69(2):318-328.
- (128) Maeda K, Tsuatamoto T, Wada A, Hisanage T, Kinoshita M. Plasma brain natriuretic peptide as a biochemical marker of high left ventricular end-diastolic pressure in patients with symptomatic left ventricular dysfunction. Am Heart J 1998; 135(5):825-832.
- (129) Hutcheon SD, Gillespie ND, Struthers AD, McMurdo MET. B-type natriuretic peptide in the diagnosis of cardiac disease in elderly day hospital patients. Age Ageing 2003; 31(4):295-301.
- (130) Buckley MG, Markandu ND, Sagnella GA, MacGregor GA. Plasma concentrations and comparisons of brain and atrial natriuretic peptide in normal subjects and in patients with essential hypertension. J Hum Hypertens 1993; 7(3):245-250.
- (131) Witham MD, Gillespie ND, Hutcheon SD, Struthers AD, McMurdo MET. B-type Natriuretic Peptide Is associated with mortality in older functionally Impaired Patients. J Am Geriatr Soc 2005; 53(11):1991-1995.
- (132) Teragawa H, Ueda K, Yoshizumi M, Charayama K. Relation between C reative protein concentrations and coronary microvascular endothelial function. Heart 2004; 90:750-754.
- (133) Blake GL, Ridker PM. C-reactive protein and other inflammatory risk markers in acute coronary syndromes. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003; 41(4 (suppl)):37S-45S.
- (134) Koenig W, Sund M, Fröhlichm M, Fischer HJ, Löwel H, Döring A et al. C-Reactive Protein, a Sensitive Marker of Inflammation, Predicts Future Risk of Coronary Heart Disease in Initally Health Middle Aged Men. Circulation 1999; 99:237-242.
- (135) Ridker PM. C-Reactive ProteinA Simple Test to Help Predict Risk of Heart Attack and Stroke. Circulation 2003; 108(e81):e85.
- (136) Rost NS, Wolf PA, Kase CS, Kelly-Hayes M, Silbershatz H, Massaro JM et al. Plasma Concentration of C-Reactive Protein and Risk of Ischemic Stroke and Transient Ischemic Attack

The Framingham Study. Stroke 2001; 32:2575.

- (137) Ridker PM, Stampfer MJ, Rifai N. Novel Risk Factors for Systemic Atherosclerosis: A Comparison of C-Reactive Protein, Fibrinogen, Homocysteine, Lipoprotein(a), and Standard Cholesterol Screening as Predictors of Peripheral Arterial Disease. JAMA 2001; 285(19):2481-2485.
- (138) Tracy RP, Lemaitre RN, Psaty BN, Ives DG, Evans RW, Cushman M et al. Relationship of C-Reactive Protein to Risk of Cardiovascular Disease in the Elderly

Results From the Cardiovascular Health Study and the Rural Health Promotion Project. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology 1997; 17:1121-1127.

- (139) Ridker PM, Rifai N, Clearfield M, Downs JR, Weis SO, Miles JS et al. Measurement of C-Reactive Protein for the Targeting of Statin Therapy in the Primary Prevention of Acute Coronary Events. N Engl J Med 2001; 344(1959):1965.
- (140) Ridker PM, Rifai N, Rose L, Buring JE, Cook NR. Comparison of C-Reactive Protein and Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Levels in the Prediction of First Cardiovascular Events. N Engl J Med 2002; 347:1557-1565.
- (141) Shearer MJ. Vitamin K in parenteral nutrition. Gastroenterology 2009; 137(5S):105-108.
- (142) Sumukadas D, Witham MD, Struthers AD, McMurdo MET. Effect of perindopril on physical function in elderly people with functional impairment: a randomized controlled trial. CMAJ 2009; 177(867):874.
- (143) Guralnik JM, Simonsick EM, Ferrucci L, Glynn RJ, Berkman LF, Blazer DG et al. A Short Physical performance battery assessing lower limb function: with self reported disability and prediction of mortality and nursing home admission. J Gerontol 1994; 49(2):M85-M94.
- (144) Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L, Pieper CF, Leveille SG, Markides KS, Ostir GV et al. Lower Extremity function and subsequent disability: Consistency across studies, predictive models and value of gait speed alone compared with the short physical performance battery. Journal of Gerontology 2000; 55A(4):M221-M231.
- (145) Gill TM, Williams CS, Tinetti ME. Assessing risk for the onset of functional dependence among older adults: the role of physical performance. J Am Geriatr Soc 1995; 43(6):1172.
- (146) Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L, Simonsick EM, Salive ME, Wallace RB. Lower-Extremity Function in Persons over the Age of 70 Years as a Predictor of Subsequent Disability. New England Journal of Medicine 1995; 332:556-562.
- (147) Gill TM, Williams CS, Tinetti ME. Assessing risk for the onset of functional dependence among older adults: the role of physical performance. J Am Geriatr Soc 1995; 43(6):1172.
- (148) Gawel J, Vengrow D, Collins J, Brown S, Buchanan A, Cook C. The short performace battery as a predictor for long term disability or institutionalization in the community dwelling population aged 65 years old or older. Physical Therapy Reviews 2012; 17(1):37-44.
- (149) Penninx BWJH, Ferrucci L, Leveille SG, Rantanen T, Pahor M, Guralnik JM. Lower Extremity Performance in Nondisabled Older Persons as a Predictor of sebsequent Hospitalisation. Journal of Gerontology 2000; 55A(11):M691-M697.

- (150) Cesari M, Onder G, Zamboni V, Manini T, Shorr RI, Russo A et al. Physical function and self-rated stattus as predictors of mortality: results from longitudinal analysis in the ilSIRENTE study. BMC Geriatric 2008; 8:34.
- (151) Rantanen T, Era P, Kauppinen N, Heikkinen E. Maximal isometric muscle strength and socio-economic status, health and physical activity in 75-year-old persons. J Aging Phys Activity 1994; 2:206-220.
- (152) Rantanen T, Guralnik JM, Foley D, Masaki K, Leveille S, Curb D et al. Midlife Hand Grip Strength as a Predictor of Old Age Disability. JAMA 1999; 281(6):558-560.
- (153) Rantanen T, Volpato S, Ferrucci L, Heikkinen E, Fried LP, Guralnik JM. Handgrip Strength and Cause-Specific and Total Mortality in Older Disabled Women: Exploring the Mechanism. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 2003; 51(5):636-641.
- (154) Cheung CL, Nguyen US, Au E, Tan KC, Kung AW. Association of handgrip strength with chronic diseases and multimorbidity - A cross-sectional study . Age(Dordr) 2012; 35(3):929-941.
- (155) Silventoinen K, Magnusson PK, Tynelius P, Batty GD, Rasmussen F. Association of body size and muscle strength with incidence of coronary heart disease and cerebrovascular diseases: a population-based cohort study of one million Swedish men. Int J Epidemiol 2009; 38:110-118.
- (156) Sumukadas D, Witham MD, Struthers AD, McMurdo MET. Effect of perindopril on physical function in elderly people with functional impairment: a randomized controlled trial8. CMAJ 2007; 117(8):867-874.
- (157) Burton LA, Sumukadas D, Witham MD, Struthers AD, McMurdo MET. Effect of Spironolactone on Physical Performance in Older People with Self-reported Physical Disability. The American Journal of Medicine 2013; 126(7):557-656.
- (158) Avenell A, Campbell M, Cook JA, Haanaford PC, Kilonzo MM, McNeill G et al. Effect of multivitamin and multimineral supplements on morbidity from infections in older people (MAVIS trial): pragmatic, randomised, double blind, placebo controlled trial. BMJ 2005; 331(324).
- (159) NICE. Hypertension: Clinical management of primary hypertension in adults : Monitoring treatment and blood pressure targets. http://publications.nice.org.uk/hypertension-cg127/guidance . 2011.
- Ref Type: Electronic Citation
 - (160) Vasunilashorn S, Coppin AK, Patel AV, Lauretani F, Ferrucci F, Bandinelli S et al. Use of the Short Physical Performance Battery Score to Predict Loss of Ability to Walk 400 Meters: Analysis From the InCHIANTI Study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2009; 64A(2):223-229.
 - (161) Witham MD, Dove FJ, Dryburgh M, Sugden JA, Morris AD, Struthers AD. Effect of different doses of vitamin D3 on Markers of Vascular Health in Patients with type 2 Diabetes, A Randomised Controlled Trial. Diabetologia 2010; 53(10):2112-2119.

- (162) Burton LA, Sumukadas D, Witham MD, Struthers AD, McMurdo MET. Effect of Spironolactone on Physical Performance in Older People with Self-reported Physical Disability. The American Journal of Medicine 2013; 126(7):557-656.
- (163) Gast GCM, de Roos NM, Sluijs I, Bots ML, Beulens JWJ, Geleijnse JM et al. A high menaquinone intake reduces the incidence of coronary heart disease. Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases 2009; 19(7):504-510.
- (164) Thane CW, Bates CJ, Shearer MJ, Unadkat N, Harrington DJ, Paul AA et al. Plasma phylloquinone (vitamin K1) concentration and its relationship to intake in a national sample of British elderly people. Br J Nutr 2002; 87(6):615-622.
- (165) Binkley NC, Krueger DC, Kawahara TN, Engelke JA, Chappell RJ, Suttie JW. A high phylloquinone intake is required to achieve maximal osteocalcin y-carboxylation. Am J Clin Nutr 2002; 76(5):1055-1060.
- (166) Cheung AM, Tile L, Lee Y, Tomlinson G, Hawker G, Scher J et al. Vitamin K Supplementation in Postmenopausal Women with Osteopenia (ECKO Trial): A Randomized Controlled Trial. PLoS MEDICINE 5[10], 1461-1472. 14-10-2008.
- Ref Type: Journal (Full)
 - (167) George J, Carr E, Davies J, Belch JJF, Struthers AD. High-Dose Allopurinol Improves Endothelial Function by Profoundly Reducing Vascular Oxidative Stress and Not by Lowering Uric Acid. Circulation 2006; 114(2508):2516.
 - (168) Mancini GBJ, Henry GC, Macaya C, O'Neill BJ, Pucillo AL, Carere RG et al. Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibition With Quinapril Improves Endothelial Vasomotor Dysfunction in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease
- The TREND (Trial on Reversing ENdothelial Dysfunction) Study. Circulation 1996; 94:258-265.
 - (169) O'Driscoll G, Green D, Rankin J, Stanton K, Taylor R. Improvement in endothelial function by angiotension converting enzyme inhibition in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Clin Invest 1997; 100:678-684.
 - (170) Mullen MJ, Clarkson P, Donald AE, Thomson H, Thorne SA, Powe AJ et al. Effect of enalapril on endothelial function in young insulin-dependent diabetic patients: a randomized, double-blind study. J Am Coll Cardiol 1998; 6:1330-1335.
 - (171) Furbeg CD, Adams HP, Abblegate WB, Byington RP, Espeland MA, Hartwell T et al. Effect of lovastatin on early carotid atherosclerosis and cardiovascular events. Circulation 1994; 90:1679-1687.
 - (172) Lonn EM, Yusuf S, Dzavik V, Doris I, Yi Q, Smith S et al. Effects of Ramipril and Vitamin E on Atherosclerosis The Study to Evaluate Carotid Ultrasound Changes in Patients TreatedWith Ramipril and Vitamin E (SECURE). Circulation 103, 919-925. 2001.

- (173) Shea MK, Booth SL, Massaro JM, Jacques PF, D'Agostino RB, Keaney JF et al. Vitamin K and Vitamin D Status: Associations with Inflammatory Markers in the Framingham Offspring Study. Am J Epidemiol 2008; 167(3):313-320.
- (174) Vasunilashorn S, Coppin AK, Patel AV, Lauretani F, Ferrucci F, Bandinelli S et al. Use of the Short Physical Performance Battery Score to Predict Loss of Ability to Walk 400 Meters: Analysis From the InCHIANTI Study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2009; 64A(2):223-229.

(175) WHO. Adherence to Long Term therapy. 2003. Ref Type: Report

- (176) SchlenK EA, Dunbar JJ, Engberg S. Medication non-adherence among older adults - a review of strategies and intervention for improvement. J Gerontol Nurs 2004; 7:33-43.
- (177) Osterberg L, Blaschke T. Adherence to Medication. N Engl J Med 2005; 353:487-497.
- (178) Graat J, Schouten EJ, Kok FJ. Effect of Daily Vitamin E and Multivitamin-Mineral Supplementation on Acute Respiratory Tract Infections in Elderly Persons: A Randomized Controlled Trial. JAMA 2002; 288(6):715-721.
- (179) Blankenhorn DH, Kramsch DM, Azen SP, Mack WJ, Cashin-Hemphill L, Hodis HN et al. Coronary Angiographic Changes with Lovastatin Therapy: The Monitored Atherosclerosis Regression Study (MARS). Ann Intern Med 119[10], 969-976. 15-11-1993.
- Ref Type: Journal (Full)
 - (180) Pitt B, Byington RP, Furberg CD, Hunninghake DB, Mancini GBJ, Miller ME et al. Effect of Amlodipine on the Progression of Atherosclerosis and the Occurrence of Clinical Events. Circulation 102, 1503-1510. 200.
- Ref Type: Journal (Full)
 - (181) Jie KSG, Vermeer C, Witterman JC, Grobbee DE. Vitamin K intake and osteocalcin levels in women with and without aortic atherosclerosis: a population-based study. Athersclerosis 1995; 116:117-123.
 - (182) Westenfield R, Krueger T, Schlieper G, Cranenburg ECM, Magdeleyns EJ, Heidenreich S et al. Effect of vitamin K2 supplementation on functional vitamin K deficiency in hemodialysis patients: a randomized trial. American Journal of Kidney Disease 59[2], 186-195. 9-12-2009.

Ref Type: Journal (Full)

- (183) Masud T, Morris RO. Epidemiology of falls. Age and Ageing 2001; 30(S4):3-7.
- (184) Booth SL, Tucker KL, Chen H, Hannan MT, Gagnon DR, Cupples LA et al. Dietary vitamin k untakes are associated with hip fracture but not bone mineral density in elderly men and women. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 71, 1201-1208. 1-5-2000.